
1 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE FINANCE SPC 

 
TO BE HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL, DAME STREET, DUBLIN 2. 

 
ON THURSDAY, 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 AT 3.00 PM 

 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

THURSDAY, 15 SEPTEMBER 2016 
 

  PAGE 
 
1   Minutes of meeting - June 16th 2016   

 
 

1 - 4 

2   Matters Arising:   
 
 

 

a   Dublin Chamber of Commerce - replacement nomination of Aebhric 
McGibney -  letter dated 20th June 2016 
 

5 - 6 

b   Rates exemption on Irish Water Facilities - correspondence to DoHPC&LG 
and Kevin Duffy,Chairman, Expert Commission on Domestic Public Water 
Services - 19/07/16.  Reminders issued 30/08/16 
 

7 - 16 

c   Pyrite Works - additional costs - correspondence to Dick Brady, ACE, 
Housing Department - 12/07/16 and report from Peter Finnegan, City 
Architects ( Report No. 28-2016) 
 

17 - 24 

d   Ringsend Toll Bridge DAC - correspondence to Declan Wallace, ACE, 
E&T Dept - 19/07/16 and report from E&T Department in response (Report 
No. 29-2016) 
 

25 - 28 

e   Development Contributions Scheme - link to DCC website - 
correspondence to J. Keogan, ACE, Planning & Development Dept - 
18/07/16 and reminder email issued 30/08/16 
 

29 - 30 

f   BRL recoupment - correspondence to J. McCarthy, Sec General,  
DoHPC&LG  - 19/07/16 and reminder issued 30/08/16 
 

31 - 34 

g   Pension Liabilities - correspondence to Dept. of Finance and DPER dated 
19/07/16 and responses of Dept. of Finance - 22/07/16 and DPER - 
5/08/16 
 

35 - 46 



2 
 

3   Dublin City Council - Motor Tax Efficiency Recommendations   
 
 

47 - 58 

4   Debt Management - Rates Collection   
 
 

59 - 60 

5   Water and Drainage Related Assets of Dublin City Council   
 
 

61 - 62 

6   Local Property Tax - statistics   
 
 

63 - 64 

7   Housing Finance Agency - presentation by Dr. Michelle Norris   
 
 

65 - 74 

8   A.O.B 
 

 NOAC Performance Indicators in Local Authorities 2014 – published 
December 2015 http://noac.ie/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/NOAC-
Performance-Indicators-Report-2014.pdf  

 

 Dublin City Council Performance Indicators 2015 
 

75 - 194 

 
Kathy Quinn 
Head of Finance  
with responsibility for Information & Communications Technology 

 

http://noac.ie/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/NOAC-Performance-Indicators-Report-2014.pdf
http://noac.ie/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/NOAC-Performance-Indicators-Report-2014.pdf


 
Finance Strategic Policy Committee  

 
Minutes of Meeting Held On 16th June 2016  

 

 
 
Cllr. Paddy Bourke stood in as chair of the Committee at the commencement of the 
meeting awaiting the arrival of Cllr. Ruairi McGinley who was delayed. 

 
1. Minutes of the meeting held on 7th April 2016   

 
Minutes agreed. Minutes proposed by Cllr. P McCartan and seconded by Cllr. M. 
MacDonncha. 
 

2. Matters arising  
 
Acquisitions Committee 
Cllr. M Flynn raised the issue of the establishment of an Acquisitions Committee and 
expressed his dissatisfaction that this was not being established.  Following 
discussions, it was agreed as follows: 
 
Agreed: K. Quinn would raise item further with the Chief Executive conveying views of 
Cllr. Flynn. 
Agreed: This issue would be raised again at the CPG meeting for discussion. 
 
Pyrite Works 
Update report from P. Finnegan, City Architects, was circulated to the members.    
 
Agreed: Report to future meeting detailing the additional costs from the loss of 
housing income, removal costs, rentals and staff costs etc. as a result of this issue. 
 
WtoE Project - Community Gain Fund  
Further information provided by Environment & Transport Department was noted and 
a comprehensive discussion took place. 
 
Ringsend Toll Bridge Designated Activity Company 
Report Noted.   
 
Agreed:  A report to be prepared detailing the income to Dublin City Council prior to 
the transfer of the bridge. 
Agreed: Further report on the €12m assigned from income for capital purposes on the 
bridge. 
 
 
Introduction of new Committee Member. 
Cllr. McGinley introduced and welcomed Morgan O’Regan, Bank of Ireland 
representing the Dublin Docklands Business Forum.  He takes up the vacancy left by 
David Brennan of the Dublin City Business Association.   
 
Resignation of G. Quin, Dublin Chamber of Commerce 
The members were informed that G. Quin will be stepping down from the Committee 
to take up a new position as President of the National Colleague of Ireland.  She was 
sincerely thanked for her commitment and dedication to the work of the Dublin 
Chamber and the Finance Strategic Policy Committee over many years.   
 Page 1



 
3. Hotel Bed Tax  

 
A report relating to a similar proposal from Galway City Council was circulated.  It was 
noted that there is currently no active proposal.   
 
A report from the Law Agent was circulated showing the lack of current legislative 
powers to introduce this tax.   
 
Agreed: Clarification would be sought regarding the wording of the Law Agent’s report 
noting that co-operation of the Hotel Industry would be required to introduce this tax.   
Agreed: It was agreed that this item would be returned to at a later date. 
 
 

4. City Centre Trading Environment – Presentation from DublinTown 
 
R. Guiney, CEO, DublinTown made a presentation to the Committee covering topics 
such as the decline in footfall, Luas cross city works, transport proposals, anti-social 
behaviour, perception of safety, vacancy rates, the next generation, social aspects of 
shopping, international experiences and planning and partnership.  The presentation 
was given an overall positive welcome by the Committee Members present. Some 
objections were raised by others present.   
 
 

5. Annual Financial Statement 2015  
A presentation on the Annual Account of Dublin City Council for 2015 was made to 
the Committee.  The presentation was noted.  During discussions that followed the 
following items were agreed: 
 

 Write to Department of Finance re Pensions Liability issue 

 A report to be prepared on the list of Assets that did not transfer to Irish Water 
 

 
6. Development Contributions Scheme report  

Report noted.   
Agreed: A website link to Development Contributions would be included under Trends 
in Business on the Dublin City Council site.   
 
 

7. Work Programme 2016-2017 
Committee Members had been asked at the previous meeting for items to be included 
on the Work Programme of the Committee.  A report was circulated and noted.   
In addition to the items submitted by members, it was agreed that the following 
additional items would be included: 
 

 Overview of the accounts of the Homeless Agency would be included in the 
work programme. 

 Key performance indicators by area  
 

A preliminary work programme for the coming months was discussed and it was 
agreed that R. McGinley and K. Quinn would meet to discuss and prioritise the 
programme.   
 
 
 
 Page 2



8. Referral of Emergency Motion 2 – Irish Water Rates 
 
Agreed: It was agreed, during the discussions on Item 5) AFS 2015 above, that this 
motion would be dealt with.   
 
Agreed: It was agreed that correspondence would issue to the Secretary General of 
the Department of Housing Planning and Local Government on this matter.   
Agreed: It was suggested that correspondence should issue to the Oireachtas 
Committee on Water Charges. 
 
 

9. Lobbying Act – Transparency Code & Requirements 
- Note of meeting with BID Company 
 
A briefing note of a meeting held on 14th April 2016 between R. McGinley and K. 
Quinn with representatives from Dublin BID Company was circulated and the 
contents were noted.   
 

10. Audit Committee – agreed minutes of 10th December 2015 
 
Cllr. M. Flynn reiterated his objections to the delay in the release of Audit Reports to 
Council Members in a timely manner once published and not have to use the powers 
of the FOI legislation.  Cllr. McGinley asked that when reports do become available 
that they are circulated to council members.  
 
Agreed:  It was agreed that a copy of the Protected Disclosures document circulated 
to staff would be circulated to all council members and committee members. 
 

11. A.O.B.  
  
 Dublin Enterprise Board – allocation of grants 
 Following a request from Cllr. M Flynn, it was agreed that K. Quinn would contact the 

LEO to request a presentation outlining the grants structure in place for a future 
meeting.  The last available public document could be circulated in advance of the 
meeting.  Cllr. N Reilly noted that, in her opinion, there could be duplication of reports 
as this report has already been presented to the Economic SPC.  Cllr McGinley noted 
that the topic was of interest to members. 
 
 

Signed:  Councillor Ruairi McGinley   Date: 16th June 2016  
Chairperson 

 
 
Attendance: 
 
Members 
Councillor Ruairi McGinley (Chairperson) 
Councillor Paddy Bourke 
Councillor Tom Brabazon 
Councillor Brendan Carr 
Councillor Ray McAdam 
Councillor Paddy McCartan 
Councillor Micheál MacDonncha 
Councillor Noeleen Reilly 
Councillor Nial Ring 
Eric Fleming, ICTU  Page 3



Morgan O’Regan, Docklands Business Forum 
Gina Quin, Dublin Chamber of Commerce 
Aidan Sweeney, IBEC 
 
Councillors – Non Members 
Cllr. Mannix Flynn 
Cllr. Mary Freehill 
 
Officials 
Kathy Quinn, Head of Finance 
Antoinette Power, Head of Financial Accounting 
Fintan Moran, Head of Management Accounting 
Fiona Murphy, Senior Staff Officer, Finance Secretariat 
Fiona Collins, Assistant Staff Officer, Finance Secretariat 
Lisa Nolan, Staff Officer (Secretarial), Finance Secretariat 
 
Guest Speaker 
Richard Guiney, CEO, Dublin Town 
 
Apologies 
Councillor Dermot Lacey  
Councillor Hazel De Nortúin 
Councillor Larry O’Toole 
Dr. Caroline McMullan, DCU 
Joanna Piechota, Irish Polish Society  
 

Page 4



Page 5





Page 7



Page 8



Page 9





Page 11



Page 12



Page 13





Page 15



Page 16



 

 

Structural Engineering Section, City Architects Division, 
Civic Offices, Wood Quay, Dublin 8  

 
Rannóg um Innealtóireacht Foirgníochta, Rannóg Ailtire na Cathrach,  

Oifigí na Cathrach, An Ché Adhmaid, Baile Átha Cliath 8 
T. 01 222 5095  F. 01 222 2999  E. peter.finnegan@dublincity.ie 

 

Kathy Quinn 

Head of Finance 

Finance Department 

Block 1 Floor 8 

Civic Offices         5
th
 September 2016 

Re:  Pyrite situation within Dublin City Council 

 

The following is a summary of the Pyrite situation as it affects Dublin City Council housing projects.  

This does not include any reference to private housing in the DCC area as DCC has no role in such 

dwellings.  All prices exclude VAT.  Costs stated under each project are direct costs of works and do 

not include DCC staff time, cost of consultants, testing or accommodation.  These are dealt with in a 

separate section.  Costs of pyrite works are stated as “approximate” as there are always additional 

defects encountered that cannot be directly attributable to pyrite (e.g. a boiler failing to restart and 

requiring replacement) but that require to be addressed at the time. 

 

This report does not contain any information on substantial pyrite works carried out under Ballymun 

Regeneration Ltd., including the “RECO” centre (remediated) and 124 houses in the Sillogue 3b 

contract.  Legal proceedings are ongoing in both of these cases. 

 

Avila Park phase 4 community centre 

Community centre for Travellers in Finglas.  Built c 2005 by Tara Construction.  6 houses built at same 

time already remediated in 2012 at a cost of €745,000 (50% DoE funding was secured).  Pyrite 

discovered in 2008.  Tenders in 2015 returned at €331,000, but now expired.  No imminent plans to 

proceed with this work. 

 

Griffith Heights 

35 Affordable dwellings, 15 social dwellings, 33 Senior Citizens dwellings and community centre 

Built c 2004/2005 by Noreside Construction.  Pyrite discovered in 2008. 

DCC has undertaken to remediate the 35 houses.  Remedial works have taken place in 13 houses at a 

cost of approx €720,000.  This figure includes for repairs to footpaths and driveways within the curtilage 

of the dwellings, and for public footpaths. Tender were received for the remaining 22 houses in 

December 2015, but with a poor response.  The works were re-tendered recently and are commencing 

on site in September 2016 at a cost of approx. €1.42m. 

Page 17



 

 

No recent progress has been made in the dispute with the original contractor. 

Ballybough/Poplar Row/Taaffes Place Phase 2 

33 dwellings in mixed 2 storey, 3 storey and duplex. 

Built 2007 by Glenman Corporation.  Pyrite discovered in 2010 

Remediation works for 19 ground floor units are complete.  Final cost of pyrite works approx. €970k 

excl. VAT.  No recent progress has been made in the dispute with the original contractor. 

 

Valeview Crescent, Finglas 

Two houses built on infill land.  Built c 2005 by Togail/AMDL.  Pyrite confirmed 2011. 

Remediated in 2014 at a cost of €82,000. 

DCC carried out completion works on these houses following the demise of Togail (Housing 

Association) and AMDL (building contractor).  No possibility of pursuing a dispute in this instance. 

 

Tolka Valley View 

22 houses, community centre and 27 senior citizens dwellings. 

Developed by Respond housing association, and managed by them.  DCC did not engage design team 

or contractor.  Severe damage to footpaths.  Worst areas of footpath were temporarily repaired by DCC 

in late 2013.  Note that Respond are taking the view that this is a DCC development and that DCC are 

responsible.  DCC have carried out temporary repairs on the footpaths without prejudice at a cost of 

approx. €10,000. 

 

BRL 4 houses at Owensilla Terrace and 2 at Balbutcher Way 

BRL development 

2 houses at Owensilla Terrace and 2 at Balbutcher Way have been remediated at a cost of approx. 

€190k.  Tenants refused to move in two others.  No possibility of pursuing a dispute in this instance. 

 

Ballymun Sillogue 3b (Owensilla) (see site map) 

58 dwellings, built by Glenman Corporation, completed 2008. 

Four houses affected by pyrite.  Estimated cost of remediation €200,000.  Not tendered yet. 

 

Ballymun Poppintree 5b (Carton) (see site map) 

90 dwellings, built by Glenman Corporation, completed 2007. 

52 houses included in works.  Works were tendered during first week of June, and due to commence  

on site in Sept 2016 at a cost of approx. €2.75m. 

Four houses at the East end of the Carton Estate are currently on site at a cost of approx. €190k.  

No recent progress has been made in the dispute with the original contractor. 

 

Belmayne 

Large private development.  Developer was Stanley Holdings, may be more than one builder 

DCC own 18 units with ground supported floors that are affected by pyrite.  Claims have been initiated 

with Premier Guarantee who have sought substantial additional information, including surveying and 

Page 18



 

 

testing of stone, together with conveyancing documents to prove that DCC is the beneficiary of the 

guarantee.  Additional information has been lodged for 8 of these claims.  Further testing is ongoing to 

substantiate others.  At the time of writing, 7 of these dwellings have been approved for remediation. 

 

Carleton Hall, Marino 

Community hall, crèche and 4 apartments (2 over 2)  Procured by Development Dept. 

Builder was Tara Construction. 

Remediation of the two ground floor apartments is complete at a cost of approx €138k. 

During discussions with the operators of the crèche and hall, it became clear that if remedial works 

proceeded, they would want alterations to the design of the building.  Estimated cost of remedial works 

to hall and crèche approx. €400,000 excluding any fees for a design team. 

 

Extension to 7A Avila Gardens 

This is a pyrite damaged extension to a travellers housing in Finglas.  This work is on site at the time of 

writing at a cost of €53,000. 

 

Clancarthy Road, Donnycarney 

DCC remediated 20 Senior Citizens dwellings at Donnycarney in 2011 at a cost of approx. €560k excl. 

VAT.  DoE funding was secured for the contract value of these works. 

 

Ballybough Community Centre All weather pitch and external areas 

Pyrite appears to be confined to the external areas of this building.  All weather pitch and car park 

remediated during 2016 at a cost of €230k. 

 

Indirect costs of pyrite remediation works 

Indirect costs include DCC staff costs, cost of non-routine maintenance arising from pyrite, stone 

sampling and testing, consultant costs, costs of alternative accommodation. 

It is not possible to give an accurate breakdown of these costs, rather an estimate of the overall 

approximate costs. 

Summary of costs (all costs exclude VAT) 

 Works   €7,323,000 

 Fees   €468,281 

 Sampling and testing €359,670 

 Accommodation  €497,000 

 (assuming a value of €1000 per month per house and €500 per month per SCD apartment) 

 DCC direct staff costs €1,171,000 

Outstanding possible works €1,660,000 

 

The Department of Environment funded the Clancarthy Road remediation to the full contract value, and 

the Avila 6 houses remediation to 50% of the contract value.  No other projects have been funded 

externally, nor have any of the associated costs (fees, sampling and testing, accommodation) been 

Page 19



 

 

funded.  It remains open to DCC in most cases to pursue the original contractor under the contract.  

These disputes are known to require a lot of resources and time, and the outcome is far from certain.  I 

am aware of three disputes that have been pursued through the courts against the quarry that supplied 

the original stone, and these have been vigorously defended and appealed at great cost to all parties. 

DCC.  The only remedial works for DCC currently being funded by an insurance company (Premier 

Guarantee) are those at Belmayne.  DCC will still incur some residual costs on these, which are being 

dealt with on a case-by-case basis. 

The Pyrite Resolution Act 2013 was signed into law in December 2013.  This sets out the legal basis for 

the operation for a compensation scheme operated by the Pyrite Resolution Board.  Note that this 

scheme only applies to dwellings, but excludes dwellings owned by a local authority.   

 

Recurring Issues  

In deciding whether or not to pursue a claim the following issues recur: 

• Contractor’s financial status. 

• Insurance. 

• Longevity.  

• Costs. 

• Certainty. 

 

Contractor’s financial status and insurance  

Many contractors in serious financial difficulty – close to liquidation – difficulty in funding dispute 

resolution process or remediation. If contractor goes into liquidation then DCC loses opportunity of 

obtaining an enforceable judgement / award against contractor. DCC not have any contractual link with 

contractor’s insurer or quarry. No ‘Third party liability against insurers Act’ in Ireland. Effect - DCC 

cannot proceed to recover against contractor’s insurer of its own accord. Insurer only pay when 

contractor has sustained a loss, that is, final court judgment or arbitrator’s Award against the contractor.  

 

Longevity and costs 

Insurance companies may step in to defend the claim on behalf of the insured as they do not wish to 

have a judgment or arbitrator’s award finding that the terms of their insurance policy cover defects 

caused by pyrite. They are willing to spend enormous sums defending such claims.  Further, any case 

advanced would have to pass two hurdles, (1) that the damage caused by the pyrite is recoverable 

under the policy and (2) that the damage caused is in fact due to the presence of pyrite. In relation to 

(2), instances of poor workmanship can obscure the actual cause of the defect sufficient to “muddy the 

waters” as to whether pyrite is, in fact, the cause.  

 

Certainty 

The issue as to whether damage caused by pyrite is recoverable under the relevant insurance policies 

is complicated and substantial costs may be spent in arriving at a finding, which is only the first step in 

Page 20



 

 

recovery. The priority is often to have the remediation works carried out as efficiently and expeditiously 

as possible. DCC is also under a duty to mitigate its loss.  

 

 

 

 

______________________ 

Peter Finnegan 

Senior Structural Engineer 

Page 21





Page 23





 

 
An Roinn Comhshaoil agus Iompair, Bloc 2, Urlár 6, 

Oifigí na Cathrach, Sráid Sheamlas an Éisc, Baile Átha Cliath 8, Eire. 
 

 Environment and Transportation Department, Block 2, Floor 6,  
Civic Offices, Fishamble Street, Dublin 8, Ireland. 

T:  +353-1-222 3793   F:  +353-1-222 2221  E: declan.wallace@dublincity.ie   

 
 

 
Report to the Finance Strategic Policy Committee 

Ringsend Toll Bridge Designated Activity Company  
 

 
The original capital budget of €12M over three years will be amended to take into account the increased 
revenue from the Ringsend Toll Bridge to take into account the remaining €1.25M resources available to the 
company per annum. 
 
The revised capital budget for 2016 will be; 
 

Tom Clarke Bridge Upgrade 
 

€5,470,000 

Refurbishment of Footpaths 
 

€1,750,000 

Refurbishment of Carriageways 
 

€3,204,565 

Liffey Board Walk Update Upgrade 
 

€1,951,150 

TAMS 
 

€  874,285 

TOTAL 
 

€13,250,000 

 
 

1. Tom Clarke Bridge Upgrade 
Improvements to pedestrian and cycling facilities linking the north and south docklands at the Point 
Roundabout and South Link Roads respectively while enhancing the architectural character of the bridge. A 
feasibility study is hoped to be completed by the end of September 2016. Expenditure on options and any 
necessary improvements will be dependent on this study. 
 
Replacement of hydraulic bridge lifting equipment. 
 
 

2. Refurbishment of Footpaths 
Improvement works on footpaths to be undertaken. 
 

3. Refurbishment of Carriageways 
Improvement works on carriageways to be undertaken. 
 

4. Liffey Board Walk Upgrade 
The Liffey Boardwalk was commissioned in two phases between 2000 and 2005 and consists of a total 
length of 672m. The boardwalk requires ongoing maintenance to clean the boards, replace deteriorated 
boards and inspect and maintain the steel superstructure. This capital works program would aim to upgrade 
the boardwalk deck (and superstructure if required) to improve slip resistance and also to reduce board and 
overall maintenance requirements and costs. 
 
 

5. TAMS 
With Dublin City Council being responsible for the management of transportation assets with a value of over 
€2.25 billion, the efficient operation and maintenance of these assets is imperative to deliver the required 
service to road users and ensuring that value for money is achieved. The award of the service contract to 
Fujitsu (Ire) in June 2014 for the supply and implementation of the Transportation Asset Management Page 25

mailto:declan.wallace@dublincity.ie


System (TAMS) will enable Dublin City Council to achieve this objective as TAMS will have the ability to 
store, record, retrieve and query all roads data and provide up to date information on the condition of assets. 
The system will enable a more robust approach to the management of road and traffic assets, enable the 
introduction of improved working practices and ensure the effective and efficient use of resources. Phase 1 of 
the contract is well under way and due for completion early in 2016.  A significant milestone for Phase 1 was 
the system going live in Road Maintenance Services in June 2015 where it currently is being used to record 
and manage service requests and works management.  Phase 2 of the project will focus on Traffic and 
Schemes Management and is due for completion by the end of 2016.  Contracts for the collection of asset 
data and for assessing the condition of the main road network in Dublin are ongoing. 
 
 
Declan Wallace 
Director of Traffic  
 
31

st
 August 2016 

Page 26



Page 27





Page 29





Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39





Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45





 

1 | P a g e  
 

DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 
MOTOR TAX OFFICE 
 
 
 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE REPORT 

 
MOTOR TAX EFFICIENCY RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
 
 
APRIL 2016 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



 

2 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
 
Dublin City Council provides the Motor Tax service for the four Dublin Local authorities. Since 2015, 
this service has been provided from one office Smithfield, Dublin 7. The three other Motor Tax 
Offices were closed on a phased basis, Nutgrove April 2012, Clondakin December 2013 & Ballymun 
2014. The closure of these Motor Tax Offices resulted from the stated objectives of the Local 
Government Efficiency Review process which established a need for rationalisation of the Motor Tax 
Service and the reduction in business levels across the 4 Motor Tax Offices. The direct cost for the 
provision of Motor Tax services across the four offices in 2011 was €10.5million. The rationalisation 
resulted in a total annual saving of €5.6 million for Dublin City Council and allowed for a number of 
staff to be redeployed across the organisation.  
 
The City Council has the highest level of MTOL transactions with 83% online (Pin Business) in 2015 
and further improvements in 2016 to 85%. This is significantly higher than other Local Authorities 
and is not expected to increase materially over the coming years without facilitating those 
transactions currently not provided for online. 
 
It is not envisaged the further economies of scale and associated reductions in the cost base can be 
achieved without introducing technological changes to facilitate those transactions that are 
currently not provided with an on line solution and this report outlines proposals in regard to 
opportunities for consideration. 
 
The budget for Motor Tax, Smithfield for 2016 is €4.9million and since funding changes with the 
Local Government Fund and introduction of the Local Property Tax, the City Council raises the 
funding primarily through commercial rates. There is currently 68 staff working in Smithfield re the 
provision of Motor Tax services. 
 
This report will show the operational and administrative work being provided by Dublin City Council 
in delivering Motor Tax services. I understand that the Comptroller and Auditor General / Local 
Government Audit value for money unit have conducted a review of the national provision of Motor 
Tax services but await the outcome of this review. 
 
This report will also highlight a number of recommendations that could potentially improve online 
access and improve the efficiency of motor tax office services / cost base and should be considered 
by both the Department of the Environment, Community and Local Government and the 
Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport.  
 
 
 

Oifig Mótarchánach, Bloc B, Siúlán Blackhall  
Sráid na Banríona, Baile Átha Cliath 7, Éire 

 

Motor Taxation Office, Block B, Blackhall Walk 
Queen Street, Dublin 7, Ireland 

 T. 01 222 8000 F. 01 8723703 E. motortax@dublincity.ie  

Page 48



 

3 | P a g e  
 

The Motor Tax Service is delivered by two sections (1) Motor Tax Operations that manages front line 
services & (2) Motor Tax Administration that manages all back office administrative work, facilities 
and support.  

 
MOTOR TAX OPERATIONS  
 
This section comprises of 47 staff that provide the frontline public services for all Motor Tax 
enquiries (Cashier Counters, Postal Applications & Telephone Applications). Detailed below is a snap 
shot on the level of callers to the office, postal correspondence and monetary transactions for 2015.  
 

 €12,671,321 in cash transactions & €17,981,461 in credit card transactions. 

 150,160 members of the public who visited Smithfield in 2015, an average of 12,513 per mth 

 109,215 postal correspondences received in Smithfield for 2015. 

 

Appendix 3, Page 10 shows more detail on the total number of Motor Tax transactions for 2015, 
breakdown per month of the cash/credit card transactions and a comparison against 2013/2014. 
 
Appendix 4, page 11 shows the total number of transactions & revenue generated for 2015 with a 
comparison against 2014 when there was two offices open Smithfield & Ballymun.  
 

 
MOTOR TAX ONLINE 
 
At the moment Dublin City & County has the highest number of customers availing of the Motor Tax 
Online service at 81% of Pin Business for 2015. This figure is incrementally increasing in 2016 for 
Dublin City & County. Table A shows the % increase in the online service from 2010 – 2015. Table B 
gives a monthly breakdown anaylsis for 2015. 
 
TABLE A  
 

 

56.43% 59.46% 
64.00% 

67.72% 

75.83% 
81.09% 

0.00% 

10.00% 

20.00% 

30.00% 

40.00% 

50.00% 

60.00% 

70.00% 

80.00% 

90.00% 

1 

2010 

2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

Page 49



 

4 | P a g e  
 

TABLE B 
 

Month % Month % 

January 80.84% July 81.67% 

February 79.89% August 81.33% 

March 81.00% September 81.49% 

April 79.64% October 82.72% 

May 80.39% November 84.16% 

June 81.42% December 81.67% 

 
The following tax classes detailed below are available and can be completed through 
www.motortax.ie  

 Private Cars 
 Motorcycles 
 Agricultural Tractors, Excavators/Diggers, and Combine Harvesters 
 General Haulage Tractors 
 Dumpers, Off Road Dumpers and Forklifts 
 Hearses 
 Vehicles adapted for use by disabled persons 
 Vintage/Veteran Vehicles 
 Motor Caravans (renewal only) 
 Mobile Machines (renewal only)  
 Commercial Vehicles (renewal only) 

Following examination and further discussion with the Motor Tax executive, Appendix 1, Page 7 lists 
Motor Tax Applications that cannot currently be done on line. It also shows possible solutions that 
would allow these transactions to be carried out on line in the future pending their successful 
implementation and upgrades to the Motor Tax Online system. The Motor Tax Online system is 
centrally managed by DVCSD (Driver & Vehicle Computer Services Division), Department of 
Transport, Shannon, Co. Clare.  
 
As part of the efficiency study, a detailed review of all transactions was undertaken on Tuesday, 1st 
March 2016. There were 793 callers in the Motor Tax Office. Of the 793 callers, 582 (73% of all 
transactions) could have availed of the Motor Tax Online service. The remaining 211 had no choice 
but to call to the Motor Tax Office, as they had no facility to do their transaction online. 
 
The reason or logic for people who continue to call to the Motor Tax Office to pay for their vehicle 
tax cannot be fully explained. The opinion of Motor Tax staff on why people continue to call are, 
they are unable do it online, they have no access to the online system, they want to pay in cash 
and/or they want the physical disc in their possession immediately after payment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50

http://www.motortax.ie/


 

5 | P a g e  
 

MOTOR TAX ADMINISTRATION 
 
Administration has 21 staff that provides a number of specific services required under Motor Tax 
legislation. Detailed below are the different areas of work being provided within the Administration 
Unit. Appendix 2, Page 9 shows the levels of activity within this area for 2015. 
 

GENERAL MOTOR TAX/GARDA ENQUIRIES 
 
This section corresponds & communicates with the Gardaí, State Agencies, Solicitors and Local 
Authorities for vehicle enquiries and gathering information, application forms and documents 
required for court cases.  All staff within this unit are Authorised Officers, per Section 87, Finance Act 
1994. The Authorised Officers’ are required to attend court on both criminal and civil cases, sign 
official court documentation and issue correspondence. 
 
There were 40 court cases in 2015 that staff were required to attend by official court summons. The 
acceptance by the Court Service of electronic records rather than paper records would further 
enhance the efficiency of the Motor Tax Service. The services provided could be centralised 
nationally and come under the remit of one central agency. 
 

MOTOR TAX ACCOUNTS 
 
This section has responsibility for the monitoring and maintenance of the Motor Tax Accounts. On a 
daily, weekly & monthly basis they must ensure all monies receipted are correctly lodged, accounted 
and balanced. They check and approve daily transfers to Local Government Fund. At the end of 
every month, the accounts are submitted to the Department of Environment. 
 
All Motor Tax refunds on vehicles are carried out within this unit. The refunds fall under a number of 
different categories that are set by legislation. The bulk of this work would cease if these services 
were done by one central agency or through an online service provided by Motor Tax Online. The 
level of refunds issued as a result of errors in the online service accounts for 80% approx of the 
refunds issued by the Motor Tax Office, Smithfield. The provision of this service by Smithfield Motor 
Tax for DVCSD in Shannon should be discontinued.   
 

INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
This section carries out audits on all aspects of Motor Tax business both operational and 
administrative. This work ensures that we have appropriate corporate governance and practices in 
place. These audits take place independent to the work of the Local Government Auditor & DCC, 
Internal Audit. 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE/IT/BUDGETS 
 
The section are responsible for the preparation/monitoring of Motor Tax Annual budget, 
maintenance/support of IT systems, purchasing, accounts and HR function for Motor Tax. 
 

 
 
 

Page 51



 

6 | P a g e  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 In order to further improve the efficiency of the Motor Tax Online services the proposals outlined in 
Appendix 1 need further consultation and consideration with relevant bodies. The effect of 
broadening the online platform to allow more transactions to be carried out in this manner would 
reduce the need for public callers to the Motor Tax Office. 
 
In addition to those online proposals listed in Appendix 1, further consideration should be given to 
the following measures: 
 

 Apply a levy to customers who wish to call to the Motor Tax Office. 

 

 Motor Tax can be paid annually, bi annually or quarterly, see Appendix 4.1, Page 11. 
Consideration should be given to abolishing the quarterly option. The cost of taxing private 
motor vehicles has significantly reduced since 2008, as a result of lower tax bands based on 
emissions. 
 

 The remaining bi-annual & annual taxing could significantly reduce the number of callers to 
the Motor Tax Office. Management would be able to estimate more accurately when the 
service would have high/low peaks and deploy resources accordingly. 
 

 Discontinue accepting cash payments which currently are facilitating the cash economy and 
brings additional associated costs. 
 

 Cease the provision of back office service by Motor Tax Offices for Motor Tax Online, Dept of 

Transport, in relation to issuing of duplicate discs, refunds, change of ownerships. 

Consideration could be given by government to form a Central Agency to administer the 

back office work for Motor Tax services nationally. 

 

 If Dublin City Council were to only provide a front office service only (issuing of Tax Disc) and 

demand reduced on current levels following implementation of measures, then amalgamate 

the service into the Customer Service Centre. 

 

 Adopt the same approach as the UK and eliminate the need for issuing of tax discs. 

 
 

 

 

 

Fintan Moran 

Head of Management Accounting 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



 

7 | P a g e  
 

 

APPENDIX 1  
 

ITEM 
NUMBERS 

TAXED 2015 
VEHICLES 

DOCUMENTATION 

REQUIRED 
SOLUTION 

1 11,441 
Taxis (small public service 
vehicle - max 8 passengers) 

PSV Licence from 
Transportation 
Authority 

National Transport Authority to 
update NVDF with  PSV cert 
number same as CVRT pass certs  

2 2,478 

Large Public Service Vehicles ( 
more than 8 passengers – 
minibus, coach, double-
decker)  

LPSV from Garda 
Carriage Office 

Licence is currently handwritten.  
Gardaí to upgrade to 
computerised certs and update 
NVDF with  LPSV cert number 
same as CVRT pass certs  

3 

43,700 

1st taxing of light commercial 
vehicles (Gross weight of 
3,500 kgs or less).  Vans, 
Jeeps, etc 

Form RF111A (Goods 
Only Dec), Insurance 
Cert and weight docket. 

Abandon RF111A. Rely on Garda 
enforcement. 
Use Gross Vehicle Weight to 
determine tax liability.  Revenue 
uploads this info to NVDF when 
issuing reg number so no need 
for submission of weight docket.  

4 

1st taxing of heavy commercial 
vehicles (3,501 kgs or heavier) 
Trucks, Cement Mixers, Artics,  
etc. 

Form RF111A (Goods 
Only Dec), Insurance 
Cert and weight docket. 

Use Gross Vehicle Weight to 
determine tax liability.  Revenue 
uploads this info to NVDF when 
issuing reg number so no need 
for submission of weight docket. 

5 No figures 
1st taxing of Vehicles adapted 
for transport of disabled 
drivers or passengers 

Cert of Approval from 
Revenue 

Revenue to update “Exempt” 
status on NVDF in all cases. 

6 

822 

1st taxing of mobile machine 
(Vehicle with a machine, 
Hoist/Crane permanently 
attached – does not carry 
goods. 

Vehicle Inspection or 
photos to be submitted 

Abolish Tax Class and revert to 
Goods Tax Class based on gross 
vehicle weight, per Item 3/4. 

7 
1st taxing of Recovery Vehicle 
(Tow Truck) 

Vehicle Inspection and 
Declaration Form 

Abolish Tax Class and revert to 
Goods Tax Class based on gross 
vehicle weight, per Item 3/4. 
 

8 511 1st taxing of Motor Caravan 

Declaration Form for 
Motor Caravan. 
Inspection or photos 
are required. 

Approved Tester to confirm 
vehicle meets the criteria and 
upload to NVDF same as CVRT 
pass certs 

9 314 

1st taxing of Youth & 
Community Bus 
Minibuses used by not for 
profit Groups/Schools to 
transport members/clients to 
activities of the Group 

Declaration Form for 
Youth & Community 
Bus. Inspection or 
photos are required 

Approved Tester to confirm 
vehicle meets the criteria and 
upload to NVDF same as CVRT 
pass certs 
Central Agency on submission of 
paperwork from organisation. 
 
 
 

Page 53



 

8 | P a g e  
 

 

10  
Ambulance – Emergency 
Response Vehicle 

Ambulance Declaration 
form. 
Inspection or photos 
are required 

Approved Tester to confirm 
vehicle meets the criteria and 
upload to NVDF same as CVRT 
pass certs. 

11 489 

School Bus.  Bus used only for 
bringing children to and from 
school in areas where public 
transport is poor. 

Contract with Dublin 
Bus/Bus Eireann or 
Article 60 PSV from 
Garda Carriage Office 

Abolish Tax Class and change to 
LPSV, per Item No. 2. 
  

12 3,808 Replacement Tax Disc 
Form RF134 stamped at 
Garda Station 

Apply to MTOL – self declaration. 

13 1,000 

Converted Vehicles.  E.G. 
Vehicles where seats are 
added or removed which can 
change tax class from 
“Goods” to “Private” or vice 
versa. 

Conversion form 
completed and signed 
by Approved Vehicle 
Tester 

Approved Tester to recommend 
changes to Revenue who would 
update NVDF. 

14 No figures 
Vehicles previously exported 
and returning to Ireland 

Confirmation of VIN 
and foreign Reg Cert 

Deal directly with Revenue/NCT 
who would reactivate the reg 
number for the vehicle and 
instruct DVCSD to issue a VRC.   

15 No figures Diplomatic tax discs Diplomatic ID Card 
Dept of Foreign Affairs to supply 
list of Diplomats and vehicles to 
DVCSD to update NVDF. 

16 1,007 

Trade Plates for Motor 
Dealers.  Allows dealer to 
drive a vehicle in his 
possession for sale or repair 
without a current tax disc. 
Plates are placed inside front 
& back windows of car being 
driven. 

Insurance Cert,  Rates 
Number, Letter from 
Landlord 

 Service could be run from 
DVCSD if existing plastic Plates 
were changed to smaller card for 
posting 

17 601 

Issuing Trailer Licence Cards 
for “goods” trailers with gross 
weight in excess of 3,500 kgs 
e.g. trailer being pulled by an 
articulated tractor unit. 

Certificate of 
conformity from trailer 
manufacturer 

 Service could be run from 
DVCSD 

 

Page 54



 

9 | P a g e  
 

APPENDIX 2  
 
Detailed below is correspondence activity within General Motor Tax/Garda Enquiries for 2015. 
 
 

 

 CT53 – These are issued to An Garda Siochana in relation to Road Traffic Offences. The 
information is provided and signed by an Authorised Officer. 

 RF200 – These are change of ownerships request for vehicles that have the old brown log 
book. The unit update the NVDF system and issue a new log book to the customer. 

 S103 – These are issued to other Dublin Local Authorities and sections within Dublin City 
Council. They are issued per legislation that must be stated on every request and signed by 
an Authorised Officer. 

 Reg Particulars – These are issued to solicitors on foot of a request in relation to Road Traffic 
Offences. There is a €6 fee per request and correspondence is signed by an Authorised 
Officer. 

 
 

 E-Mails CT 53's Reg 
Particulars 

RF 200 S103's Duplicate 
Book's 

Rejects Tax 
Correspondence 

Policy Counter Phones 

Jan 322 933 237 27 380 554 66 120 349 125 944 

            

Feb 216 942 242 24 403 478 70 65 284 108 656 

            

Mar 349 1013 171 53 195 881 53 159 218 70 751 

            

Apr 407 649 234 36 590 217 72 75 287 83 1002 

            

May 343 1551 232 21 529 429 51 66 318 67 827 

            

Jun 346 778 221 23 580 753 69 91 486 60 922 

            

Jul 371 474 197 40 322 898 64 100 355 87 1083 

            

Aug 326 1040 216 47 406 740 55 62 326 72 823 

            

Sep 319 979 227 47 361 792 89 132 355 62 954 

            

Oct 265 1098 231 33 637 549 315 92 555 77 951 

            

Nov 267 528 259 40 448 753 69 95 476 82 803 

            

Dec 155 1434 245 15 555 464 71 40 228 78 670 

            

Total 3686 11419 2712 406 5406 7508 1044 1097 4237 971 10386 

Page 55



 

10 | P a g e  
 

APPENDIX 3 
 
Cash/Credit Card transactions for Motor Tax, Smithfield over the past 3 years & including first 2 
months of 2016. The figure for Credit Cards is higher due to the volume of postal Motor Tax 
applications that are processed. 
 

Cash  Smithfield 
   

 
2016 2015 2014 2013 

January 1,066,678 €1,180,121 €929,385.00 €701,321.00 

February 1,048,184 €1,130,493 €795,931.00 €651,836.00 

March 
 

€1,211,809 €813,485.00 €578,772.00 

April 
 

€1,118,251 €787,547.00 €669,376.00 

May 
 

€1,024,912 €745,718.00 €681,894.00 

June 
 

€1,134,256 €768,373.00 €606,966.00 

July 
 

€1,134,237 €777,650.00 €622,636.00 

August 
 

€997,294 €662,828.00 €633,101.00 

September 
 

€985,841 €738,403.00 €693,060.00 

October 
 

€1,011,043 €766,647.00 €603,456.00 

November 
 

€1,005,405 €694,022.00 €429,304.00 

December   €737,659 €588,714.00 €441,492.00 

Totals 2,114,862 €12,671,321 €9,068,703.00 €7,313,214.00 

     

     Credit Card Smithfield 
  

 
2016 2015 2014 2013 

January 1,350,562 €1,534,362 €1,221,937.00 €930,883.00 

February 1,494,964 €1,591,170 €1,126,915.00 €947,011.00 

March 
 

€1,634,084 €1,208,088.00 €911,543.00 

April 
 

€1,760,580 €1,213,301.00 €1,024,713.00 

May 
 

€1,568,107 €1,329,095.00 €1,038,088.00 

June 
 

€1,437,910 €1,071,926.00 €868,868.00 

July 
 

€1,714,409 €1,360,565.00 €944,542.00 

August 
 

€1,349,260 €1,168,514.00 €1,050,665.00 

September 
 

€1,486,457 €1,166,451.00 €848,391.00 

October 
 

€1,479,959 €1,220,388.00 €931,763.00 

November 
 

€1,249,294 €1,052,378.00 €887,459.00 

December   €1,175,869 €873,515.00 €690,862.00 

Totals 2,845,526 €17,981,461 €14,013,073.00 €11,074,788.00 

      

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 56



 

11 | P a g e  
 

APPENDIX 4.0 
 
The table below shows the total number of transactions & revenue generated for 2015 with a 
comparison against 2014 when there was two offices open Smithfield & Ballymun. The 
miscellaneous transactions would be the following; 
 

 Tax Arrears 

 Replacement VLC Books 

 Trailer Licenses 

 Replacement Trailer Licenses 

 Enquiry Fees 

 Miscellaneous Fees 
 

Category 2015  
Transactions 

2014 
Transactions 

Diff % Diff 

Vehicle Tax Discs 
 

222,488 280,429 -57,941 -20.66% 

Miscellaneous 
Transactions 
 

68,874 87,171 -18,297 -20.99% 

Total per 
Transactions 
 

291,362 367,600 -76,238 -20.74% 

Total € Value 
 

€56,131,238 
 

€72,888,814 
 

-€16,757,576 
 

-22.99% 
 

 

 

APPENDIX 4.1 
 
The table below shows a trend for how people are taxing their vehicle in the Dublin region. 
 

Category 
 

2015 2014 2013 2012 

Annual 
 

47.62% 43.27% 37.72% 37.39% 

Bi-Annual 
 

12.91% 13.47% 13.60% 13.39% 

Quarterly 
 

39.47% 43.26% 48.68% 49.22% 

 
 
 

Page 57





   

Debt Mgmt – Rate Collection 

 

 
Oifis an Cheannasaí Airgeadais, An Roinn Airgeadais,  

Oifigí na Cathrach, An Ché Adhmaid, Baile Átha Cliath 8, Éire 
 

Office of the Head of Finance, Finance Department, 
Civic Offices, Wood Quay, Dublin 8, Ireland  

T. 01 222 2102/3  F. 01 222 2476 E. finoff@dublincity.ie 

 
 

 
Report to the Finance Strategic Policy Committee 

 
Debt Management – Rates Collection 

 

 

Background 
Dublin City Council has undergone significant change in recent years.  Revenue budgets 
decreased from €914.5m in 2008 to €794.9m in 2012, rising to €803.0m in 2016.  Staff numbers 
have decreased by 27% across all categories, 34% in management grades.  Dublin City Council 
adopted a pragmatic approach to rate collection over the period of the economic and fiscal 
downturn.  Dublin City Council worked closely with business to secure payment, while mindful of 
the economic and employment aspects of each business entity. 
 
 

Current arrangements 
As the economy has made steady improvements, Dublin City Council has made revised 
arrangements since 2014 with businesses, reverting to payment plans within one year and 
progressing many cases through the lengthy processes of liquidation/receivership/examinership. 
 
 

Trends in Rate Arrears 
 
Arrears as at 1st Jan 2014  €74.6m  
Collection Rate 2014   83.64% 
Arrears as at 1st Jan 2015  €62.9m 
Collection Rate 2015   88.0% 
Arrears as at 1st Jan 2016  €51.4m 
 
 

 
 

 

74.6

62.9

51.4

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

01/01/2014 01/01/2015 01/01/2016

Trends in Rate Arrears

€m

Page 59

mailto:finoff@dublincity.ie


   

Debt Mgmt – Rate Collection 

 
 
Sectoral Focus on Debt Management 
Dublin City Council is working closely with all local authorities by improving debt management 
outcomes through a sectoral focus.  Issues being targeted include tailored training for the collection 
of commercial rates, agreed procedures on debt reporting, and a review of the legislative 
framework governing commercial rates. 
 
 

Targets 2016 
An ambitious target of a further 1.25% increase in collection performance has been set for 2016.  It 
is intended to review the Rates information management system to increase on-line facilities,  
thereby reducing administrative overheads. 
 
 

Summary 
Dublin City Council is committed to making further reductions in the quantum of rates arrears in 
order to maximise available resources for Dublin City. 
 
 
Kathy Quinn 
Head of Finance 
With responsibility for Information & Communications Technology 

Page 60



 
An tAonad Bainistíochta um Chomhaontú Seirbhise d’Uisce Éireann, 

An Roinn Comhshaoil agus Iompair, Bloc 1, Urlár 6, 
Oifigí na Cathrach, Sráid Sheamlas an Éisc, Baile Átha Cliath 8, Éire 

 

Irish Water Service Level Agreement Management Unit 

Environment and Transportation Department, Block 1, Floor 6 
Civic Offices, Fishamble Street, Dublin 8, Ireland 

 
T: +353-1-222 2020  F: +353-1-222 2323  E: adrian.conway@dublincity.ie  

 
 

 
Report to the Finance Strategic Policy Committee 

 Water and Drainage Related Assets of Dublin City Council  
 

 
 
Under Section 12 of the Water Services (No.2) Act 2013, the Minister may transfer property of a Water 
Services Authority (in this case Dublin City Council) to the ownership of Irish Water by Ministerial 
Order. 
 
Prior to such an order, the Local Authority must have the property registered through the Property 
Registration Authority of Ireland (PRAI). 
 
The DCC Service Level Agreement Management Unit is working through the 92 properties related to 
Water Services at present. 
 
To date, all underground assets (pipelines and ancillary assets as well as 13 specific underground 
assets) have transferred to Irish Water in 2014 through a general Ministerial Order as well as a total of 
9 further over ground assets as listed in the attached which have subsequently transferred through a 
series of Ministerial Orders.  These include Ballymore Eustace Water Treatment Plant, Ringsend 
Wastewater Treatment Plant and the Stillorgan Reservoir site.  Properties such as depots and offices 
will not transfer to Irish Water.  
 
This includes the following: 
 

 92 water services assets; 

 Assets that have transferred to Irish Water to date 

 Dwelling houses that are situated on certain water services assets.   
 
 
I trust this report satisfies the requirement of the SPC.  
 
 
 
Adrian Conway 
Executive Manager 
Irish Water Service Level Agreement Management Unit 
 
 
 

Page 61

mailto:adrian.conway@dublincity.ie




   

LPT Stats 

 

Oifis an Cheannasaí Airgeadais, An Roinn Airgeadais,  
Oifigí na Cathrach, An Ché Adhmaid, Baile Átha Cliath 8, Éire 

 
Office of the Head of Finance, Finance Department, 

Civic Offices, Wood Quay, Dublin 8, Ireland  
T. 01 222 2102/3  F. 01 222 2476 E. finoff@dublincity.ie 

 

 
Report to the Finance Strategic Policy Committee 

 
Local Property Tax: Statistics 2013 – 2016 as issued by the Revenue Commissioners 

 

 
 
 

Background 
The Finance Strategic Policy Committee determined its work programme for the 18 months ahead 
at its meeting held on 16th June 2016.  An item on the work programme is a review of the Local 
Property Tax. 
 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to provide information on the LPT collected by the Revenue 
Commissioners as published in the LPT Statistics 2013 – 2015 and 2016 (See Appendix A).  This 
report highlights information relating to Dublin City Council. 
 

Compliance and Collection 
 Dublin City Council accounted in 2015 for 12.34% of the properties returned of having an 

LPT liability.   

 In 2015 the LPT compliance rate in Dublin of 95.5% was 1.5% below the national 

compliance rate of 97%. 

 The value of LPT receipts collected in Dublin accounts for 15.5% (2015) of all LPT receipts 

collected in the State. 

 
 
 
Kathy Quinn 
Head of Finance 
With responsibility for Information & Communications Technology  

Page 63

mailto:finoff@dublincity.ie


   

LPT Stats 

 

Appendix A 
 
 

 
 

No's of Properties Returned for LPT (000s) 

Year 2013 2014 2015 To June 16 

Dublin City 231.7 231.4 229.7 221 

National 1866 1873 1861 1830 

Dublin City % of National 12.42% 12.35% 12.34% 12.08% 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Compliance Rate for LPT (%) 

Year 2013 2014 2015 To June 16 

Dublin Local Authorities 96.4 96.3 95.5 92.2 

National 97.0 98.0 97.0 95.0 

Dublin City  +/_ National -0.6 -1.7 -1.5 -2.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LPT Collected (€m) 

Year 2013 2014 2015 To June 16 

Dublin Local Authorities 43.9 86.6 69 50 

National 264.0 522.0 444.0 325.0 

Dublin City % of National 16.63% 16.59% 15.54% 15.38% 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

Page 64



Innovating,  
Collaborating 
& Delivering Homes 
 
HFA  | Dublin City Council  
    Finance Strategic Policy Committee  
    15 September  2016 

 
 

P
age 65



The role of the HFA is to  
facilitate and support the  

successful delivery of Social  
Housing in Ireland 

 

P
age 66



HFA 2020 strategy complements government’s Rebuilding Ireland: Action Plan 
for Housing and Homelessness 
 
Primary focus is on delivery of 47,000 homes 
 
Benign interest rate environment 
 
Relationship driven approach 
 
Continuous improvement 
 

Executive Summary 

P
age 67



Outline of the Four Strategic Pillars 
 

► Pillar 1: Customers and Competitors 
 

► Pillar 2: All other Stakeholders 
 

► Pillar 3: Organisation Interdependence 
 

► Pillar 4: HFA Internal Capability 

Pillar 1                           
We will have 
increased our 

business portfolio to 
€5 billion by 
introducing 

innovative products 
to existing and new 

customers 

Pillar 2                          
We will enjoy a 
reputation for 

excellence among 
our stakeholders 

who clearly 
understand and 

value HFA offerings 

Pillar 3                             
We will play a co-

leadership role in the 
development and 

execution of an Irish 
Social Housing 

Solution 

Pillar 4                           
We will provide 

exceptional service 
to customers 

through professional 
and committed staff 

who are proud to 
work in the HFA 

P
age 68



 

Pillar 1 - what 2020 will look like… 
 Financing local authorities to deliver 9,000 homes 

– gross lending  €1,350m (net lending  €620m) 
 
 AHBs deliver 4,500 homes, as HFA grows loan 

portfolio by €680m 
 
 13,500 homes are only ⅓ of the 47,000 needed, 

but HFA has capacity to do more 
 
 HFA has also developed new markets including 

HEIs and the Care Sector 
 
 HFA has forged partnerships to target the use of 

EIB finance for energy retrofits 

P
age 69



 

Pillar 1 - why LAs should borrow 
 Priority to get homes built 

 
 Scale required 

 
 25 year fixed rate at <2% (service €1bn for 

c.€50m p.a.) 
 
 Cost of emergency accommodation 

 
 Possible sale later can be looked at 

 
 Limited capacity of AHB sector 

 

P
age 70



 

Pillar 1 - comfort blanket needed 
 Off B/S funding challenges, timing 

 
 Risk exists for LAs 

 
 Need solid repayment platform 

 Sustainable & reliable 
 Legally based 
 Past informs the future 

P
age 71



 HFA has strong working relationships with key elected 
representatives especially those with Housing 
responsibility 
 
 HFA understands needs of key Departments 

 
 Customers and Government Departments fully 

appreciate the product range, capability and operating 
constraints of HFA 
 
 Liaison with National Press and other media 

 
 All HFA communications are consistent and clearly 

articulated 

Pillar 2 – Key Stakeholders 

P
age 72



 Wider ‘Housing Group’  is focused on delivering 
47,000 units by 2020 
 
 HFA is a collaborative and trusted team member 

 
 HFA plays a co-leadership role 

 
 HFA’s position papers and financial advice are 

sought and valued 
 
 HFA is consulted in the development, planning and 

execution of Housing Policy 

Pillar 3 – organisation interdependence 

P
age 73



 Programme for developing leadership skills and 
competence 
 
 AHB sector acknowledges the ease and efficiency of the 

HFA loan process 
 
 HFA has introduced the most appropriate, reliable and 

integrated electronic systems to complement its ability to 
deliver on the expectations of stakeholders 
 
 HFA promotes a positive and stimulating work  

environment which recognises and values the contribution 
and commitment of all employees 

Pillar 4 – internal capability 

P
age 74



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

National Oversight and Audit Commission   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Performance Indicators in Local Authorities 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOAC Report No. 2 – December 2015  

Page 75



 

 1  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

INTRODUCTION …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 2 

COLLECTING THE PERFORMANCE INDICATOR DATA ………………………………………………………….. 4 

QUALITY ASSURANCE REVIEW OF THE DATA ……………………………………………………………………… 6 

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR DATA – KEY MESSAGES ….……………………………………………………… 12 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ……….……………………………..………………………………. 20 

TABLES 

 SECTION 1: HOUSING ….……………………………………………………………………………………….. 22 

 SECTION 2: ROADS …………………………………………………………………………………………….…. 32 

 SECTION 3: WATER ………………………………………………………………………………………….…… 48 

 SECTION 4: WASTE/ENVIRONMENT …………………………………………………………………….. 50 

 SECTION 5: PLANNING ……………………………………………………………………………………….... 56 

 SECTION 6: FIRE …………………………………………………………………………………………………… 60 

 SECTION 7: LIBRARY …………………………………………………………………………………………….. 65 

 SECTION 8: YOUTH …………………………………………………………………………………………...…. 67 

 SECTION 9: CORPORATE ………………………………………………………………………………………. 69 

 SECTION 10: FINANCE ………………………………………………………………………………………….. 71 

 SECTION 11: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT …………………………………………………………….. 79 

 APPENDIX: PSCI RATINGS INDICATORS ….…………………………………………………………….. 80 

 

LGMA COMMENTARY ……………………………………………………………………………………………………… 81

  

  

 

   

 

Page 76



 

 2  

Introduction 

Section 126C of the Local Government Reform Act 2014 sets out the functions of the 

National Oversight and Audit Commission (NOAC) to include the scrutiny of the 

performance of local government bodies against relevant indicators (including indicators 

relating to customer service) that the Commission considers it appropriate to refer to.   

 

NOAC’s role in relation to the scrutiny of local government performance against relevant 

performance indicators replaces, in respect of performance in 2014 and subsequent years, 

the service indicators in local authorities that were introduced by the Minister for the 

Environment, Community and Local Government (the Minister) in 2004.  The last service 

indicators report to the Minister containing data on the 46 service indicators in respect of 

2013 was published by the Local Government Management Agency (LGMA) in December 

2014.  However, the LGMA role in the collection of the data through its eReturns system and 

in the compilation of the Tables and Commentary on the data continues in respect of the 

replacement performance indicators report to NOAC.   

 

Although the Statutory Instrument establishing NOAC was made by the Minister on 1 July 

2014, NOAC met for the first time in mid-September and at the end of October it 

established a sub-group to develop proposals for local authority performance reporting in 

respect of 2014 and 2015 activity.  In carrying out this task, the guiding criteria were the 

objective of reporting on a smaller set of performance focussed indicators, with an 

emphasis on financial performance and customer service, and the fact that without a 

substantial lead-in period local authorities could only be asked to report on data that they 

would have collected during 2014 or could access in the normal course.   The sub-group had 

the benefit of a report prepared by the KPI (Key Performance Indicators) Working Group of 

the County and City Managers’ Association (CCMA), which recommended the deletion or 

amendment of many of the previously applicable service indicators as well as some new 

ones.  Arising from the work of the sub-group, NOAC decided that 35 indicators should be 

reported on in respect of 2014 activity covering a wide range of the functions carried out by 

local authorities in the areas of housing (6), roads (2), planning (4), water (2), 

waste/environment (5), fire service (3), library/recreation (2), youth/community (4), 

corporate (4), finance (2) and economic development (1).   

 

The data on performance was collected from local authorities by the LGMA and the detailed 

results for each indicator are provided in Tables 1 to 26 on pages 22 to 79 of this report.  

The LGMA’s associated commentary on the information provided by the indicators is at 

pages 81 to 107.  This includes at page 86 an explanation of mean and median values that 

are referenced frequently in this report.  The report of NOAC’s quality assurance review of 

7 of the indicators and of its assessment visits to 8 of the 31 local authorities is at pages 6 

to 11.  The performance indicator data brings together a wide range of information about 

how all the local authorities perform in delivering services to local communities and key 

Page 77



 

 3  

messages in this regard are highlighted at pages 12 to 19.  NOAC’s conclusions and 

recommendations arising from the experience of the 2014 data collection, compilation and 

verification process, and its analysis of the information contained in Tables 1 to 26, are at 

pages 20 and 21.   

 

While the LGMA commentary presents an analysis and graphics relating primarily to the 

data outcomes and NOAC’s analysis focusses mainly on the performance aspect, there is 

inevitably some overlap in the material covered in these sections of the report.   

 

NOAC wishes to express its thanks to the staff in the local authorities who contributed the 

data and those who facilitated and participated in assessment visits.  It also wishes to 

express its appreciation to the staff of the LGMA who compiled the data in the report and 

provided the commentary at pages 81 to 107. 

 

  

Page 78



 

 4  

Collecting the Performance Indicator Data 

The LGMA forwarded to Chief Executives on 19 February 2015 the Guidance document on 

the completion of the Performance Indicators prepared by NOAC and tested by the LGMA 

with a number of local authority officials.  The deadline notified to local authorities for 

submitting the data to the LGMA eReturns electronic system was 30 April 2015.  By mid-

May the following 22 local authorities had completed their returns:   

             
Carlow County Council 
Cork County Council 
Donegal County Council 
Dublin City Council                                          
Dún Laoghaire-Rathdown County Council             
Fingal County Council                                                     
Galway City Council                                                        
Kerry County Council                                        
Kilkenny County Council                                     
Laois County Council                                                    
Leitrim County Council                                        
Limerick City & County Council                          
Longford County Council                                     
Louth County Council                                         
Meath County Council                                         
Monaghan County Council                                  
Offaly County Council                                         
South Dublin County Council                              
Tipperary County Council                                   
Waterford City & County Council                                     
Westmeath County Council                                 
Wexford County Council       
 

By mid-July 2015, the final three local authorities – Cork City Council and Galway and 

Wicklow County Councils – had completed their returns.    

While NOAC is appreciative of the fact that the majority of local authorities had submitted 

their returns before the deadline or within a fortnight thereafter, the fact that it was mid-

July before all the data items were submitted by all authorities delayed the commencement 

of the assessment process  and delayed the review of the submitted data.   

NOAC reviewed the data submitted by the local authorities by consulting with relevant 

Sections and/or publications of the Department of the Environment, Community and Local 

Government, the Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport and the Department of Jobs, 

Enterprise and Innovation for consistency and/or any views as to their reliability, reviewing 

any comments included by the local authorities for any discrepancies indicated in the data, 

checking for any inconsistencies in the data for similar types of local authority and 

Page 79



 

 5  

comparing 2013 data for those indicators reported on in both years for any inconsistencies.   

Arising from this exercise, NOAC requested the LGMA to query a number of data items with 

a number of local authorities.  The NOAC secretariat also directly queried the figures that 

had been submitted by several authorities in respect of some indicators and appropriate 

adjustments were made to the reported indicators.  In addition, Irish Water supplied their 

most recent data in respect of the unaccounted for water (UFW) indicator. 

This part of the process has proved to be very time consuming and the lengthy delay in the 

LGMA obtaining responses from local authorities to queries concerning the accuracy of their 

submitted data added a further 15 weeks or so to the process of producing the Tables of the 

data at pages 22 to 79.  This resulted in publication of the report being delayed until 

December 2015, which is unacceptably late in the year.  NOAC expects to see a significant 

improvement of performance by all the relevant parties in future years in respect of the 

data collection and verification part of the process. 

Notwithstanding the considerable effort expended in working to ensure the consistency and 

accuracy of the data contained in the Tables, some issues came to light via queries 

submitted by local authorities, notes added to their returns and an examination of the data 

that call into question the reliability of the data in a small number of cases.  Where this 

arises, it is referenced in the subsequent sections of this report. 

 

  

Page 80



 

 6  

Quality Assurance Review of the Data 

Background to the 2014 Assessment 

A quality assurance review of the annual service indicators returns has been carried out 

each year since 2004 by an Independent Assessment Panel (IAP).  In addition to its report on 

the 2013 service indicators, the Panel provided a strategic overview on indicators based on 

IAP experience and findings over the last ten years to, inter alia, assist NOAC in its 

deliberations on future developments.  NOAC would like to express its appreciation to the 

IAP members, Eric Embleton and Arthur Coldrick, for the insights contained in their strategic 

overview and to acknowledge the verification and quality assurance work carried out by the 

Panel over the past 10 years.  

 

NOAC decided that the best approach to carrying out the assessment of the indicators 

reporting on 2014 activity by local authorities would be to continue with a format similar to 

the one used in previous years by the IAP so as to provide a measure of continuity in the 

transition period.  This format involved the IAP visiting selected local authorities to carry out 

an in-depth assessment of the accuracy and reliability of the returned data for selected 

indicators, which varied annually.    

 

It was agreed that the members of the NOAC Performance Indicators Sub-Group (Martina 

Moloney, Constance Hanniffy and Paul Lemass), together with NOAC member John Buckley, 

would carry out the assessment role in respect of the 2014 indicators to confirm the validity 

and robustness of the data captured and to obtain a view of the usefulness of the indicators 

and any other relevant issues.   

 

Prior to choosing the selection of indicators and local authorities for review, the sub-group 

decided that the NOAC secretariat should conduct a pilot visit looking at all of the indicators 

in a single local authority to get a better understanding of the systems and procedures in 

place for collecting, storing and reconciling the data and to see if there were any issues in 

relation to the collection of and reporting on particular indicators.  NOAC is very grateful to 

the staff of Louth County Council who facilitated Declan Grehan and Paul Furey of the 

secretariat in this exercise.   

 

Following the pilot review, the NOAC sub-group decided to choose 7 indicators for review.  

These were: 

 

 Housing: Housing Voids 

 Planning: Cost per Capita of the Planning Service 

 Fire Services: Cost per Capita of the Fire Service 

 Library: Library Visits 

 Library: Cost per Capita of the Library Service 

Page 81



 

 7  

 Economic Development: Number of Jobs Created 

 Finance: Summary of the Revenue Account Balance 

 

The sub-group selected the following 8 local authorities for review, representing a mix of 

urban and rural authorities and of size of population served: 

 

 Dún Laoghaire-Rathdown County Council reviewed on the 15th July 2015 by Paul 

Lemass and Constance Hanniffy with Paul Furey of the secretariat 

 Meath County Council reviewed on the 15th July 2015 by Martina Moloney and John 

Buckley with Declan Grehan of the secretariat 

 Fingal County Council reviewed on the 22nd July 2015 by Paul Lemass and Constance 

Hanniffy 

 Carlow County Council reviewed on the 22nd July 2015 by Martina Moloney and John 

Buckley with Paul Furey of the secretariat 

 Galway County Council reviewed on the 23rd July 2015 by John Buckley and 

Constance Hanniffy with Paul Furey of the secretariat 

 Clare County Council reviewed on the 27th  July 2015 by Martina Moloney with Paul 

Furey of the secretariat 

 Cavan County Council reviewed on the 28th July 2015 by Martina Moloney with Paul 

Furey of the secretariat 

 Cork City Council reviewed on the 12th August 2015 by John Buckley with Sheila 

McMahon of the secretariat. 

 

Findings 

NOAC concluded that the 2014 published indicators reviewed in the year are relevant 

measures of performance and, apart from issues mentioned in this report, are based on 

reliable and accurate information. 

 

It was confirmed that all financial information used was drawn from the Annual Financial 

Statements of each authority, which in turn are audited by the Local Government Audit 

Service.  The source of all non-financial figures reviewed was confirmed.  For those 

indicators that are based on the population served, the data was taken from the Census 

figures for 2011.  In the case of the fire service, which spans boundaries, the relevant 

statistics are based on the 2011 Census adjusted by the National Directorate for Fire and 

Emergency Management to take account of actual boundaries of fire authority operations.  

 

Based on the visits and subsequent follow-up work, certain adjustments have been made to 

the indicators as originally recommended or as reported.  These adjustments are designed 

to improve the consistency or accuracy of the indicators.  

 

Page 82



 

 8  

 In the area of housing, the indicator titled ‘Housing Voids’ is headed in Table 2 as 

‘Percentage Vacant at 31/12/2014’ and includes all vacancies at that date.  This 

adjustment is designed to remove any confusion around the term ‘voids’ which, for 

the reviewed local authorities, is used to refer to stock that is vacant for more than 

six months, although the data they supplied included all the vacancies of shorter 

duration also. 

 Fire authorities provide a first response to areas that span local authority 

boundaries.  It was considered more appropriate to relate the cost of the services 

provided to the population being provided with a first response service, rather than 

the number of people residing in the local authority administrative area. 

 The best available figures have been included for library visits based, where 

available, on actual daily records and, in their absence, on estimates derived from 

manual counts.  

 The published financial performance figures relating to balances on the local 

authority accounts are based on cumulative surpluses or deficits (and not the 

outturn for the year as originally intended) and are consolidated figures 

incorporating the financial positions of all abolished local rating authorities in the 

area. 

 All job creation figures are based on the annual survey of employment carried out 

by the Local Enterprise Offices with part-time jobs being counted as 0.5 of a full-

time job.  

 

NOAC will review the clarity of the guidelines in order to remove any possibilities for 

inconsistency in the returned data in respect of indicators for 2015 and subsequent years.   

 

The teams that visited each authority can confirm that they were furnished with all the 

information and explanations that they sought.  In most cases, information requested by 

NOAC was available at the time of the visit.  However, in a number of instances, the NOAC 

secretariat needed to follow up some information following the review and this was 

provided promptly by the relevant local authority staff.  

 

In regard to the use of the information, there was some variation in the degree to which the 

indicators formed an integral part of the management team’s work programme and on-

going performance review.  Some local authorities have developed their own suite of local 

indicators that they view as relevant in assessing their performance throughout the year. 

However, the published indicators are viewed as a useful comparator of performance 

against other local authorities and over time.   

 

There was little indication that authorities had a process for establishing targets associated 

with the indicators.  Consequently, at this point, they are indicators of historic performance 

Page 83



 

 9  

only.  The establishment of related targets could turn them into measures that could be 

used to gauge performance improvement.  

The local authorities that were reviewed welcomed the reduction in the number of 

indicators from 46 to 35 and considered the new cost per capita indicators for the library, 

fire and planning services to be worthwhile. 

 

Vacant Local Authority Housing (Table 2) 

The teams concluded that the authorities are, generally, capturing the information on 

vacant units in an accurate and timely way.  

 

iHouse is the software used for recording data on the housing function in most of the local 

authorities reviewed.  Meath County Council commenced using iHouse in July 2015, Dún 

Laoghaire-Rathdown County Council use OHMS (Organisation Housing Management 

System) and Cork City Council also use a system called FoxPro into which iHouse feeds.  

Under all the systems used, data is updated and checked at regular intervals.  Meath County 

Council referred to the impact that the loss of rent collectors has had on how quickly the 

authority becomes aware of some vacancies whereby they often rely on word of mouth to 

inform them of a vacant unit.  Both Meath and Carlow County Councils made the point that 

the generally increased requirements of the revised Building Standards Regulations had 

begun to impact on re-letting times and costs. 

 

Maintenance in the reviewed local authorities is carried out by a mixture of direct labour 

and contractors, although some of the authorities visited now use only contractors to 

prepare units for re-letting.  Average re-letting times and costs mentioned during review 

visits varied considerably from 6 to 25 weeks where major works were not required and 

from €9,000 to €23,000 per unit.   

 

Cost Per Capita of the Planning Service (Table 15) 

The costs used to compile this indicator are drawn from the Annual Financial Statement and 

related to the census figures for the authority area.  The main costs of the planning service 

are salaries, travel expenses and advertising and also costs associated with the preparation 

of Development Plans.  There is some variation in the treatment of development planning 

costs.  For instance, Cork City Council and Carlow County Council make an annual provision 

to evenly spread the costs associated with the production of their area’s Development Plan.  

Meath County Council indicated that they use development levies to cover consultant costs 

related to the preparation of the Plan. 

 

Cost Per Capita of the Fire Service (Table 17) 

Only six of the eight local authorities reviewed directly operate a fire service and of these 

only Cork City Council’s fire brigade is a full-time only brigade.  A complication in compiling 

this indicator is that, in most of the fire authorities reviewed, operational fire services were 

Page 84



 

 10  

both supplied to and received from neighbouring fire authorities, depending on the location 

of fire stations. There are varying types of agreements applicable to these arrangements 

and the view was expressed that the transfer payments received for the provision of such 

services did not generally cover the full cost.  As a consequence of the service crossing local 

authority boundaries, as noted above, the indicators have been adjusted to relate the cost 

of the services provided to the populations actually served by each fire authority. 

 

Library Visits and Cost Per Capita of the Library Service (Table 19) 

An automatic or electronic count of all visitors to main library premises was in place in all 

the local authorities reviewed and the actual count, rather than an estimate based on the 

number of visitors in one week in October, was correctly returned to eReturns either initially 

or following the visit in the case of most of the local authorities.  However, Clare and Dún 

Laoghaire-Rathdown County Councils returned extrapolated estimates from the electronic 

count taken in the first week in October even though all visits to their full-time libraries are 

counted electronically.  Cavan County Council’s figure relates to the (electronic) count in its 

full-time libraries only.  In the case of some of the reviewed councils, the library premises 

included facilities for non-library or non-reading/educational related activities and visitors 

for those purposes were included in the counts.  In relation to the appropriateness of the 

indicator, the point was made at several visits that there is an increasing level of on-line 

lending conducted remotely and this is not reflected in the relevant indicator.  This will be 

reviewed for future returns.   

 

The general view expressed was that the library indicators are an improvement on previous 

years. There will be a central library management system live from 2016 onwards which 

should see greater efficiencies.   

 

Number of Jobs Created (Table 26) 

All local authorities use the same system to record data relevant to this indicator.  The 

system is the Grant Management Information System (GMIS), which was developed by 

Enterprise Ireland (EI) for the County and City Enterprise Boards that the Local Enterprise 

Offices (LEOs) replaced.  For the purposes of this system, each local authority conducts an 

annual verification survey, usually at the end of November, to facilitate a factual 

measurement of jobs created each year with the assistance of the LEO.  During 2014 there 

was a data reconciliation exercise conducted by EI that resulted in the removal or transfer to 

EI from the LEOs of a number of companies that had been counted as assisted by the 

Enterprise Boards up to then - in some cases, because the businesses had now grown 

beyond the micro enterprise level.  There was a general feeling that since LEOs carry out a 

range of other functions that are not captured by the jobs created statistic, there may be 

merit in supplementing that indicator with an additional measure.  This will be kept under 

review for future years. 

 

Page 85



 

 11  

Summary of the Revenue Account Balances (Table 22) 

The data for this indicator reflects the cumulative Income and Expenditure Account balance 

in the local authority’s Annual Financial Statement at the end of each of the years 2010, 

2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014. It is compiled taking account of the balances related to any 

abolished borough/town councils in the administrative area.  The figures are in agreement 

with the Annual Financial Statement of each authority reviewed.  

 

Other Performance Matters 

In the course of the visits, a number of performance-related matters were noted and 

discussed with staff in the areas reviewed.  These included:  

 

 The use of more detailed indicators and measures at local level that allow services to 

monitor their work plans is to be commended.  In this respect, Cork City Council is 

exploring the development of a balanced scorecard system. 

 In Dún Laoghaire-Rathdown, reduced costs in the planning area were due to staff 

reductions and some efficiency in printing costs. 

 Currently, the four Dublin authorities have a co-ordinated procurement system for 

the purchase of new library stock.  A considerable cost reduction was reported. 

Carlow County Council advised that a national co-ordinated procurement system is 

planned for 2016.   

 It might be useful for authorities to consider conducting a periodic survey of the 

purpose of library visits using a method on the lines of that used by the Library 

Association of Ireland. 

 Some authorities are considering or piloting self-service arrangements for libraries. 

These offer the potential to extend the opening hours and thereby the accessibility 

of services.  It would be useful to evaluate the experience in these cases. 

 LEO allocations in most areas were spread throughout the year but Dún Laoghaire-

Rathdown reported that the allocation was spent by June which impacts on job 

creation in the second half of the year.  There was some concern in all authorities 

that the impact of soft grant support was not being captured in the indicators. 

 The use of a simple outturn position as a financial indicator was questioned in that it 

refers only to current budgets and does not relate the balance to the level of 

resources managed by an authority. 

 Some authorities considered that a tourism related indicator would be a useful 

addition to the suite of measures since they see this area as a key development 

priority. 

  

Page 86



 

 12  

Performance Indicator Data – Key Messages 

Purpose of Indicators 

The aim of the indicators is to provide information on performance for each individual 

authority that can be used to compare outputs/outcomes across the various local 

authorities.  Where the indicators are new or the calculation mechanisms have changed, 

comparison with performance in previous years is not possible.  Where such comparative 

information is available, it is provided in the Summary Statistics and this facilitates 

comparison over time for each authority.   

 

These indicators attempt to deliver a common approach to measurement and 

benchmarking and the availability of the information is intended to support all local 

authorities to improve the services they provide to local communities.  NOAC believes that, 

by learning from one another, there is scope to develop and enhance best practice in the 

performance by local government bodies of their functions.  The benchmarking process aids 

understanding of why councils vary in terms of performance.  By making the information 

publicly available, citizens and service users can hold councils to account in relation to what 

is achieved on their behalf.  It also allows councils themselves to ask questions about their 

services in order to make them better. 

 

It is NOAC’s objective, as it carries out thematic reviews into different aspects of local 

authority activity and acquires greater insight into the functions performed by local 

authorities, to develop over time more qualitative performance indicators that are focussed 

on outcomes as well as inputs and outputs.   

 

In reviewing the data it must be recognised that local authorities vary in terms of their client 

base, scale, resource base, geography and topography, which may impact on service 

outputs/outcomes.  In this context, NOAC will consider, in consultation with the LGMA, 

whether and to what extent there may be scope to group similar local authorities for 

comparative purposes, for example, urban, rural, levels of deprivation and affluence, etc.   

 

The information presented in this report should be considered in the broader economic and 

financial context within which local authorities operate.  The indicators show the reduction 

in staffing levels and levels of revenue collection.  In addition, authorities are dependent on 

central Government funding which has reduced during the recession.  It should also be 

noted that the provision of services by each local authority is governed by policy decisions 

which are taken at local level to match services to locally identified priorities and the needs 

of the population served. 

 

 

 

Page 87



 

 13  

Housing Services 

The total number of additional housing units provided in 2014 (Table 1) was 3,820, 

reflecting direct provision, and units provided under the Rental Accommodation Scheme, 

the Housing Assistance Payment Scheme and the Social Housing Leasing Initiative.  The total 

stock available for social housing purposes at the end of 2014 (Table 2) stood at 153,773.  

2014 saw the commencement of the roll out of the new Housing Assistance Payment 

Scheme through which 463 units became available.  Authorities were asked to indicate the 

number of the housing units they own that were not tenanted on 31 December 2014 and 

the report shows the % this represents of the directly provided social housing stock of each 

local authority.  The figures, which total 4,919 dwellings, vary from over 8% in Roscommon 

and Leitrim to 0.5% in Monaghan and South Dublin.  The other authorities with vacancy 

rates greater than 4% are Cork and Dublin cities, Limerick city and county and Cavan, 

Galway, Longford, Mayo and Sligo counties.  A higher level of vacancies may be due in some 

cases to a local authority policy of holding vacancies in certain estates pending planned 

refurbishment work and in others to certain stock not being popular with waiting list 

applicants.  The level of vacancy will also reflect the extent to which the authority is pro-

active in placing tenants in vacated properties within the shortest possible timeframe.  The 

2014 mean vacancy figure is 3.45% and the median is 2.83%.  The 2013 indicator excluded 

from the % vacant figures those units that were the subject of major refurbishment work, 

but the mean and median were quite similar in 2013 to the 2014 figures – at 3.23% and 

2.6% respectively.  This suggests that difficult to let housing stock and local authority policy 

and practice regarding minimising vacancies are the more likely determinants of 

performance in this area. 

 

Table 3 shows average re-letting times from the date the previous tenant vacated the 

dwelling to the date of the new tenant’s first rent debit varied from a low of 10 weeks in 

Laois to a high of 82 weeks in Cork city, with a median of 24 weeks.  Although the Cork re-

letting time was influenced by its policy of delaying the first rent debit by a week and having 

some older bedsit type units that can be difficult to let, this deviation from the median is 

significant.  While 13 local authorities had average re-letting times of more than 30 weeks, 

11 authorities achieved an average of less than 20 weeks, including 2 urban authorities 

(South Dublin – 11.1 weeks and Dún Laoghaire-Rathdown – 13.36 weeks).  It is recognised 

that a number of authorities have provided explanations for their performance related to 

refurbishment of the units.  It would be beneficial for individual authorities to review their 

performance in this area to ensure a timely turn-around of vacant units to meet the 

significant demand that exists for social housing. 

There is also a significant variation in the average cost of pre-letting repairs from €1,266.57 

in Cavan to €35,012.51 in Cork city, with a median cost of €8,375. Explanations that were 

provided for the variations include costs associated with the age of the property, the extent 

of the work required and the impact of hard to let properties.  Average maintenance costs 

Page 88



 

 14  

relating to existing tenancies varied from €256.40 in Carlow to €4,075.28 in Westmeath with 

a median of €758.29 so, for this indicator also, deviations from the median were quite 

significant.  Again, authorities, particularly those that are outliers, should review 

comparative costs of works needed to their housing stock to ensure that value for money is 

being achieved.   

NOAC is currently carrying out a thematic study of the maintenance and management of 

local authority housing; the areas being examined include the level of vacancies, re-letting 

practices and maintenance expenditure.  The outcome of this study will enable NOAC to 

decide if these indicators should be retained as they are or if they require amendment to 

ensure that they are a more meaningful measurement of performance in future years. 

The other housing study that NOAC is conducting at present relates to the local authority 

function of implementing the private rented sector regulations.  Table 4 shows that local 

authorities carried out a total of 18,553 inspections of private rented dwellings in 2014.  This 

compares with 21,218 inspections in 2013 and 19,921 in 2012.  Given the escalating number 

of households in the private rented sector, any reduction of activity in this area is an 

unwelcome development.  The number of inspections as a percentage of the tenancies 

registered with the Private Residential Tenancies Board was at least 30% in the case of 

Cavan, South Dublin and Roscommon County Councils and NOAC acknowledges the high 

level of performance by Cavan County Council who have maintained an inspection rate 

equating to more than 30% of tenancies every year since this indicator was introduced in 

respect of 2008 activity.  At the other end of the spectrum, inspections in Louth, consistent 

with its 2013 performance, amounted to less than 0.5% of registered tenancies.  The level of 

inspections by authorities in the urban areas accounting for the location of 56% of the 

tenancies was mixed, varying from South Dublin’s commendable inspection rate of 34% to 

11.7% in Waterford city and county, 7.6% in Cork city, 4.6% in Dún Laoghaire-Rathdown, 

3.6% in Dublin city, 3.3% in Limerick city and county, 2% in Fingal and 1.1% in Galway city.  

Performance in enforcing the private rented sector regulations will be considered further by 

NOAC in the study it is currently undertaking of this function. 

There were 2,649 homeless adult individuals in emergency accommodation at 31 December 

2014, of which 64% were in the Dublin area (Table 4).  Although there may be no direct 

relationship between local authority performance and the number of persons who were 

homeless at any particular date, the proportion of those homeless on the day of the count 

who have been in emergency accommodation for more than 6 months out of the previous 

12 months is a reflection of the success of local authority actions to address homelessness.   

The new homeless adults indicator shows that in the case of Dublin city (on behalf of the 4 

Dublin authorities), Kildare, Sligo, Tipperary and Waterford Councils, more than half of the 

individuals in emergency accommodation at 31 December 2014 had spent more than 6 

months in such accommodation.   

 

Page 89



 

 15  

The Implementation Plan on the State’s Response to Homelessness was in operation for 

more than half of that year and Action 20 of this instructed local authorities to operate their 

Allocation Schemes so as to ensure that homeless households (families and individuals) and 

other vulnerable groups are allocated housing in accordance with the appropriate priority.  

Ministerial directions issued in August 2015 under the Housing (Miscellaneous Provisions) 

Act 2009 that make it mandatory for 50% of housing allocations by the Dublin authorities 

and 30% of allocations by the other urban authorities to be made to households that on 1 

June 2015 were either (a) in emergency accommodation, (b) had an accommodation 

requirement arising from a disability or (c) qualified on exceptional medical or 

compassionate grounds, should begin to impact positively on the second part of this 

indicator in 2015. 

 

Roads  

A new indicator has been introduced to provide information in relation to the quality of the 

non-national road network at Tables 6 to 9. The maintenance and improvement of roads is a 

key service provided by local authorities and impacts on the economic and social lives of the 

entire population.  While only 5 councils had fully surveyed all their roads by the end of 

2014 (Table 5), the majority of councils had completed at least some of the necessary survey 

work for this indicator.  As the indicator is new, comparison with previous years is not 

possible.  However, some key messages emerge.  Looking at the median values, the survey 

results indicate that 5% of regional roads, which carry large traffic volumes, display 

structural distress and 19% have moderate to significant pavement defects.  The 

comparable figures for the local primary roads are 8% and 27%.  15% of local secondary 

roads display structural distress, with 35% displaying pavement defects.  The comparable 

figures for local tertiary roads are 28% and 27% respectively.  This data will be useful in 

future years when comparative figures are available to assess trends in road quality and 

permit the targeting of resources to areas most in need.  

 

Water Services 

The Unaccounted for Water (UFW) figures published in Table 11 were supplied by Irish 

Water and were derived from data provided to it by local authorities under a Service Level 

Agreement (SLA) in respect of January – June 2015, as this was the most reliable data 

available.  The mean UFW outcome for the country as a whole of 46.7% is an increase over 

the 2013 figure, which was 39.5%.  The explanation for this variation is more likely to be the 

fact that up to now the calculation was based on a combination of metered commercial 

water usage and estimated domestic consumption (as residential usage was not metered 

hitherto), than that the level of leakage has increased between 2013 and 2015.  The UFW 

level varied considerably between local authorities – from 68% in Roscommon to 32% in 

Monaghan.  The only other authorities with UFW rates of less than 40% were Cavan (33%), 

Clare (37%), Kildare (35%), Laois (36%), South Dublin (34%) and Wicklow (37%).  The figure 

for Roscommon is somewhat of an outlier with the next highest rate being 58% in Mayo.   

Page 90



 

 

The Drinking Water quality data supplied by the Environmental Protection Agency relates to 

2013.  The median compliance rate for both microbiological and chemical analysis of public 

water supplies provided under an SLA with Irish Water is 99.4%. Three local authorities 

achieved perfect 100% scores – Galway City and Longford and Louth County Councils.  The 

median compliance rate for private water supplies was 97.9%.  The drinking water quality 

compliance indicator data was not included in recent Service Indicator Reports. 

 

Waste Service 

The July 2014 national target for household access to a 3 bin refuse collection service was 

50%.  Table 12 suggests that this target is being exceeded in the majority of large urban 

centres, with the highest penetration in the Fingal area at 77.87%. The lowest level of 

penetration is Donegal at just 0.1% or 60 households and the median value is 22.09%.  The 

indicators suggest that the achievement of this target is more problematic in rural counties 

with poor outcomes of less than 10% in a number of cases.  The data was obtained by the 

National Waste Collection Permit Office from the waste collectors.  However, comparison of 

the total number of households with access to a 3-bin service of 522,141 with the 2013 

Service Indicators report percentage of households receiving a waste collection service 

being provided with segregated collection for organics, which totalled 580,655 households, 

indicates some doubt over the reliability of data supplied in one or both years.   

 

Planning Service 

It is disappointing to note from Table 15 that the buildings inspected as a percentage of new 

buildings whose commencement was notified to the authorities in 2014 was a reduction on 

the percentage inspected in 2013 in the case of the majority of authorities.  The exceptions 

to this were Kerry, Kilkenny, Leitrim, Mayo, Monaghan, Carlow, Longford, Meath, 

Roscommon, Sligo and Waterford and, in the case of the latter 6 authorities, the percentage 

improvement was between 35% and 86%.  The proportion of buildings inspected ranged 

from 11.02% in Fingal to 58.93% in Carlow and the median rate was 17.71%.  However, on a 

more positive note, only 3 authorities (Fingal, South Dublin and Tipperary) had an inspection 

rate lower than the minimum 12% to 15% requirement specified in the February 2014 Code 

of Practice for Inspecting and Certifying Buildings and Works.  of Practice for Inspecting and 

Certifying Buildings and Works.   

The new per capita planning service cost indicator showed a variation from €12.66 in Cork 

county to €53.19 per head in Roscommon, with a mean of €28.04 from which only 10 

authorities deviated by more than 20%.  As referred to on page 9, the assessment of this 

indicator highlighted that the timing and treatment of the costs associated with the six 

yearly Development Plan preparation can impact on the outcome.  

In 2014 a total of 6,428 planning enforcement cases were referred to local authorities and 

5,539 cases were closed that year (Table 16).  The number of cases being investigated at the 

end of the year was 15,951, with a median per authority of 218.  Carlow, Clare, Dún 

Laoghaire-Rathdown, Galway City, Kerry, Kildare, Kilkenny, Limerick, South Dublin, Wexford 

Page 91



 

 

and Wicklow all succeeded in closing more cases than were referred/initiated during the 

year.  However, it should be noted that when asked to break down the cases closed in 2014 

between those that were dismissed, those that required the authority to undertake 

statutory enforcement proceedings under the Planning and Development Act 2000 and 

those that were resolved to the authority’s satisfaction through negotiations, the 

percentages do not total 100 in the case of 5 of the above-mentioned authorities (Dún 

Laoghaire-Rathdown, Kerry, Kildare, Limerick and Wicklow) together with Cork and Galway 

counties, Laois and Mayo.  When queried, the explanation given for this was that the 

foregoing categories did not include ‘civic cases’, unauthorised developments and instances 

where there was insufficient information to process the case. 

 

Fire Services 

Local authority fire and emergency services respond to fire and non-fire incidents 

throughout the country.  Attendance at the scene is a key performance target for both full 

and part-time services and attendance response times are reported on in Table 18.  Fire 

brigades were called out to attend over 21,600 fires and more than 9,000 other incidents in 

2014 and attended the scene in less than 10 minutes in the case of 58% of these fires and 

52% of the other incidents. The 2014 mean value for attendance at fire scenes within 10 

minutes was 45.02%, an improvement on the 2013 figure of 44.08%.  There is a 

considerable variation in attendance patterns between fulltime and part time fire 

authorities.  Perhaps not surprisingly, the full time fire services in the larger urban areas 

have a quicker response time with Cork city achieving a 10 minute attendance at 89.42% of 

fire incidents.  The percentage of incidents where attendance was greater than 20 minutes 

varied from a low of 1.22% in Cork city to a high of 27.09% in Galway County. 

 

Table 17 contains a new indicator introduced to measure the cost of the fire service per 

head of population served.  This indicator highlights the variation in cost for full-time 

brigades and part-time services.  The highest per capita cost stood at €93.13 in Cork city and 

this service consists of full-time fire fighters only.  It also achieved the best response times 

to incidents.  The costs associated with the part-time services were generally lower, with the 

per capita cost in Kildare and Wexford coming in at less than €30.  However, the figure for 

the part time service in Leitrim is €70.  The median per capita cost for part-time brigades 

was €43.17.  Further exploration of the cost indicators from comparable counties may 

facilitate the sharing of good practice and efficiency measures. 

 

Library Services 

The number of library visits per 1,000 population (Table 19) shows a significant increase of 

14% in 2014 over 2013.  A new indicator of the cost per 1,000 population of operating the 

library service shows a wide variation from a high of €60,158.82 in Cork city, with four 

counties spending less than €20,000 per 1,000 population – the median is €27,089.  While 

Cork city also had the greatest number of library visits per head of population, the cost/visit 

Page 92



 

 18  

ratio ranged from a low of 4.95 in Tipperary to a high of 13.46 in Sligo.  Further analysis by 

comparable authorities may assist in understanding the factors which underlie the 

significant variations in the cost of the service provision. 

 

Economic and Community Development and Job Creation 

The Local Government Reform Act 2014 has expanded the remit of local authorities in the 

area of economic and community development and a number of indicators reflect this 

change, but in some cases there was an issue regarding the availability of 2014 data. 

 

In 2014, the transfer of the functions of the former County and City Enterprise Boards to the 

Local Enterprise Offices (LEOs) was completed.  Table 26 shows the number of jobs created 

with assistance from the LEOs in 2014 amounted to 3,478.5.  Progress was made in 

delivering on the target for participants in the Gateway programme (Table 20), with a 

median average of 64.19% success in the first year of the programme, and some authorities 

(Limerick, Louth, Mayo and Wicklow) even exceeding the target. 

  

Corporate Services 

The Local Government Efficiency Review Group (2010) identified the need to reduce 

employment levels in local authorities in light of reducing resources and the need to deliver 

efficiencies.  There has been a decrease of 2.67% in staff numbers in 2014 (Table 21), 

bringing the total reduction since 2008 from 35,007 to 26,807 whole-time equivalent (WTE) 

employees, or 23.4%.  

 

There has been a reduction in the level of certified sickness absence, with the overall mean 

average decreasing by 8.27%.  When unpaid sick leave is excluded as per the figures in Table 

21, the mean average reduction in certified sick leave is 20.33%.  The percentage of working 

days lost due to certified paid sick leave varied from 2.37% in Wicklow to 4.47% in Galway 

city.  The median was 3.53% and in total only 6 local authorities deviated from this median 

by more than 20%.  

A new indicator has been introduced which focuses on the cost of the ICT service within 

local authorities, but, as it is new, there is no comparator from previous years.  However, 

the inter-authority comparisons indicate significant variation, from less than €2,000 per 

WTE in Cork county to more than €4,000 in Leitrim.  The median expenditure was €2,913.  

Further analysis of comparable authorities may identify scope for learning to increase 

efficiency.   

Another new indicator for 2014 was the number of page visits to the local authority website 

and it transpired that not all local authority websites were accessing a web site analytics 

service last year, so the information was incomplete or absent in respect of  5 authorities.  

Given the scope to improve customer service and efficiency through greater use of the 

internet, it would be desirable that this data is gathered to assess trends in the future. 

Page 93



 

 19  

Financial Performance 

A new set of indicators of the revenue account balances of local authorities, adjusted to 

include the figures relating to the abolished rating town and borough councils (relevant to 

21 of the authorities), provides information at Table 22 on the trends in the balances over 

the five years from 2010 to 2014, a challenging period for local government and the broader 

public service.  The overall revenue account credit balance for the sector is €3,361,659, 

showing a deterioration from 2010 of €30,928,280.  A total of 14 authorities show a surplus 

and 17 are in a deficit situation. The deterioration is significant in the case of a small number 

of authorities and the 5 authorities with the most adverse balances (exceeding €5m) are 

Donegal, Mayo, Sligo, Waterford and Wexford, of which Sligo has the most negative balance 

of -€26m.  While some of these authorities have made progress on arresting the worsening 

situation, a small number continue to be a cause of concern.  In contrast, Dublin City’s 

surplus increased by 71% from 2013 to its 2014 level of €28.35m.  Fingal, South Dublin and 

Cork County also showed a surplus of more than €10m at the end of 2014.  Westmeath 

moved from a deficit of around €1m per annum to a small surplus in 2014 and Clare, 

Kilkenny and Longford all significantly reduced their deficits in 2014. NOAC is undertaking a 

more in-depth analysis of the underlying issues associated with revenue account deficits.  

 

The collection of revenue is an important element in the financing of local authorities and 

collection rates over the period 2010 to 2014 for rates, rents and annuities and housing 

loans are included in Tables 23 to 25.  Collection levels for rates in 2014 varied from a high 

of 92% in Fingal to lows of 56% in Donegal and Louth, with a median level of 72%.  NOAC is 

carrying out a review of rate collection performance to better understand the contributory 

factors.  Median housing rent and annuity collection levels in 2014 amounted to 87%, with 

the highest performance in Laois and Monaghan at 95% and the lowest in South Dublin at 

73%.  Median housing loan collection levels show a deterioration from 80% in 2010 to 65% 

in 2014 and the outliers for this indicator were Fingal at 98% and Kildare and Sligo at 42% 

and 46% respectively.   

  

Page 94



 

 20  

Conclusions and Recommendations 

Conclusions 

The core purpose of the performance indicators is to support local government through 

benchmarking and tracking performance over time to continue to improve the services 

provided to the citizen by local authorities. 

This performance indicator process has delivered useful comparative information for the 

local government service and will be built on over time, including by the addition of further 

indicators as the need arises.   

The indicators will also help to identify areas of activity for more in-depth analysis by NOAC.  

As 2014 was the first year of reporting on performance indicators to NOAC, the process of 

compilation, validation and review was very time-consuming.  Hence the publication of the 

report is at a very late stage of the year.  It is intended that, for the 2015 indicators, the 

process will be streamlined, with the aim of publishing the report at a much earlier date to 

ensure its relevance and provide the opportunity for the early application of any learning.   

NOAC will review with the LGMA all aspects of the process of collecting the data and a 

workshop will be held with the local authority performance indicator co-ordinators prior to 

the issue of the 2015 data request.  Following on from this, more detailed guidance for 

completion of the data returns will be developed for circulation to local authorities. 

The identification of the most appropriate range of indicators is an iterative process.  The 

learning from the indicator process this year will feed into a review to inform any 

amendments which may be necessary for future years.  In addition, the role and priorities of 

local government change over time and the indicators must be dynamic to respond to these 

changes. 

Queries received from local authorities have raised some issues for consideration by NOAC 

in relation to the potential value of continuing to include some of the indicators.  These 

issues will be examined by NOAC for the purposes of the report dealing with 2015 activity.  

There are also some indicators that NOAC has already identified as potential candidates for 

inclusion in the future, some of which may be capable of being collected in respect of 2015.   

 

As a number of reviews of different aspects of local authority activity being undertaken by 

NOAC are progressed, the knowledge gained will be applied to developing indicators that 

are to the greatest extent possible relevant, unambiguous and focussed on qualitative 

outcomes.   

 

Notwithstanding some issues with the consistency and reliability of some of the indicators, 

variations in the 2014 data show differing levels of performance by authorities in a number 

Page 95



 

 21  

of areas.  Many of these have been highlighted in the foregoing commentary.  Where a local 

authority’s performance is significantly below that of other similar profile authorities, it 

should undertake the necessary measures to bring about an improved performance in 2016 

and subsequent years. 

 

Recommendations 

Based on its review of the process at local authority level for the indicators reviewed, NOAC 

recommends that the 7 reviewed indicators should be retained subject to the following – 

o Review whether any material inconsistency arises in the reported cost per capita of 

the planning service, given the practice of meeting the cost of development planning 

from provisions and other non-current funds in some authorities 

o Provide greater clarification of the future procedure for counting or estimating 

library usage, including discounting non-library related use by members of the 

public, better capturing of all library related activities and the extent of online 

activity and capturing usage arising from any future self-service initiatives 

o Review whether a measure of performance for LEOs can be constructed that takes 

account of activities other than those aimed at direct job creation 

o Consider whether the financial balance of the local authority currently expressed as 

a monetary amount should be replaced by a measure that indicates the financial 

health of the authority by relating the surplus or deficit to its financial base. 

 

More generally, NOAC recommends that –  

o Targets be established by local authorities related to the indicators identified by 

NOAC and outturns be reviewed against those targets 

o The targets and indicator outcomes be presented to local authority management 

teams, elected members and  Audit Committees 

o Year-on-year performance based on indicators, by reference to comparable 

authorities and against targets, be reviewed at least once annually by local authority 

management teams, elected members and Audit Committees. 

o Comparable authorities analyse the cost indicators to identify the factors underlying 

significant variations in performance, ensure that value for money is being achieved 

and facilitate the sharing of approaches to efficiency measures. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 96



 

 22  

Section 1: Housing  

Table 1: Total Social Housing Dwellings Provided 01/01/2014 – 31/12/2014 

Authority 

Total Social 
Housing 
Dwellings 
Provided 
1/1/2014 - 
31/12/2014 

Total 
Dwellings 
Provided 

Constructed Purchased 
Provided 
under 
RAS 

Provided 
under 
HAP 

Provided 
under 
SHLI 

                

Carlow County 57 10 7 3 43 N/A 4 

Cavan County 102 5 5 0 97 N/A 0 

Clare County 98 20 12 8 62 N/A 16 

Cork City 195 108 100 8 75 N/A 12 

Cork County 242 7 6 1 77 55 103 

Donegal County 31 4 2 2 21 N/A 6 

Dublin City 485 205 159 46 76 N/A 204 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown  85 19 0 19 55 N/A 11 

Fingal County 100 14 0 14 54 N/A 32 

Galway City 16 0 0 0 7 N/A 9 

Galway County 66 20 2 18 27 N/A 19 

Kerry County 144 11 2 9 98 N/A 35 

Kildare County 103 19 0 19 60 N/A 24 

Kilkenny County 206 8 1 7 59 102 37 

Laois County 34 21 1 20 0 N/A 13 

Leitrim County 4 1 0 1 3 N/A 0 

Limerick City & County 377 94 64 30 59 210 14 

Longford County 13 5 0 5 7 N/A 1 

Louth County 64 0 0 0 0 41 23 

Mayo County 192 3 2 1 144 N/A 45 

Meath County 97 9 0 9 52 N/A 36 

Monaghan County 25 5 0 5 5 15 0 

Offaly County 49 2 0 2 1 N/A 46 

Roscommon County 71 3 0 3 68 N/A 0 

Sligo County 67 5 0 5 59 N/A 3 

South Dublin County 372 16 0 16 211 8 137 

Tipperary County 148 6 0 6 103 N/A 39 

Waterford City & County 77 11 0 11 25 32 9 

Westmeath County 109 21 6 15 36 N/A 52 

Wexford County 119 12 2 10 102 N/A 5 

Wicklow County 72 10 1 9 62 N/A 0 

Totals 3,820 674 372 302 1,748 463 935 

 

Page 97



 

 23  

 

Total Social Housing provided 01/01/2014 to 31/12/2014 

Total Social Housing Dwellings Provided  2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 97 

  Mean 123.23 

Total LA Dwellings Provided 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 10 

  Mean 21.74 

Provided under RAS 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 59 

  Mean 56.39 

Provided under HAP 2014 

N Valid 7 

  Missing 24 

Average Median 0 

  Mean 22.05 

Provided under SHLI 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 14 

  Mean 30.16 

  

Page 98



 

 24  

Table 2: Total Social Housing Dwellings Stock as at 31/12/2014 

Authority 

Total Social 
Housing 
Dwellings 
as at 
31/12/2014 

Directly 
Provided 

Provided 
under 
RAS 

Provided 
under 
HAP 

Provided 
under 
SHLI 

Percentage 
Vacant  at 
31/12/2014 

              

Carlow County 2153 1567 489 N/A 97 1.91 

Cavan County 2530 1983 535 N/A 12 5.85 

Clare County 2860 2313 416 N/A 131 3.11 

Cork City 9766 8770 851 N/A 145 5.9 

Cork County 8794 7175 767 55 797 3.94 

Donegal County 5144 4635 316 N/A 193 3.67 

Dublin City 27366 25444 1205 N/A 717
a
 6.67

c 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown County 4957 4384 407 N/A 166 0.71 

Fingal County 5577 4491 722 N/A 364 1.47 

Galway City 2806 2258 380 N/A 168 2.92 

Galway County 2692 2379 287 N/A 26 7.19 

Kerry County 4843 4038 731 N/A 74 3.44 

Kildare County 4471 3604 653 N/A 214 1.03 

Kilkenny County 2807 2164 493 102 48 1.02 

Laois County 2338 2019 160 N/A 159 0.74 

Leitrim County 1014 940 74 N/A 0
b 

8.72
d 

Limerick City & County 6635 5211 1169 210 45 6.7 

Longford County 2075 1889 170 N/A 16 5.82 

Louth County 4260 3671 171 41 377 1.42 

Mayo County 3124 2044 958 N/A 122 6.85 

Meath County 3645 3100 425 N/A 120 2.1 

Monaghan County 1713 1410 288 15 0 0.5 

Offaly County 2116 1754 176 N/A 186 2.39 

Roscommon County 1772 1348 420 N/A 4 8.75
e 

Sligo County 2482 2096 351 N/A 35 5.06 

South Dublin County 11034 8999 1480 8 547 0.47 

Tipperary County 6306 4733 1268 N/A 305 2.83 

Waterford City & County 6127 4755 1210 32 130 2.59 

Westmeath County 2457 1777 398 N/A 282 0.9 

Wexford County 5047 4207 759 N/A 81 1.02 

Wicklow County 4862 4353 486 N/A 23 1.33 

Totals 153,773 129,511 18,215 463 5,584  

 
 
 
 

Page 99



 

 25  

a
 Dublin City: Includes 323 unsold affordable units: Social RAS and repossessed. 

b 
Leitrim: Call for units under RAS/SHLI issued in 2014 - only resulted in 1 unit being secured under RAS - issues particularly 

in Carrick on Shannon. 
c 

Dublin City: This includes all 1696 void units. 1.19%  vacant in real terms. i.e. 25444 less 1411 unavailable = 24,033 of 
which 285 were void at 31/12/2014. 
d 

Leitrim: Indicator previously excluded units subject to major refurbishment/long term voids. 
e 

Roscommon: The vacant stock includes a number of rural houses which are in isolated locations with no demand 
identified. It is proposed to sell the houses with Department approval. Included is a number of units of Traveller-specific 
accommodation with no demand identified. 

 
 

Total Social Housing Dwellings Stock at 31/12/2014 

Total Dwellings  2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 3,645.00 

  Mean 4,960.42 

Directly Provided 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 3,100.00 

  Mean 4,177.77 

Provided under RAS 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 486.00 

  Mean 587.58 

Provided under HAP 2014 

N Valid 7 

  Missing 24 

Average Median 41.00 

  Mean 66.14 

Provided under SHLI 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 130.00 

  Mean 180.13 

Percentage of Directly Provided Vacant at 31/12/14 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 2.83 

  Mean 3.45 

 

Page 100



 

 26  

Summary Statistics 2010 - 2014 

 

The total number of dwellings in local authority stock* 

  
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

N Valid 34 34 34 33 31 

  Missing 0 0 0 0 0 

Average Median 2,333.00 2,348.00 2,483.50 2,506.00 3,100.00 

  Mean 3,766.80 3,847.30 3,853.10 3,937.82 4,177.77 

 

 

*The comparison of data between 2014 and previous years is calculated by comparing the average 

median and mean of social housing stock that was directly provided by local authorities as at 

31/12/2014 with the total number of dwellings in local authority stock as recorded in ‘Table 31: 

Current Status of Local Authority Housing Stock/Total Number of Dwellings in Local Authority Stock’ 

– Service Indicators in Local Authorities 2010 - 2013. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



 

 27  

Table 3: Average Re-letting Time & Cost; Maintenance Cost by Unit 

Authority 
Re-letting 
Time 
(Weeks) 

Re-let Cost 
Average (€) 

Maintenance 
Cost by Unit 
(€) 

        

Carlow County 24.66 9,821.28 256.40 

Cavan County 38.24 1,266.57 343.14 

Clare County 43.61 9,095.54 551.32 

Cork City 82.54 35,012.51 1,401.45 

Cork County 65.82 17,512.21 1,837.31 

Donegal County 38.02 4,762.10 308.00 

Dublin City 23.35 15,875.17 2,680.49 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown 13.36 4,978.82 1,727.93 

Fingal County 24.48 10,934.88 758.29 

Galway City 36 14,000.00 576.54 

Galway County 51.19  8,033.58 766.15 

Kerry County 48.84 17,888.28 529.91 

Kildare County 14.83 11,530.15 506.92 

Kilkenny County 18.36 9,529.89 946.51 

Laois County 10.17 3,061.11 868.21 

Leitrim County 57.8 8,237.84 1,329.85 

Limerick City & County 67.5 6,653.81 841.28 

Longford County 16.24 4,734.50 586.26 

Louth County 25.83 4,022.83 914.42 

Mayo County 38 7,281.15 384.05 

Meath County 15 19,999.00 801.00 

Monaghan County 19.45 4,395.55 836.76 

Offaly County 37.4 8,375.00 535.00 

Roscommon County 56.39 7,167.18 474.00 

Sligo County 12.55 5,989.15 403.51 

South Dublin County 11.1 12,442.85 1,140.23 

Tipperary County 21.28 5,716.19 478.93 

Waterford City & County 21 12,712.00 477.00 

Westmeath County 18.47 9,887.07 4,075.28 

Wexford County 12.78 2,950.00 955.45 

Wicklow County 20.97 14,016.59 555.19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



 

 28  

 

 

Average Re-letting Time, Cost & Maintenance Cost 

Re-letting Time (Weeks) 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 24.48 

  Mean 31.78 

Re-let Cost Average (€) 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 8,375.00 

  Mean 9,931.70 

Maintenance Cost by Unit (€) 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 758.29 

  Mean 930.54 

 

Summary Statistics 2010 - 2014 

Re-letting Time (Weeks)* 

    2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

N Valid 34 33 34 33 31 

  Missing 0 1 0 0 0 

Average Median 24.33 26.6 23.85 22.20 24.48 

  Mean 25.76 30.41 26.95 24.71 31.78 

 

*The comparison of data between 2014 and 2013 is calculated by comparing the average median 

and mean of the re-letting time (weeks) 2014 with the total of the average time taken (in weeks) 

from the date of vacation and from the works being completed to the date of the first rent debit 

(‘Table 31: Current Status of Local Authority Housing Stock/Total Number of Dwellings in Local 

Authority Stock’ in previous years’ Service Indicator reports) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



 

 29  

Table 4: Private Rented Sector Inspections; Long term Homeless Adults 

Authority 

Total 
Number of 
Registered 
Tenancies 
at end 
2014 

Number of 
Private 
Rented 
Inspections 
Carried Out 

Nos of 
Adults in 
Emergency 
Accomd.  
on 
31/12/14 

% of persons in 
Emergency 
Accommodation  at 

31/12/2014 using 
emergency 
accommodation 
services in excess of 6 
months over the year 

          

Carlow County 3320 328 10 10 

Cavan County 2356 808 0 0 

Clare County 4400 391 19 15.79 

Cork City 15988 1211 173 20.23 

Cork County 16728 802 2 0 

Donegal County 5567 576 21 19.05 

Dublin City 69396 2511 1692a 54.43 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown  14850 683 a  

Fingal County 19652 397 a  

Galway City 12123 138 59 32.2 

Galway County 5944 57 24 45.83 

Kerry County 7156 714 31 35.48 

Kildare County 11452 579 53 52.83 

Kilkenny County 3895 381 42 47.62 

Laois County 3589 162 3 33.33 

Leitrim County 1289 62 0 0 

Limerick City & County 12043 402 245 33.88 

Longford County 2065 173 14 50 

Louth County 5510 23 25 4 

Mayo County 5535 322 0 0 

Meath County 6929 122 35 5.71 

Monaghan County 1583 221 1 0 

Offaly County 3011 50 6 33.33 

Roscommon County 2493 748 0 0 

Sligo County 4984 804 8 75 

South Dublin County 8200 2799 a  

Tipperary County 6663 191 21 52.38 

Waterford City & County 7588 886 70 62.86 

Westmeath County 5841 820 19 5.26 

Wexford County 7894 826 35 22.86 

Wicklow County 6981 366 41 46.34 

Totals 285,025 18,553 2,649  
a 

DCC; manages homelessness responses on behalf of Dublin authorities, so DLR, Fingal and South Dublin are included in 
Dublin City. 

Page 104



 

 30  

 

Private rented sector inspections - Long term Homeless Adults 

Total Number of Registered Tenants 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 5,944.00 

  Mean 9,194.35 

Number of Inspections Carried Out 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 397.00 

  Mean 598.48 

PASS Homeless Adults 2014 

N Valid 28 

  Missing 3 

Average Median 21.00 

  Mean 94.61 

Long-term Homeless as % of Total 2014 

N Valid 28 

  Missing 3 

Average Median 33.33 

  Mean 30.34 

 
 
 

Summary Statistics 2012 - 2014 

  Total Number of Registered Tenancies 

  2012 2013 2014 

Median 4,338.00 5,052.00 5,944.00 

Mean 7,202.64 8,430.41 9,194.35 

  
Number of 
Inspections 
Carried Out 

    

  2012 2013 2014 

Median 437 550 397 

Mean 585.91 642.97 598.48 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 105



 

 31  

Section 2: Roads 

Table 5: Percentage (based on length) of both regional and local roads whose PSCI condition has 

been recorded as at 31/12/2014 

  
Overall 
Percentage 
Regional 

Overall 
Percentage 
Local 

      

Carlow County 44a 86 

Cavan County 100 100 

Clare County 100 23 

Cork City 0a 0 

Cork County 39.37 75.51 

Donegal County 100a 67.71 

Dublin City 12.3 87.04 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown N/A N/A 

Fingal County N/A N/A 

Galway City 0 0 

Galway County 100 100 

Kerry County 75.69 51.28 

Kildare County 12.1 33.79 

Kilkenny County 5 44.5 

Laois County 87 73 

Leitrim County 8 55 

Limerick City & County 31a 87 

Longford County 32.5 11.5 

Louth County 8.82 65.46 

Mayo County 21.07 15.48 

Meath County 0 0 

Monaghan County 100 100 

Offaly County 64 89 

Roscommon County 100 0 

Sligo County 100 100 

South Dublin County N/A N/A 

Tipperary County 68 71 

Waterford City & County 92 85 

Westmeath County 22.32 23.45 

Wexford County 51.8 40.6 

Wicklow County 100 100 

 

Page 106



 

 32  

a 
In a number of local authorities  mechanical surveys were carried out of the road network. This information is available to 

local authorities but not recorded in Map Road.  

 

Summary Statistics for overall PSCI Condition surveyed 

The overall %s (based on length) of the Regional 
roads in their area whose PSCI condition has been 
recorded as at 31/12/2014. 

2014 

N Valid 28 

  Missing 3 

Average Median 57.90 

  Mean 53.83 

The overall %s (based on length) of the Local 
roads in their area whose PSCI condition has been 
recorded as at 31/12/2014. 

2014 

N Valid 28 

  Missing 3 

Average Median 66.36 

  Mean 56.62 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 107



 

 33  

Table 6:  Ratings in Pavement Surface Condition Indexa –Regional as at 31/12/2014 

 
Structural Distress 

Pavement 
Defects 

Surface 
Defects 

Not 
Visible/Minor  

Authority Cat. 1 Cat. 2 Cat. 3 Cat. 4 Cat. 5 Cat. 6 Cat. 7 Cat. 8 Cat. 9 Cat. 
10 

                      

Carlow County 0 0 0 12 4 12 12 46 12 0 

Cavan County 0 0 0 2 8 31 15 15 16 1 

Clare County 0 0 0 2 4 14 28 34 11 7 

Cork City N/A 
 b 

N/A 
  

N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  

Cork County 0.01 0.44 0.75 6 7.68 13.69 18.58 25.6 22.2 5.06 

Donegal County 1.77 0.44 0.41 8.48 14.75 20.36 20.57 16 12.41 4.83 

Dublin City 0 0.48 1.5 4.75 6.8 27.31 0.85 14.88 20.49 22.94 

Dun Laoghaire 
Rathdown 

 N/A
b 

N/A N/A   N/A  N/A  N/A N/A  N/A  N/A   N/A 

Fingal County N/A
b 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Galway City 0 0 0 0 8.9 0 4.3 40.2 16 30 

Galway County 0 0.02 0.41 15.03 9.98 13.18 21.15 20.7 11.8 7.74 

Kerry County 0 1 2 4.8 3.3 10.8 27.3 18.9 27.7 4.3 

Kildare County 2.26 0.75 0.75 5.26 3.38 8.65 16.92 21.43 24.81 15.79 

Kilkenny County 0 0 0 21 15 4 18 40 2 0 

Laois County 0 0 2 9 13 20 15 18 16 6 

Leitrim County 0 0 0 0 74 20 2 3 1 0 

Limerick City & 
County 

0 0 0 0.35 4.16 13.68 21.29 44.73 14.99 0.79 

Longford County 0 0 0 13 11 34 9 11 21 1 

Louth County 0 0 0 4 4 34 24 26 8 0 

Mayo County 0 0 0 0.84 6.3 13.15 2.47 46.18 19.47 11.61 

Meath County N/A
b N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Monaghan County 0 0 0 16 1 2 29 26 24 2 

Offaly County 0 0.02 1.8 12.08 3.48 10.85 11.95 15.31 41.5 3.01 

Roscommon County 0.42 0 1.63 10.88 3.46 7.36 11.9 32.2 19.78 12.38 

Sligo County 1 1 2 3 3 9 14 22 33 12 

South Dublin County N/A
b 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Tipperary County 0 1 1 6 7 13 31 19 18 4 

Waterford City & 
County 

0 0 0 4 5 6 29 28 27 1 

Westmeath County 0 0 0 2 17 25 47 8 2 0 

Wexford County 0 0 2 14 6 9 21 15 21 12 

Wicklow County 0 0 0 0.19 0.93 0.31 31.35 48.92 10.18 8.12 

These comments apply to tables 6-9; 
a
Ref. Appendix page 80 for category clarifications 

b
Cork City, DLR, Fingal, Meath & S Dublin: Surveys only commenced in 2015.   

 
 

Page 108



 

 34  

Ratings in Pavement Surface Condition Index - Regional 

Cat 1 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 0.00 

  Mean 0.21 

Cat 2 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 0.00 

  Mean 0.20 

Cat 3 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 0.00 

  Mean 0.63 

Cat 4 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 5.03 

  Mean 6.79 

Cat 5 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 6.15 

  Mean 9.43 

Cat 6 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 13.08 

  Mean 14.32 

Cat 7 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 18.29 

  Mean 18.56 

Cat 8 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 21.72 

  Mean 25.23 

Page 109



 

 35  

Cat 9 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 17.00 

  Mean 17.44 

Cat 10 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 4.57 

  Mean 6.64 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 110



 

 36  

Table 7: Ratings in Pavement Surface Condition Index - Local Primary as at 31/12/2014 

 
Structural Distress 

Pavement 
Defects 

Surface 
Defects 

Not 
Visible/Minor  

Authority Cat. 1 Cat. 2 Cat. 3 Cat. 4 Cat. 5 Cat. 6 Cat. 7 Cat. 8 Cat. 9 Cat. 10 

                 

Carlow County 0 0 0 2 4 20 41 28 4 0
 

Cavan County 0 0 0 4 12 33 32 12 7 1 

Clare County 0 0 1 4 5 17 29 27 11 6 

Cork City N/A
  

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
  

Cork County 0.11 0.44 1.1 11.23 8.36 15.09 23.2 25.63 13.12 1.72 

Donegal County 0.53 0.77 1.37 7.19 13.14 22.43 22.39 12.52 18.24 1.43
 

Dublin City 0.08 0.48 2.01 9.61 9.75 34.64 3.61 11.2 18.14 10.48 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown  N/A
 

N/A N/A  N/A N/A N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A N/A
 

Fingal County N/A
 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Galway City 0 0 0 0 26 52 12 0 9.3 0 

Galway County 0 0 0.49 6.54 6.88 21.36 19 29.37 15.14 1.16 

Kerry County 0.2 0.7 3.5 9.7 12.1 13.5 28.7 12.5 16 3.1 

Kildare County 2.48 0.83 1.65 9.09 14.05 16.53 18.18 17.36 10.74 9.09 

Kilkenny County 0 0 1 8 20 22 24 14 9 1 

Laois County 0 1 3 13 15 29 19 15 4 1 

Leitrim County 0 0 0 2 7 15 33 30 12 0
 

Limerick City & County 0 0.06 0.18 3.03 6.26 17.22 40.7 23.36 7.68 1.49
 

Longford County 0 0 0 7 11 24 10 19 27 2 

Louth County 0 0 0 5 14 29 39 11 2 0 

Mayo County 2.6 4.45 20.83 0.64 3.1 1.12 4.81 37.64 22.76 2.05 

Meath County N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Monaghan County 0 0 1 8 1 5 28 31 23 4 

Offaly County 0.01 1.28 5.65 33.3 11.17 14.48 11.51 5.71 16.43 0.46 

Roscommon County 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Sligo County 0 0 2 11 10 13 15 14 30 5 

South Dublin County N/A
 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
 

Tipperary County 0 1 3 12 10 17 26 17 12 2 

Waterford City & County 0 0 1 3 4 19 44 21 6 1 

Westmeath County 0 0 4 11 15 34 33 2 2 0 

Wexford County 0 0 4 20 11 13 16 12 15 8 

Wicklow County 0 0.86 1.1 4.67 4.49 6.74 51.13 25.62 4.49 0 

 

 

 

Page 111



 

 37  

Ratings in Pavement Surface Condition Index - Local Primary 

Cat 1 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 0.00 

  Mean 0.23 

Cat 2 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 0.00 

  Mean 0.46 

Cat 3 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 1.05 

  Mean 2.23 

Cat 4 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 7.10 

  Mean 7.88 

Cat 5 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 10.00 

  Mean 9.78 

Cat 6 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 17.11 

  Mean 19.43 

Cat 7 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 23.60 

  Mean 24.01 

Cat 8 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 16.00 

  Mean 17.46 

Page 112



 

 38  

Cat 9 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 11.50 

  Mean 12.16 

Cat 10 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 1.30 

  Mean 2.38 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 113



 

 39  

Table 8: Ratings in Pavement Surface Condition Index - Local Secondary as at 31/12/2014 

 
Structural Distress 

Pavement 
Defects 

Surface 
Defects 

Not 
Visible/Minor  

Authority Cat. 1 Cat. 2 Cat. 3 Cat. 4 Cat. 5 Cat. 6 Cat. 7 Cat. 8 Cat. 9 Cat. 10 

                    

Carlow County 0 0 1 6 16 32 34 10 1 0
 

Cavan County 1 0 1 9 19 33 25 8 3 0 

Clare County 0 1 2 15 11 18 25 23 3 3 

Cork City N/A
  

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
  

Cork County 0.47 1.48 4.49 16.63 10.95 15.48 22.34 17.34 8.64 2.16 

Donegal County 1.82 2.93 2.46 1.26 15.09 23.71 19.75 10.44 11.58 0.95
 

Dublin City 0 1.42 1.04 17.8 8.35 34.74 4.31 11.01 15.86 6.9 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown  N/A
 

N/A  N/A  N.A   N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A N/A  N/A
 

Fingal County N/A
 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Galway City 1.9 0 0.22 0.86 24.48 28.4 34.54 9.2 0.26 0 

Galway County 0.08 0.73 2.2 12.58 15.28 25.51 22.83 16.29 4.27 0.22 

Kerry County 0.4 2.7 4.8 16.6 14.7 13.7 27.5 8.3 9.6 1.7 

Kildare County 0.94 1.18 2.82 11.29 11.53 26.35 13.65 18.35 11.29 2.59 

Kilkenny County 0 2 3 10 17 20 16 12 14 6 

Laois County 0 2 3 13 16 25 21 14 6 0 

Leitrim County 0 0 1 6 21 30 32 8 2 
 

Limerick City & County 0.19 0.14 0.66 4.64 11.21 23.25 39.49 15.45 4.13 0.85
 

Longford County 0 0 0 4 11 22 5 7 51 0 

Louth County 0 1 1 6 21 40 23 8 1 0 

Mayo County 0 2.31 11.46 6.61 3.46 10.11 3.58 51.34 11.13 0 

Meath County N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Monaghan County 0 0 2 14 1 5 28 28 18 4 

Offaly County 0.64 2.02 6.39 34.26 10.29 9.81 9.9 4.17 21.13 1.4 

Roscommon County 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Sligo County 2 1 5 15 15 15 18 11 16 4 

South Dublin County N/A
 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
 

Tipperary County 0 3 8 16 12 18 22 11 8 2 

Waterford City & County 1 0 1 5 8 24 43 15 3 1 

Westmeath County 2 1 2 12 17 38 26 2 0 0 

Wexford County 0 1 8 24 12 11 15 10 14 4 

Wicklow County 0 2.21 9.63 13.28 12.23 11.42 22.51 16.63 12.02 0.08 

 

 

 

Page 114



 

 40  

Ratings in Pavement Surface Condition Index - Local Secondary 

Cat 1 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 0.00 

  Mean 0.48 

Cat 2 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 1.00 

  Mean 1.12 

Cat 3 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 2.10 

  Mean 3.24 

Cat 4 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 11.65 

  Mean 11.19 

Cat 5 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 12.12 

  Mean 12.87 

Cat 6 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 22.63 

  Mean 21.29 

Cat 7 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 22.43 

  Mean 21.28 

Cat 8 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 11.00 

  Mean 13.29 

Page 115



 

 41  

Cat 9 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 8.32 

  Mean 9.61 

Cat 10 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 0.90 

  Mean 1.57 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 116



 

 42  

Table 9: Ratings in Pavement Surface Condition Index - Local Tertiary as at 31/12/2014 

 
Structural Distress 

Pavement 
Defects 

Surface 
Defects 

Not 
Visible/Minor  

Authority Cat. 1 Cat. 2 Cat. 3 Cat. 4 Cat. 5 Cat. 6 Cat. 7 Cat. 8 Cat. 9 Cat. 10 

                      

Carlow County 1 4 6 20 20 22 19 6 1 0
 

Cavan County 3 2 1 9 18 30 27 9 1 0 

Clare County 22 5 7 15 12 8 17 6 6 2 

Cork City N/A
  

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
  

Cork County 5.47 6.43 8.38 16.13 12.59 12.17 18.65 12.15 6.26 1.77 

Donegal County 9.41 8.88 4.21 12.32 10.95 14.47 16.63 9.03 12.57 1.52
g 

Dublin City 0.04 0.86 1.26 12.57 7.13 36.05 3.84 10.18 19.82 8.25 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown  N/A
 

 N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A N/A  N/A
 

Fingal County N/A
 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Galway City 0 0 0.07 0.09 34.7 62 36 2.6 0 0 

Galway County 3.62 4.17 6.95 21.15 17.39 20.02 17.3 6.54 2.53 0.32 

Kerry County 3 3.5 4.5 17.1 13.7 15.8 26.5 7.5 7.9 0.4 

Kildare County 2.56 7.69 10.26 17.95 15.38 7.69 12.82 20.51 2.56 2.56 

Kilkenny County 8 28 7 4 6 3 19 4 20 1 

Laois County 1 3 5 15 17 16 19 9 13 2 

Leitrim County 1 3 4 13 25 26 18 8 2 0
 

Limerick City & County 4.42 2.94 4.02 16.05 18.24 25.25 21.41 6.05 1.63 0
 

Longford County 0 0 0 0 2 22 18 16 42 0 

Louth County 0 5 7 18 24 34 7 4 0 0 

Mayo County 16.32 3.69 7.28 8.53 2.56 5.69 8.92 28.3 5.19 13.52 

Meath County N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Monaghan County 2 2 4 15 1 2 35 23 15 2 

Offaly County 3.57 3.31 11.75 29.43 7.2 7.9 10.57 5.49 18.82 1.95 

Roscommon County 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Sligo County 11 4 8 19 13 11 17 6 10 2 

South Dublin County N/A
 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
 

Tipperary County 4 9 10 24 9 13 14 9 6 3 

Waterford City & County 4 1 2 7 9 17 29 15 12 6 

Westmeath County 2 7 9 19 21 16 24 2 0 0 

Wexford County 7 11 13 25 5 7 12 8 10 2 

Wicklow County 0 13.48 18.48 8.26 3.55 0 27.84 28.39 0 0 

 

 

 

Page 117



 

 43  

Ratings in Pavement Surface Condition Index - Local Tertiary 

Cat 1 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 3.00 

  Mean 4.40 

Cat 2 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 3.85 

  Mean 5.34 

Cat 3 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 6.48 

  Mean 6.16 

Cat 4 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 15.00 

  Mean 13.95 

Cat 5 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 12.30 

  Mean 12.52 

Cat 6 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 15.14 

  Mean 16.69 

Cat 7 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 18.00 

  Mean 18.29 

Cat 8 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 8.00 

  Mean 10.07 

Page 118



 

 44  

Cat 9 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 6.00 

  Mean 8.28 

Cat 10 2014 

N Valid 26 

  Missing 5 

Average Median 1.26 

  Mean 1.93 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 119



 

 45  

Table 10: Percentage of Motor Tax Transactions performed online as at 31/12/2014 

Authority Percentage of Motor Tax Online 

    

Carlow County 43.31 

Cavan County 49.57 

Clare County 51.85 

Cork City N/A 

Cork County 62.96a 

Donegal County 35.8 

Dublin City 71.79b 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown N/Ac 

Fingal County N/Ac 

Galway City N/Ac 

Galway County 52.52 

Kerry County 59.88 

Kildare County 66.73 

Kilkenny County 52.93 

Laois County 42.74 

Leitrim County 44.02 

Limerick City & County 50.46 

Longford County 38.57 

Louth County 47.42 

Mayo County 46.26 

Meath County 66.31 

Monaghan County 39.66 

Offaly County 47.24 

Roscommon County 39.81 

Sligo County 43.65 

South Dublin County N/Ac 

Tipperary County 57.71 

Waterford City & County 55.25 

Westmeath County 41.34 

Wexford County 53.39 

Wicklow County 61.06 

 

 

Page 120



 

 46  

a
 Cork County; Cork County Council administers the motor tax service on behalf of Cork City Council 

b 
Dublin; Dublin City Council administers the motor tax service on behalf of DLR, Fingal & South Dublin County Councils 

c
N/A: Not Applicable as per above notes 

 

Summary Statistics 2010 - 2014 

Percentage of Motor Tax 
Transactions performed online 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

N Valid 29 29 29 29 26 

  Not Applicable 5 5 5 5 5 

Average Median 29.20 33.00 37.38 40.50 50.02 

  Mean 31.20 34.90 38.83 41.93 50.86 

 

 
 
   

Page 121



 

 47  

Section 3: Water 

Table 11: Unaccounted for Water (UFW) as Percentage of Total Volume of Water Supplied under an 
SLA; Percentage Drinking Water supplied under an SLA in Compliance with Statutory Requirements 

Authority 
UFW as % of Total 
Volume Supplied 
(Jan. – June 2015) 

Percentage of Public 
Drinking Water 
Supplies in 
Compliance with 
Statutory 
requirements in 
2013 

Percentage of 
Private Drinking 
Water Supplies in 
Compliance with 
Statutory 
requirements in 
2013 

        

Carlow County 48 99.1 99.6 

Cavan County 33 97.9 97.3 

Clare County 37 99.2 99.2 

Cork City 41 94.5 92.5 

Cork County 57 98.8 92.7 

Donegal County 41 96.7 91.8 

Dublin City 48 99.6 N/A 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown 50 99.7 100 

Fingal County 44 99.7 N/A 

Galway City 56 100 N/A 

Galway County 52 99.5 99 

Kerry County 57 97.8 93.8 

Kildare County 35 99.7 99.2 

Kilkenny County 48 99.6 96.2 

Laois County 36 99.6 97.9 

Leitrim County 55 99.4 99 

Limerick City & County 49 99.8 99.2 

Longford County 44 100 93.4 

Louth County 42 100 99.5 

Mayo County 58 97.4 96.7 

Meath County 43 99.9 95.8 

Monaghan County 32 99.4 98.8 

Offaly County 56 99.4 98 

Roscommon County 68 98.5 96.9 

Sligo County 54 99.6 99.8 

South Dublin County 34 99.7 N/A 

Tipperary County 48 99.4 98.1 

Waterford City & County 52 95.5 93 

Westmeath County 47 99.7 97.9 

Wexford County 41 98.7 95.4 

Wicklow County 37 97.8 93 

Page 122



 

 48  

UFW Percentage of Total Volume of Water Supplied & 
Percentage Drinking Water in Compliance with Statutory 
Requirements 

Unaccounted for water as percentage of 
total volume of water supplied Jan – June 
2015 

 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 48 

  Mean 46.7 

Percentage of Public Drinking Water Supplies 
in Compliance with Statutory requirements 
in 2013 

 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 99.40 

  Mean 98.89 

Percentage of Private Drinking Water 
Supplies in Compliance with Statutory 
requirements in 2013 

 

N Valid 27 

  Missing 4 

Average Median 97.90 

  Mean 96.80 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 123



 

 49  

Section 4: Waste/Environment 

Table 12: Number of Waste Facility Permits/Certificates in effect; Number & Percentage of 
Households with Access to 3 Bin Service 

Authority 

No. of Waste 
Facility 
Permits or 
Certs of 
Registration 
in effect 
31/12/2014 

Households 
with Access 
to a 3 Bin 
Service 

Percentage 
of 
Households 
with Access 
to a 3 Bin 
Service 

        

Carlow County 14 3547 18.32 

Cavan County 24 937 3.64 

Clare County 26 18624 43.79 

Cork City 16 29812 63.28 

Cork County 105 18725 13.33 

Donegal County 83 60 0.1 

Dublin City 24 81567 39.24 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown 8 34537 45.57 

Fingal County 15 72378 77.87 

Galway City 0 21261 76.76 

Galway County 33 6580 10.85 

Kerry County 51 14681 27.65 

Kildare County 23 29344 41.62 

Kilkenny County 28 2695 8.02 

Laois County 26 5972 21.39 

Leitrim County 3 6698 54.78 

Limerick City & County 49 33074 47.64 

Longford County 12 3883 26.95 

Louth County 37 11342 25.84 

Mayo County 49 4650 9.7 

Meath County 41 8027 12.96 

Monaghan County 18 1389 6.53 

Offaly County 15 3240 12.21 

Roscommon County 10 1671 7.08 

Sligo County 8 5397 22.09 

South Dublin County 36 44655 49.68 

Tipperary County 38 16805 28.84 

Waterford City & County 26 25043 59.29 

Westmeath County 24 1355 4.42 

Wexford County 52 6104 11.66 

Wicklow County 30 8088 17 

Totals 924 522,141   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 124



 

 50  

 

Number of Waste Facility Permits/Certificates in effect & 
Number/ Percentage of Households with Access to a 3 Bin 
Service 

Waste Facility Permits/Certificates in effect 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 26 

  Mean 29.81 

Households with Access to a 3 Bin Service 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 8,027.00 

  Mean 16,843.26 

Percentage of Households with Access to a 3 
Bin Service 

2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 22.09 

  Mean 28.65 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 125



 

 51  

Table 13: Waste Complaints Referred to EPA Office of Environmental Enforcement because problem 
persisted after investigation by LA;  Percentage of Other Environmental Pollution Complaints Closed 
in 2014 

 

Authority 

Waste 
Complaints 
Referred to 
the OEE in 
2014 

% Litter 
Complaint 
Cases 
Closed 

% Air 
Complaint 
Cases Closed 

% Noise 
Complaint 
Cases Closed 

% Water 
Complaint 
Cases Closed 

            

Carlow County 7 93.15 100 100 100 

Cavan County 0 98.21 100 100 97 

Clare County 0 100 100 100 73.45 

Cork City 0 19.6 100 89.47 85.71 

Cork County 0 93.46 59.78 78.79 66.16 

Donegal County 4 95.56 90.91 95.45 65.88 

Dublin City   100 94.83 89.5 100 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown 0 100 100 96.43 98.78 

Fingal County 0 91.9 4.73 5.2 85.71 

Galway City 3 86.99 88.37 97.67 100 

Galway County 2 87.7 87.72 100 85.71 

Kerry County 1 95.68 72.46 28 70.14 

Kildare County 0 88.5 100 93.33 66.94 

Kilkenny County 0 95.5 94.87 66.67 87.5 

Laois County 1 95.68 85.71 66.67 82.46 

Leitrim County 0 81.82 40 80 36.36 

Limerick City & County 1 92.01 97.5 89.11 100 

Longford County 0 97.94 100 100 42.86 

Louth County 0 81.49 100 100 96.3 

Mayo County 0 84.2 81.63 100 78.67 

Meath County 63 90.92 66.18 70.59 69.72 

Monaghan County 1 100 100 N/A  71.77 

Offaly County 0 96.81 37.5 42.31 25.58 

Roscommon County 0 91.38 77.27 42.86 46.67 

Sligo County 1 99.66 64.29 100 86.61 

South Dublin County 5 87.29 96.12 96.21 100 

Tipperary County 18 83.77 71.26 74.19 70.31 

Waterford City & County 3 100 100 100 66.67 

Westmeath County 0 94.69 81.58 103.85a 60 

Wexford County 1 85.71 48.28 56.67 69.74 

Wicklow County 2 75.68 80.74 60 78.57 

Totals 113         

 
 
 
 
 
a
Westmeath; Contrary to the issued guidelines, the cases closed figure includes cases carried over from 2013 

Page 126



 

 52  

 
 

Waste Complaints Lodged with EPA Office of Environmental 
Enforcement because problem persisted after investigation by 
LA; Percentage of Other Environmental Pollution Complaints 
Closed in 2014 

Persistent Waste Complaints 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 0.50 

  Mean 3.77 

Complaint Cases Closed % (Litter) 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 93.15 

  Mean 89.85 

Complaint Cases Closed % (Air) 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 88.37 

  Mean 81.35 

Complaint Cases Closed% (Noise) 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 91.42 

  Mean 80.77 

Complaint Cases Closed % (Water) 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 78.57 

  Mean 76.30 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 127



 

 53  

Table 14: Percentage Area within the Five Levels of Litter Pollution 

Authority 
Unpolluted 
or litter 
free 

Slightly 
polluted 

Moderately 
polluted 

Significantly 
polluted 

Grossly 
polluted 

            

Carlow County 2 97 1 0 0 

Cavan County 2 90 5 3 0 

Clare County 10 70 16 2 2 

Cork City 2 81 16 1 0 

Cork County 0a 94 6 0 0 

Donegal County 9 79 12 0 0 

Dublin City 14 48 29 8 1 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown 43 43 12 2 0 

Fingal County 7 64 27 2 0 

Galway City 0 58 36 6 0 

Galway County 12 52 24 11 1 

Kerry County 19 66 15 0 0 

Kildare County 25 48 23 4  0 

Kilkenny County 4 63 31 2 0 

Laois County 10 87 3 0 0 

Leitrim County N/A  N/A    N/A  N/A   N/A   

Limerick City & County  N/A  N/A  N/A   N/A    N/A  

Longford County 21 61 13 5 0 

Louth County 4 56 36 4 0 

Mayo County 19 55 25 1 0 

Meath County 1 73 24 1 1 

Monaghan County 1 81 18 0 0 

Offaly County 13 70 16 1 0 

Roscommon County 12 79 9 0 0 

Sligo County 12 50 36 1 1 

South Dublin County  N/A   N/A  N/A   N/A   N/A   

Tipperary County 14 74 10 1 1 

Waterford City & County 5 75 19 1 0 

Westmeath County 1 87 12 0 0 

Wexford County 37 51 12 0 0 

Wicklow County 8 70 21 1 0 

 

a 
Cork County: Applies to West Cork monitoring only for all five levels 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



 

 54  

Percentage Area Within the Five Levels of Litter Pollution 

Unpolluted or Litter Free 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

N Valid 32 32 32 33 28 

  Missing 2 2 2 0 3 

Average Median 0.5 9 8 11 9.50 

  Mean 3.77 11.3 10.3 10.84 10.93 

Slightly Polluted  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

N Valid 32 32 32 33 28 

  Missing 2 2 2 0 3 

Average Median 65 67.5 61 63 70 

  Mean 62.6 63.8 62.41 61.64 68.64 

Moderately Polluted  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

N Valid 32 32 32 33 28 

  Missing 2 2 2 0 3 

Average Median 20.5 21 23 21 16 

  Mean 22.8 23.2 22.88 22.88 18.11 

Significantly Polluted  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

N Valid 32 32 32 33 28 

  Missing 2 2 2 0 3 

Average Median 2 1 3 2 1 

  Mean 3.1 2.3 3.66 3.58 2.04 

Grossly Polluted  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

N Valid 32 32 32 33 28 

  Missing 2 2 2 0 3 

Average Median 0 0 1.5 0 0 

  Mean 0.4 0.4 0.41 0.48 0.25 

 

 

Summary Statistics 2010 - 2014 

  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Unpolluted or Litter Free 11.30 10.30 10.84 11.42 10.93 

Slightly Polluted  62.60 63.80 62.41 61.64 68.64 

Moderately Polluted  22.80 23.20 22.88 22.88 18.11 

Significantly Polluted  3.10 2.30 3.66 3.58 2.04 

Grossly Polluted  0.40 0.40 0.41 0.48 0.25 

 

 

 

 

Page 129



 

 55  

Section 5: Planning 

Table 15: New Building Inspections; Referrals to An Bord Pleanála; Cost per Capita of the Planning 

Service 

 
 
Authority 
 
 
 

New 
Buildings 
Inspected as 
percentage 
of new 
buildings 
notified 

Number of LA 
planning decisions  
subject of an appeal 
to ABP and  
determined by the 
Board  in 2014 

% of the 
determinations that 
confirmed with or 
without variation the 
decision made by the 
LA 

 
Cost per Capita of the 
Planning Service (€) 

          

Carlow County 58.93 12 66.67 21.55 

Cavan County 16.34 4 25 16.02 

Clare County 12.94 25 44 34.53 

Cork City 32.62 24 70.83 32.37 

Cork County 13.66 92 59.78 12.66 

Donegal County 17.71 29 65.52 26.52 

Dublin City 17.86 208 76.92 24.27 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown 23.28 40 60 35.55 

Fingal County 11.02 75 74.67 36.10 

Galway City 22.22 37 72.97 36.69 

Galway County 27.86 38 71.05 21.22 

Kerry County 57.88 43 46.51 19.67 

Kildare County 12.02 74 78.38 26.97 

Kilkenny County 16.36 12 75 24.45 

Laois County 15.79 7 85.71 21.25 

Leitrim County 16.28 5 60 39.44 

Limerick City & County  12.89 53 71.7 28.94 

Longford County 28.33 7 42.86 37.83 

Louth County 18.8 30 86.67 25.86 

Mayo County 13.89 18 83.33 22.88 

Meath County 39.56 31 61.29 22.09 

Monaghan County 19.28 8 75 26.17 

Offaly County 36.89 12 33.33 29.55 

Roscommon County 22.95 8 75 53.19 

Sligo County 18.54 9 66.67 34.85 

South Dublin County 11.52 47 74.47 23.83 

Tipperary County 11.69 35 74.29 29.43 

Waterford City & County 27.19 24 79.17 16.81 

Westmeath County 12.02 11 72.73 32.46 

Wexford County 16.92 24 62.5 26.97 

Wicklow County 12.85 53 73.58 29.26 

Page 130



 

 56  

Summary Statistics for Table 15 for 2014 

Buildings Inspected as % of new buildings 
notified 

2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 17.71 

  Mean 21.81 

 Number of LA planning decisions  subject of an 
appeal to ABP that were determined by the 
Board  in 2014 

2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 35.32 

  Mean 25.00 

% of the determinations that confirmed with or 
without variation the decision made by the LA 

2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 71.70 

  Mean 66.63 

Cost per Capita of the Planning Service 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median €26.97 

  Mean €28.04 

 

Summary Statistics 2010 - 2014 

Buildings Inspected as % of New Buildings Notified* 

  
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

N Valid 34 34 34 33 31 

 
Missing 0 0 0 0 0 

Average Median 19.90 19.36 19.19 19.86 17.71 

 
Mean 24.80 22.00 22.60 22.51 21.81 

 

*The comparison of data between 2014 and previous years is calculated by comparing the average 
median and mean of the buildings inspected as a percentage of new buildings notified in 2014 with 
the buildings inspected as a percentage of new buildings notified to the local authority as recorded 
in Table 51 - Buildings inspected as a percentage of new buildings notified to the local authority 
(Service Indicators in Local Authorities 2010 -2013) 

Page 131



 

 57  

Table 16: Performance of Enforcement within local authorities. 

Authority 

Total number of 
planning 
enforcement cases 
referred/initiated 
1/1/2014 to 
31/12/2014 

Total number 
of planning 
cases being 
investigated 
as at 
31/12/2014 

Total 
No. of 
cases 
closed 
during 
2014 

% of the 
closed 
cases  that 
were 
dismissed 

% of closed 
cases 
resolved to 
the LA’s 
satisfaction  

% of closed 
cases due to 
enforcement 
proceedings 

            

Carlow County 7 126 89 47.19 32.58 20.22 

Cavan County 57 39 28 0 78.57 21.43 

Clare County 231 829 311 20.58 42.12 37.3 

Cork City 66 89 52 30.77 5.77 63.46 

Cork County 377 1040 343 0 4.37 89.5 

Donegal County 186 2006 131 56.49 11.45 32.06 

Dublin City 943 1822 739 59.81 31.12 9.07 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown 215 172 228 0 18.86 50 

Fingal County 195 80 115 4.35 0 95.65 

Galway City 450 35 453 22.96 0 77.04 

Galway County 269 1269 179 63.69 22.35 13.97 

Kerry County 228 655 235 5.53 48.51 67.66 

Kildare County 257 1500 262 35.88 25.57 8.02 

Kilkenny County 104 363 119 39.5 48.74 11.76 

Laois County 101 218 98 6.12 2.04 37.76 

Leitrim County 31 19 12 66.67 25 8.33 

Limerick City & County 422 1110 451 0.22 33.92 25.06 

Longford County 34 52 5 20 60 20 

Louth County 199 288 120 0 6.67 93.33 

Mayo County 152 115 100 47 53 68 

Meath County 404 937 350 36.57 38.29 25.14 

Monaghan County 135 211 69 37.68 8.7 53.62 

Offaly County 52 25 27 22.22 0 77.78 

Roscommon County 92 57 35 54.29 11.43 34.29 

Sligo County 216 671 197 25.38 15.74 58.88 

South Dublin County 168 324 172 0 50 50 

Tipperary County 184 149 35 65.71 34.29 0 

Waterford City & County 202 100 102 10.78 76.47 12.75 

Westmeath County 63 122 37 40.54 0 59.46 

Wexford County 161 692 201 0.5 64.68 34.83 

Wicklow County 227 836 244 2.05 16.8 56.15 

Totals 6,428 15,951 5,539    

For a number of local authorities the cumulative total of the % of the closed cases that were dismissed, the % 

of cases closed as resolved to the LA’s satisfaction and the % of closed cases due to enforcement proceedings 

are not equal to 100%. This is due to issues around the scope of the definition of the classification of cases 

closed.  

Page 132



 

 58  

Summary Statistics  

Total number of planning enforcement cases 
referred/initiated 1/1/2014 to 31/12/2014 

2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 186.00 

  Mean 207.35 

Total number of planning cases being investigated 
as at 31/12/2014 

2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 218.00 

  Mean 514.55 

Total number of cases closed during 2014 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 120.00 

  Mean 178.68 

% of the closed cases  that were dismissed 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 22.96 

  Mean 26.53 

% of closed cases resolved to the LAs satisfaction  2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 25.00 

  Mean 27.97 

% closed cases due to enforcement proceedings 2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 37.30 

  Mean 42.34 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133



 

 59  

Section 6: Fire 

Table 17: Cost per Capita of the Fire Service & Service Mobilisation 

Authority 
Cost per 
Capita (€)a 

Average Time to Mobilise 
Fire Brigade (Fire in Minutes) 

Average Time to Mobilise 
Fire Brigade (Non-fire in 
Minutes) 

Full-Time 
Station 

Part-time 
Station  

Full-Time 
Station 

Part-time 
Station 

            

Carlow County 43.17 N/A 6.18 N/A 6.78 

Cavan County 53.47 N/A 5.17 N/A 6.25 

Clare County 44.13 N/A 5.55 N/A 5.65 

Cork City 93.13 1.71 N/A 1.76 N/A 

Cork County 42.23 N/A 5.44 N/A 5.47 

Donegal County 40.97 N/A 6.05 N/A 5.9 

Dublin City 74.13 1.41 6.24 1.48 6.42 

Dun Laoghaire 
Rathdown 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Fingal County N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Galway City N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Galway County  44.15 2.58 5 2.33 4.65 

Kerry County 46.90 N/A 6.2 N/A 6.12 

Kildare County 28.25 N/A 5.41 N/A 5.46 

Kilkenny County 51.40 N/A 6.88 N/A 6.55 

Laois County 50.70 N/A 5.33 N/A 5.33 

Leitrim County 70.00 N/A 4.92 N/A 4.7 

Limerick City & County 75.72 1.28 5.28 1.41 6.18 

Longford County 49.01 N/A 5.3 N/A 5.31 

Louth County 50.90 2.21 3.8 2.05 2.91 

Mayo County 38.85 N/A 6 N/A 5.93 

Meath County 30.40 N/A 5.2 N/A 5.31 

Monaghan County 41.58 N/A 6.27 N/A 6 

Offaly County 38.30 N/A 5.07 N/A 5.42 

Roscommon County 58.60 N/A 6.18 N/A 6.24 

Sligo County 58.41 N/A 4.25 N/A 4.32 

South Dublin County N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Tipperary County 46.48 N/A 6 N/A 6.32 

Waterford City & 
County 

59.26 1.6 5.83 1.81 5.67 

Westmeath County 32.85 N/A 6.2 N/A 7.23 

Wexford County 29.00 N/A 6.87 N/A 7.72 

Wicklow County 41.00 N/A 5.5 N/A 6.04 

 
a 

The per capita cost is based on the population to which the fire authority provides a first response 

 
 
 
 

Page 134



 

 60  

Cost per Capita of the Fire Service (€) 

 
  

Full-Time 
Station 

Full & 
Part-Time 
Station 

Part-Time 
Station 

N Valid 1 5 21 

  
    

Average Median 93.13 59.26 43.17 

  Mean 93.13 60.83 44.56 

 
 

Average time to Mobilise Fire Brigade (Fire in Minutes) 

Full-Time Station 2014 Part-time Station 2014 

N Valid 6 N Valid 26 

   
 

  
  

Average Median 1.66 Average Median 5.53 

  Mean 1.8   Mean 5.62 

Average time to Mobilise Fire Brigade (Non-Fire in Minutes) 

Full-Time Station 2014 Part-time Station 2014 

N Valid 6 N Valid 26 

  
  

  
  

Average Median 1.79 Average Median 5.92 

  Mean 1.81   Mean 5.76 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  

Page 135



 

 61  

Table 18: Mobilisation Times (%) Attendances at Scenes of Fire & non-Fire Cases 

Authority 
  

Percentage 
of Fire Cases 
within 10 
Minutes 

Percentage 
of Fire Cases 
between 10 
and 20 
Minutes 

Percentage 
of Fire Cases 
after 20 
Minutes 

Percentage 
of Non-Fire 
Cases within 
10 Minutes 

Percentage 
of Non-Fire 
Cases 
between 10 
and 20 
Minutes 

Percentage 
of Non-Fire 
Cases after 
20 Minutes 

             

Carlow County 44.91 44.53 10.57 34.21 52.63 13.16 

Cavan County 32.54 50.3 17.16 36.02 40.76 23.22 

Clare County 44.7 33.11 22.19 28.47 51.04 20.49 

Cork City 89.42 9.36 1.22 86.6 11.86 1.55 

Cork County 32.77 44.92 22.32 32.93 51.92 15.16 

Donegal County 30.7 53.24 16.07 36.23 54.34 9.43 

Dublin City 77.92 19.85 2.23 75.84 20.01 4.15 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Fingal County N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Galway City N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Galway County 44.35 28.56 27.09 56.26 29.22 14.52 

Kerry County 31.6 50.56 17.84 31.94 51.33 16.73 

Kildare County 23.55 65.16 11.29 26.03 63.17 10.79 

Kilkenny County 23.6 56.4 20 21.5 51.4 27.1 

Laois County 38.14 51.69 10.17 30.41 56.68 12.9 

Leitrim County 46.94 46.94 6.12
 

50 36.51 13.49
a 

Limerick City & County 73.12 19.64 7.24 58.75 30.67 10.58 

Longford County 46.94 46.94 6.12 38.27 51.85 9.88 

Louth County 70.99 25.38 3.63 58.53 35.48 5.99 

Mayo County 30.76 44.43 24.81 38.49 53.56 7.95 

Meath County 38.92 48.89 12.18 22.54 59.68 17.78 

Monaghan County 33.69 57.22 9.09 15.2 72 12.8 

Offaly County 56.61 36.56 6.83 42.71 50 7.29 

Roscommon County 33.33 54.94 11.73 36.54 51.92 11.54 

Sligo County 48.65 38.57 12.78 35.37 54.88 9.76 

South Dublin County N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Tipperary County 45.64 43.29 11.07 27.22 53.87 18.91 

Waterford City & County 68.67 25.17 6.17 58.42 30.36 11.22 

Westmeath County 31.73 57.99 10.28 18.75 50 31.25 

Wexford County 36.16 40.75 23.09 16 50 34 

Wicklow County 39.08 50.85 10.07 25.71 61.14 13.14 

 

Page 136



 

 62  

 

Fire & Non-fire Cases Mobilisation Times (%) 

Percentage of Fire Cases within 10 Minutes 2014 

N Valid 27 

  Missing 4 

Average Median 39.08 

  Mean 45.02 

Percentage of Fire Cases between 10 and 20 
Minutes 

2014 

N Valid 27 

  Missing 4 

Average Median 44.91 

  Mean 42.42 

Percentage of Fire Cases after 20 Minutes 2014 

N Valid 27 

  Missing 4 

Average Median 11.07 

  Mean 12.57 

Percentage of Non-Fire Cases within 10 Minutes 2014 

N Valid 27 

  Missing 4 

Average Median 35.37 

  Mean 38.48 

Percentage of Non-Fire Cases between 10 and 20 
Minutes 

2014 

N Valid 27 

  Missing 4 

Average Median 51.40 

  Mean 47.27 

Percentage of Non-Fire Cases after 20 Minutes 2014 

N Valid 27 

  Missing 4 

Average Median 12.90 

  Mean 14.25 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



 

 63  

Summary of Statistics 2010-2014 Based on Mean (average) 

  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

% of Fire Cases 
within 10 Minutes 

44.97 45.96 45.51 44.08 45.02 

% of Fire Cases 
between 10 and 20 
Minutes 

39.30 40.09 42.72 42.36 42.42 

% of Fire Cases after 
20 Minutes 

15.70 13.93 11.77 13.49 12.57 

% of Non-fire Cases 
within 10 Minutes 

40.60 39.70 39.30 37.45 38.48 

% of Non-fire Cases 
between 10 and 20 
Minutes 

45.70 46.50 47.40 47.38 47.27 

% of Non-fire Cases 
after 20 Minutes 

13.70 13.80 13.20 15.37 14.25 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 138



 

 64  

Section 7: Library 

Table 19: Library Visits; Cost of Operating a Library Service 

 

Authority 
Visits per 1,000 
Population 

Cost per 1,000 
Population (€) 

      

Carlow County 3279.57 27,182.01 

Cavan County 3298.03 24,271.05 

Clare County 3932.3 35,067.39 

Cork City 6214.88 60,158.82 

Cork County 4031.25 25,929.34 

Donegal County 2109.94 21,825.38 

Dublin City 5232.44 42,781.59 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown 2821.32a 33,020.61 

Fingal County 4391.57 44,424.50 

Galway City N/A N/A 

Galway County 2719.54 18,911.90 

Kerry County 3622.63 25,475.24 

Kildare County 3542.36 28,056.57 

Kilkenny County 3298.61 26,610.06 

Laois County 3652.6 23,952.52 

Leitrim County 6206.37b 43,113.59 

Limerick City & County 3552.1 26,995.42 

Longford County 4565.38 41,100.13 

Louth County 2363.77 23,344.87 

Mayo County  2430.38 17,299.71 

Meath County 3673.58 19,177.93 

Monaghan County 4829.26 34,615.74 

Offaly County 3357.04 27,660.63 

Roscommon County 3304.46 22,086.68 

Sligo County 2327.47 31,317.89 

South Dublin County 4572.69 34,162.72 

Tipperary County 3779.43 18,721.64 

Waterford City & County 4396.45 35,629.67 

Westmeath County 3603.94 27,892.26 

Wexford County 4833.82 26,453.27 

Wicklow County 3283.23 20,787.80 

 
 
a 

DLR: Blackrock Library reopened 16/06/14; footfall multiplied by 34 weeks only. Dun Laoghaire Library closed 12/9/14; no 
count included in 2014 returns. 
b 

Leitrim: Count in October 2014 related to 5 full time libraries only and did not include 4 part-time libraries - these will be 
included for 2015. 

 
 
 

Page 139



 

 65  

  
  

Cost per 1,000 
Population (€) 

N Valid 30 

  Not Applicable 1 

Average Median 27,088.72 

  Mean 29,600.90 

 
 

Summary Statistics 2010 - 2014 

Number of visits 
to full time 
libraries per 1,000 
population 

 
2010 

 
2011 

 
2012 

 
2013 

 
2014 

N Valid 32 32 32 28 30 

  Missing 2 2 2 3 1 

Average Median 3,198.44 3,179.67 3,119.62 3176.65 3,622.63 

  Mean 3,482.00 3,431.20 3,405.76 3811.40 3,820.55 

 
 
 
  

Page 140



 

 66  

Section 8: Youth 

Table 20: Youth and Community Participation 

Authority 

Percentage of local 
schools and youth clubs 
involved in the local 
Youth Council/ 
Comhairle na n-Óg 
scheme 

Number of 
Gateway 
participants as a 
Percentage of 
allocated 
placements to 
the LA 

Number of 
nominees to 
LCDC 
membership 
via the PPN 
structures 
from the most 
marginalised 
SICAP groups 

Number 
progressing to 
FT, PT or self-
employment 
within 6 
months of 
receipt of a 
Goal 3 
employment 
support   

          

Carlow County 59.09 80.00 0 158 

Cavan County 7.63 49.09 0 229 

Clare County 66.67 20.00 0 240 

Cork City 42.86  85.45 0 251 

Cork County 43.24 64.19 0 426 

Donegal County 99.09 35.00 3a 357 

Dublin City 37.19 12.20 0 0a 

Dun Laoghaire 
Rathdown 

82.50 30.91 0 339 

Fingal County 53.57 64.65 0 458 

Galway City 100.00 70.91 1 252 

Galway County 57.41 76.25 0 973 

Kerry County 67.74 43.75 0 350 

Kildare County 77.78 33.64 0 282 

Kilkenny County 36.36 61.25 0 110 

Laois County 51.22 34.55 0 40 

Leitrim County 100.00 89.09 2 N/A 

Limerick City & County 21.57 107.27 3 407 

Longford County 100.00 3.64 1 75 

Louth County 66.67 101.25 0 N/A 

Mayo County 96.55 108.75 4 N/A 

Meath County 88.46 88.18 0 0 

Monaghan County 76.19 72.73 2 0 

Offaly County 92.86 60.00 2 0 

Roscommon County 48.44 100.00 4 87 

Sligo County 36.36 60.00 2 146 

South Dublin County 36.61 51.16 2 339 

Tipperary County 62.16 87.50 2 87b 

Waterford City & 
County 

81.56 16.30 0 150 

Westmeath County 38.46 100.00 2 223 

Wexford County 72.97  40 0 318 

Wicklow County 21.10 102.50 1 112 

Page 141



 

 67  

  

PPN structures were not established in a significant number of local authorities by 31/12/2014. Therefore no data is 
available in most cases.  
a 

Dublin: Goal 3 support initiative is not administered by Dublin City Council 
b 

Tipperary: In 2014 Tipperary Co. Co. didn’t have responsibility for the Community Development Programme, it was been 
managed by Pobal and rolled out by the Local Development Companies. 

 
 

Summary Statistics 2010 - 2014 

Percentage of local 
schools and youth 
clubs involved in the 
local Youth Council/ 
Comhairle na n-Óg 
scheme 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

N Valid 34 34 34 34 30 

  Missing 0 0 0 0 1 

Average Median 72.7 70.7 57.74 60 62.16 

  Mean 66.3 66.1 62.08 61.23 62.01 

 

Number of Gateway participants as 

a Percentage of allocated 

placements to the Local Authority 

N Valid 31 

  
Not 

Applicable 
0 

Average  Median 64.19 

  Mean 62.91 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 142



 

 68  

Section 9: Corporate  

Table 21: Corporate Performance Indicators: 

Authority 
 
 

Total 
Number of 
Whole 
Time 
Equivalent 
(WTE) Staff 
in LA at 
31/12/2014 

Percentage 
of paid 
working 
days lost to 
medically 
certified 
sickness 
absence 

Percentage 
of paid 
working days 
lost to self-
certified 
sickness 
absence 

Total Number 
of Page Visits 
to the LA 
Website 

Overall cost 
of ICT 
provision 
per WTE (€) 

            

Carlow County 264.86 3.92 0.38 73,000 3,828.00 

Cavan County 360.55 2.96 0.18 346,731 2,660.53 

Clare County 712.81 2.98 0.28 1,449,000 2855.68 

Cork City 1,210.06 3.30 0.47 3,330,926 2,006.00 

Cork County 1,947.31 4.03 0.45 1,074,320 1,941.78 

Donegal County 832.33 3.55 0.36 662,228 2,677.59 

Dublin City 5,445.70 3.10 0.57 6,217,659 2,004.28 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown 951.00 3.67 0.41 3,376,564 2,930.00 

Fingal County 1,250.66 3.62 0.34 4,084,084 2,832.80 

Galway City 410.10 4.47 0.34 631,242 3,348.11 

Galway County 752.08 3.45 0.34 1,215,021 2,632.18 

Kerry County 1,050.34 2.92 0.29 424,306 2,274.00 

Kildare County 793.70 3.58 0.30 2,025,763 2,443.00 

Kilkenny County 486.86 2.76 0.37 2,024,488 3,423.81 

Laois County 347.57 3.83 0.35 483,393 2,975.00 

Leitrim County 258.70 4.06 0.33 333,958 4,342.31 

Limerick City & County 1,008.14 3.19 0.34 2,350,583 3,078.06 

Longford County 272.85 3.54 0.33 405,001 2,684.41 

Louth County 606.05 3.71 0.52 N/A 2,495.00 

Mayo County 927.01 3.09 0.24 1,679,000 2,648.34 

Meath County 621.98 3.72 0.37 1,793,412 3,477.11 

Monaghan County 362.74 3.53 0.15 398,227 3,639.71 

Offaly County 374.79 3.12 0.30 774,354 3,026.00 

Roscommon County 407.89 2.97 0.28 135,000 3,037.00 

Sligo County 414.44 3.55 0.25 244,291 2,913.00 

South Dublin County 1,055.69 3.73 0.45 5,066,374 3,613.85 

Tipperary County 1,002.33 3.73 0.30 914,200 2,533.00 

Waterford City & County 773.13 2.77 0.41 1,171,104 3,424.00 

Westmeath County 480.54 2.46 0.34 667,790 2,654.00 

Wexford County 746.00 2.84 0.35 1,818,084 3,148.00 

Wicklow County 678.65 2.37 0.30 787,662a 3,341.00 

Totals 26,806.86   45,957,765  

 
a 

Wicklow: On site web analytics for rebuilt site www.wicklow.ie from April 14 pro rata for full year. 

Page 143



 

 69  

 

Summary Statistics for Whole Time Equivalent Numbers 

Total Number of WTE Staff in LA 
  

2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 712.81 

  Mean 864.74 

 
 

Summary Sick-Leave Statistics 2010 - 2014 

Percentage of paid working 
days lost to sickness absence 
through medically certified 
leave 

 
 
2010 

 
 
2011 

 
 
2012 

 
 
2013 

 
 
2014 

N Valid 34 34 34 34 31 

  Missing 0 0 0 0 0 

Average Median 4.46 4.44 4.26 4.15 3.53 

  Mean 4.41 4.55 4.32 4.23 3.37 

Percentage of paid working 
days lost to sickness absence 
through self-certified leave 

 
 
 
2010 

 
 
 
2011 

 
 
 
2012 

 
 
 
2013 

 
 
 
2014 

N Valid 34 34 34 34 31 

  Missing 0 0 0 0 0 

Average Median 0.61 0.65 0.54 0.36 0.34 

  Mean 0.65 0.67 0.58 0.38 0.35 

 
 

Summary Statistics for Website Visits 2014 

Total Number of Page Visits 
to the LA website 

2014 

N Valid 30 

  Missing 1 

Average Median 994,260 

  Mean 1,531,926 

Overall cost of ICT provision 
per WTE (€) 

2014 

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 2,913 

  Mean 2,932 

 

Page 144



 

 70  

Section 10: Finance 

Table 22: Five Year summary of Revenue Account Balances 

Authority 
Revenue 
Balance 
2010 (€) 

Revenue 
Balance 2011 
(€) 

Revenue 
Balance 2012 
(€) 

Revenue 
Balance 2013 
(€) 

Revenue 
Balance 2014 
(€) 

            

Carlow County -16,164 81,605 54,410 100,223 366,510 

Cavan County 1,915,467 1,916,065 1,917,053 1,742,633 1,742,757 

Clare County -834,554 -1,031,196 -1,390,003 -1,411,673 -800,990 

Cork City 400,584 458,945 549,743 734,369 772,919 

Cork County 20,564,757 21,014,047 16,278,256 11,277,149 10,601,829 

Donegal County -11,616,173 -10,660,644 -15,581,989 -15,752,132 -14,966,588 

Dublin City 15,384,124 20,113,211 16,186,509 16,576,645 28,354,582 

Dun Laoghaire Rathdown 9,109,484 9,550,465 9,601,934 9,648,543 9,699,927 

Fingal County 17,650,810 17,673,622 17,476,011 15,947,275 15,967,583 

Galway City -67,743 44,603 61,283 192,170 254,693 

Galway County -1,372,635 -1,390,913 -1,884,518 -1,898,994 -1,891,838 

Kerry County 4,659,570 5,418,545 5,847,957 6,093,078 6,184,008 

Kildare County -3,833,735 -2,585,424 -2,251,727 -1,815,805 -1,445,710 

Kilkenny County -104,307 -600,931 -155,280 -138,666 -68,390 

Laois County -519,500 -499,962 -494,535 -493,027 -393,286 

Leitrim County -123,121 -117,645 -1,479,205 -1,579,451 -1,426,331 

Limerick City & County 594,107 112,544 -22,982 573,822 597,517 

Longford County 265,311 -172,844 -107,413 -109,957 -34,755 

Louth County 7,459,608 7,228,037 4,052,228 1,442,529 -2,607,460 

Mayo County -1,975,407 -1,699,872 -2,524,603 -5,394,107 -5,059,930 

Meath County -8,328,417 -7,149,012 -7,385,723 -4,544,412 -3,837,962 

Monaghan County -1,220,210 -943,259 -1,485,128 -3,309,389 -2,879,914 

Offaly County -2,463,992 -4,609,616 -5,782,975 -5,293,325 -4,731,779 

Roscommon County 72,909 99,816 110,589 149,312 166,812 

Sligo County -11,433,513 -14,790,779 -17,512,053 -26,027,015 -26,602,276 

South Dublin County 12,083,109 12,093,400 12,095,145 10,729,452 12,051,637 

Tipperary County 5,641,981 5,579,540 5,676,314 5,503,094 5,545,536 

Waterford City & County -7,571,170 -7,508,460 -8,484,387 -8,886,424 -8,567,745 

Westmeath County -1,219,398 -1,039,857 -982,392 -951,062 27,702 

Wexford County -7,668,596 -7,552,979 -8,563,365 -10,267,403 -9,873,539 

Wicklow County -1,143,247 -1,420,281 -1,393,802 -4,084,330 -3,783,860 

 

In the case of 2014 the unaudited AFSs were used. The balances are the cumulative end year balances, net of transfers 
to/from reserves, and include the dissolved town and borough councils.  
 

 

 

 

 

Page 145



 

 71  

 

5 Year summary of Revenue Account Balances 

2010 Balance   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median -€104,307.00 

  Mean €1,106,127.06 

2011 Balance   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median €172,844.00 

  Mean €1,213,250.68 

2012 Balance   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median €155,280.00 

  Mean €400,817.81 

2013 Balance   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median €138,666.00 

  Mean €362,802.52 

2014 Balance   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median -€68,390.00 

  Mean €108,440.61 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 146



 

 72  

Table 23: Five Year summary of percentage collection levels for Commercial Rates 

Authority 

Commercial 
Rates 
Percentage 
2010 

Commercial 
Rates 
Percentage 
2011 

Commercial 
Rates 
Percentage 
2012 

Commercial 
Rates 
Percentage 
2013 

Commercial 
Rates 
Percentage 
2014 

            

Carlow County 70 74 70 73 75 

Cavan County 78 73 68 70 70 

Clare County 80 79 78 80 75 

Cork City 81 79 76 72 72 

Cork County 83 82 79 80 79 

Donegal County 61 56 59 57 56 

Dublin City 82 80 80 81 84 

Dun Laoghaire 
Rathdown 

81 76 75 78 78 

Fingal County 83 85 83 90 92 

Galway City 64 62 62 62 66 

Galway County 78 72 69 65 67 

Kerry County 78 76 76 75 78 

Kildare County 81 77 73 74 78 

Kilkenny County 87 88 85 89 89 

Laois County 81 77 74 70 69 

Leitrim County 78 72 64 65 60 

Limerick City & County 74 70 66 65 65 

Longford County 79 75 71 70 70 

Louth County 65 60 50 49 56 

Mayo County 83 84 80 78 75 

Meath County 84 80 77 80 81 

Monaghan County 74 68 64 65 64 

Offaly County 84 81 82 82 82 

Roscommon County 77 79 78 77 80 

Sligo County 79 68 62 59 67 

South Dublin County 80 74 74 77 80 

Tipperary County 84 79 78 77 72 

Waterford City & 
County 

78 73 72 70 72 

Westmeath County 85 80 79 79 73 

Wexford County 72 66 67 68 71 

Wicklow County 77 74 71 70 69 
In the case of 2014 the unaudited AFSs were used.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 147



 

 73  

Summary Statistics for the collection levels for 
Commercial Rates (2010-2014) 

Commercial Rates Percentage 2010   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 79.00 

  Mean 78.10 

Commercial Rates Percentage 2011   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 76.00 

  Mean 74.81 

Commercial Rates Percentage 2012   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 74.00 

  Mean 72.32 

Commercial Rates Percentage 2013   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 73.00 

  Mean 72.48 

Commercial Rates Percentage 2014   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 72.00 

  Mean 73.06 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 148



 

 74  

Table 24: Five Year summary of Percentage collection levels for Rent & Annuities 

Authority 

Rent & 
Annuities 
Percentage 
2010  

Rent & 
Annuities 
Percentage 
2011  

Rent & 
Annuities 
Percentage 
2012  

Rent & 
Annuities 
Percentage 
2013  

Rent & 
Annuities 
Percentage 
2014  

            

Carlow County 92 91 92 91 91 

Cavan County 84 81 80 80 83 

Clare County 87 86 85 82 86 

Cork City 91 89 87 85 83 

Cork County 94 93 92 89 91 

Donegal County 88 87 87 88 89 

Dublin City 79 79 77 78 78 

Dun Laoghaire 
Rathdown  81 80 79 77 80 

Fingal County 93 87 89 89 91 

Galway City 78 76 76 77 78 

Galway County 92 91 90 88 88 

Kerry County 96 95 94 98 94 

Kildare County 82 82 83 83 87 

Kilkenny County 88 88 89 90 92 

Laois County 93 94 94 94 95 

Leitrim County 94 93 91 91 87 

Limerick City & County 93 91 90 89 87 

Longford County 88 88 88 85 86 

Louth County 87 86 84 76 82 

Mayo County 83 83 82 80 83 

Meath County 88 85 86 87 84 

Monaghan County 95 95 95 95 95 

Offaly County 87 87 86 88 85 

Roscommon County 89 91 89 91 93 

Sligo County 86 85 82 79 77 

South Dublin County 77 75 74 75 73 

Tipperary County 93 92 93 93 92 

Waterford City & County 87 83 82 82 78 

Westmeath County 87 90 90 95 93 

Wexford County 93 92 90 91 90 

Wicklow County 95 93 92 92 92 
In the case of 2014 the unaudited AFSs were used.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 149



 

 75  

5 Year summary of percentage collection levels for 
Rent & Annuities 

Rent & Annuities Percentage 2010   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 88.00 

  Mean 88.39 

Rent & Annuities Percentage 2011   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 88.00 

  Mean 87.35 

Rent & Annuities Percentage 2012   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 88.00 

  Mean 86.71 

Rent & Annuities Percentage 2013   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 88.00 

  Mean 86.39 

Rent & Annuities Percentage 2014   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 87.00 

  Mean 86.55 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 150



 

 76  

Table 25: Five Year summary of percentage collection levels for Housing Loans 

Authority 

Housing 
Loan 
Percentage 
2010   

Housing 
Loan 
Percentage 
2011   

Housing 
Loan 
Percentage 
2012  

Housing 
Loan 
Percentage 
2013  

Housing 
Loan 
Percentage 
2014   

            

Carlow County 81 80 72 71 82 

Cavan County 85 82 74 67 67 

Clare County 76 67 60 57 61 

Cork City 86 82 76 78 74 

Cork County 75 70 61 60 53 

Donegal County 80 75 67 66 63 

Dublin City 77 71 68 61 58 

Dun Laoghaire 
Rathdown 81 73 64 64 57 

Fingal County 95 94 90 98 98 

Galway City 77 72 72 78 81 

Galway County 84 83 78 76 75 

Kerry County 90 90 88 87 83 

Kildare County 54 57 49 44 42 

Kilkenny County 76 73 67 74 77 

Laois County 86 81 76 67 62 

Leitrim County 74 71 65 63 60 

Limerick City & County 80 78 77 75 77 

Longford County 84 77 67 61 57 

Louth County 67 64 60 60 66 

Mayo County 69 66 61 63 65 

Meath County 86 84 77 69 63 

Monaghan County 89 86 84 85 81 

Offaly County 68 63 59 60 62 

Roscommon County 62 57 50 42 53 

Sligo County 65 57 51 46 46 

South Dublin County 102 100 98 96 90 

Tipperary County 80 75 74 77 76 

Waterford City & 
County 76 67 57 57 53 

Westmeath County 53 48 47 54 54 

Wexford County 90 88 82 78 75 

Wicklow County 80 75 74 75 73 
In the case of 2014 the unaudited AFSs were used.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 151



 

 77  

5 Year summary of percentage collection levels for 
Housing Loans 

Housing Loan Percentage 2010     

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 80.00 

  Mean 78.32 

Housing Loan Percentage 2011   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 75.00 

  Mean 74.39 

Housing Loan Percentage 2012   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 68.00 

  Mean 69.19 

Housing Loan Percentage 2013   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 67.00 

  Mean 68.03 

Housing Loan Percentage 2014   

N Valid 31 

  Missing 0 

Average Median 65.00 

  Mean 67.23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 152



 

 78  

Section 11: Economic Development 

Table 26: Number of Jobs Created in 2014 with assistance from the Local Enterprise Office  

 

Authority 

No. of Jobs Created with assistance 

from the LEO with each part time job = 

0.5 full time job 

     

Carlow County 186.5 

Cavan County 103 

Clare County 215.5 

Cork City 156.5 

Cork County 328 

Donegal County 45.5 

Dublin City 435.5 

Dun Laoghaire 
Rathdown  

125.5 

Fingal County 114.5 

Galway City N/A 

Galway County 83 

Kerry County 61 

Kildare County 92.5 

Kilkenny County 128 

Laois County 33 

Leitrim County 95 

Limerick City & County 157.5 

Longford County 74.5 

Louth County 45.5 

Mayo County 50 

Meath County 102 

Monaghan County 67 

Offaly County 98.5 

Roscommon County 11 

Sligo County 59 

South Dublin County 43 

Tipperary County 149.5 

Waterford City & 
County 

91.5 

Westmeath County 48.5 

Wexford County 171.5 

Wicklow County 106.5 

Total 3,478.50 

Page 153



 

 79  

 Average Number of Jobs Created in 

2014 with assistance from the Local 

Enterprise Office 

N Valid 30 

  
Not 

Applicable 
1 

Average  Median 93.75 

  Mean 115.95 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 154



 

 80  

 Appendix: PSCI Ratings Indicators  

 

 

  

Page 155



 

 81  

LGMA Commentary 

Part One: Background  

The Local Government Management Agency (LGMA) is committed to the ongoing 

measurement of local authority performance.  The LGMA welcomes the establishment of 

the National Oversight and Audit Commission (NOAC), its focus on transparent performance 

measurement and realistic metrics for measuring local authorities’ performance.  While the 

previous ‘service indicators’ demonstrated changes in service delivery, the move to new 

performance indicators will give a base for enhanced analysis of the performance of local 

authorities from 2014 onwards.  These changes came about through multi-party 

engagement which included the County & City Management Association (CCMA) Key 

Performance Indicator Working Group and consultations with practitioners in local 

authorities.  

This report must be considered in the context of the most radical reform programme 

implemented and delivered in local government in over 100 years.  The change delivered 

and led by local authorities collectively and individually cannot be underestimated and must 

be commended especially in the light of the reduced resources and increased demand for 

services that local authorities experienced.  

This reform was delivered in the context of a significant contraction of 12.69% in local 

authority staffing numbers between 2010 and 2014. 

 

Graph 2 below shows a reduction of 10.36% in local authority budgeted expenditure in the 
same period 

 

0.00

20,000.00

40,000.00

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Graph 1: WTE Nos. in Local Authorities 2010 - 2014  

€3,900 

€4,000 

€4,100 

€4,200 

€4,300 

€4,400 

€4,500 

€4,600 

€4,700 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Graph 2: Local Authority Budgeted Expenditure 2010 - 2014 €M 

Expenditure €M 

Page 156



 

 82  

Graph 3 illustrates the changing composition of income derived by local authorities in the 

years 2010 and 2014 

 

*For the purpose of this Graph 3 the Provision for Debit/Credit Balances and County 

Demand are excluded.  

Local Authority Revenue Account Summary 2003 - 2014 €'m 

Year 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Expenditure  €4,655.7 €4,547.90 €4,356.20 €4,180.6 €4,173.4 

Financed By           

Government Grants/Subsidies €1,105.4 €1,128.6 €958.2 €849.2 €809.6 

Pension Related Deductions €78.9 €78.2 €78.3 €76.3 €74.1 

LGF General-Purpose Grant  €773.9 €705.4 €651.9 €637.2 €284.3 

Goods/Services €1,324.8 €1,246.7 €1,180.2 €1,133.5 €1,490.7 

Commercial Rates €1,358.7 €1,367.6 €1,461.4 €1,469.1 €1,490.1 

Provision for Debit/Credit Balances €14.2 €22.0 €26.3 €20.2 €24.1 

County Demand -€0.2 -€0.6 -€0.036 -€4.9 €0.5 

Total Receipts €4,655.7 €4,547.9 €4,356.2 €4,180.6 €4,173.4 

 

€0 

€200 

€400 

€600 

€800 

€1,000 

€1,200 

€1,400 

€1,600 

Government
Grants/Subsidies

LGF General-
Purpose Grant

Goods/Services Commercial Rates

Graph 3: Local Authority Budgeted Sources of Income* 2010 and 
2014 €M 

2010

2014

Page 157



 

 83  

Local authorities responded positively to the ‘Putting People First’1 agenda and continued to 

implement changes for a more efficient and effective offering.  Against the background of 

the continued contraction in local government staffing and funding, 2014 saw the sector 

successfully deliver an ambitious reform programme through the vehicle of the Local 

Government Reform Act 2014.  

The principal changes brought about by the Act and delivered by the sector included:   

 A reduction in the number of local authorities from 114 to 31 through the dissolution 

of 80 town councils and five borough councils and the merger of Waterford County 

and City Councils, Limerick County and City Councils and North Tipperary and South 

Tipperary County Councils;  

 The establishment of Municipal Districts to carry out assigned Council functions at 

local level; 

 The establishment of Irish Water. On 1st January 2014 Irish Water became the water 

authority for Ireland with local authorities providing water services on the basis of 

Service Level Agreements with Irish Water. The transition was complex and 

extensive and included a considerable alteration of financial arrangements for local 

authorities; 

 The conferring of additional responsibility on local authorities  to lead local 

economic, enterprise and community development, including the establishment of 

Local Enterprise Offices (LEO), Local Community Development Committees (LCDC) 

and Public Participation Networks (PPN); 

 New provisions regarding funding, financial management, audit and oversight. 

In addition to the delivery of significant reform measures local authorities designed and 

implemented shared services across the sector in the area of building control oversight, 

road management, procurement and payroll. This shared approach facilitated local 

authorities in continuing to ‘do more with less’ by delivering quality services efficiently and 

in new innovative ways.  

It is encouraging to report that 3,478.5 jobs were created with assistance from the Local 

Enterprise Offices (LEOs) and theses offices are now well integrated within local authorities. 

A broader scope to this indicator could potentially capture the performance of the wider 

economic development role of local authorities and give a truer insight into all the support 

that contributes to economic development at a local level. 

As housing remains high on political and public-interest agendas, the indicators will continue 

to monitor the performance in this area and the requirements for local authorities under 

the Social Housing Strategy 2020.  The critical role that local authorities play in the provision 

of housing units continues to be challenging, in the context of the current landscape where 

                                                           
1
 Putting People First – Action Programme for Effective Local Government (Department of the Environment, Community 

and Local Government 2012) 

Page 158



 

 84  

there are serious issues around supply and demand.  As local authorities work to deliver on 

the Social Housing Strategy it is expected that an increase in acquisitions and return-to-

market of ‘void’ units will become evident over the next few years.  The mechanisms by 

which local authorities are delivering on housing requirements are evolving: for example the 

introduction of the Housing Assistance Payment Scheme (HAP) encourages the continuation 

of employment without jeopardising a social housing claim. 

The new cost per capita indicators for the fire and planning services, and cost per 1,000 

population for library services, provide transparent data which can assist with monitoring 

value for money over the coming years. Movement towards a shared services delivery 

model in 2014 in areas of payroll, building regulations and human resources have provided 

increased efficiency in service delivery.   The sector continues to seek efficiencies through 

further reform of service delivery models as exemplified by the rollout of a central library 

management system from mid-2016 onwards.   

 

Measuring Performance  

The overall intention of performance measurement is to improve the service from local 

authorities.  By using the results, decision makers at local level can focus attention and 

resources on areas where improvement could be effected to the benefit of customers. This 

function will become increasingly meaningful as the bank of data increases over time. 

The performance indicators are presented under the following performance indicator 

headings: Housing; Roads; Water; Waste/Environment; Planning; Fire Service; 

Library/Recreation; Youth/Community; Corporate; Finance; and Economic Development. In 

many cases a given indicator is actually composed of several statistics. 

The LGMA welcomes the focus on performance measurement and the increased 

accountability it brings with it.  However, it is important to be cognisant of the following:  

 Each local authority is different: Although providing a similar range of services local 

authorities respond to local needs as represented by local politicians, while taking 

into account national policies and priorities.  

 The scale of the diversity between local authority areas can have an important 

impact on performance. Key differences that are relevant include:  

- Geographical size of the area under the authority;  

- Population density;  

- Sources of revenue available to an authority; 

- Levels of poverty, unemployment and deprivation;  

- The size and nature of the local economy; and  

- The scale of the demand for the services provided by the local authority.  

Page 159



 

 85  

It is therefore not always meaningful to compare results across local authorities, but rather 

it is often more appropriate to compare the performance of individual local authorities over 

time.  

Furthermore caution should be exercised in treating the indicators in isolation from their 

contextual background. The implementation of national policy could, in the short term, 

impact “negatively” on local authority performance, as in the case of the 2014 housing 

indicator where performance is affected by the implementation of an extensive voids 

refurbishment programme. This programme will result in an improvement in both the 

quantity and quality of local authority housing stock but, in the short term, increases both 

the cost of re-letting dwellings and the time taken to do so.  The roll out of new policy in the 

areas of housing provision and the LCDCs, neither of which were fully embedded in 2014, is 

apparent in the data returned by local authorities.  

It must also be acknowledged that the publication of performance indicators is just one of 

many ways in which local authorities are accountable for the services they provide. Other 

means of reporting include monthly council meetings, the annual budget process and the 

publication of local authority Annual Financial Statements (AFSs). Under the Local 

Government Reform Act 2014 elected members have a strengthened role in policy 

formulation and implementation and, since 2015, the powers to vary the rate of Local 

Property Tax (LPT). Other governance provisions of the Act include the requirements on 

chief executives to submit monthly management reports to Councillors, the establishment 

of Strategic Policy Committees for Economic Development and Enterprise and the 

development and publication of annual service delivery plans.  

Finally it is important to note that in the area of performance management it is often easier 

to measure quantity than quality. Local authorities offer a wide range of services and 

support to their community, the breadth and diversity of which is not easily captured 

through performance indicators. For example, the role that local authorities play in 

facilitating and enabling economic growth and community development is not fully 

reflected under the indicator for economic development or youth and community. The 

existence of this wider, more qualitative context to both the data and role of local 

authorities should also be considered.  

Methodology  

This report is based on data compiled by local authorities and submitted to the Local 

Government Management Agency (LGMA).  In a small number of cases the data came from 

a national source on behalf of all local authorities such as  the EPA and Tobin Consulting 

Engineers.  

Data is presented in tabular form and supported by graphs where relevant.  

Page 160



 

 86  

- Where an indicator is new it is not possible to compare 2014 data with previous 

years; 

- Where the exact same information has been previously recorded a comparison with 

data from 2010 to 2014 is provided;  

- Where the same information is recorded, albeit in a different format to previous 

years, and a comparison is valid, this data  is provided with an explanation as to how 

the comparison is made;  

- Where the underlying methodology for calculating the data has been revised, direct 

comparisons with previous years is difficult and potentially misleading. Where this is 

the case no comparison is made with data from previous years. 

The Report covers 35 indicators with a total of 176 pieces of data.  Where relevant 

contextual notes are provided by local authorities and published with the respective tables  

Reporting of Averages - Mean Average / Median Average 

The mean average is obtained by aggregating a number of scores and dividing the total by 

the number of scores. It is appropriate to use the mean average when discussing the 

distribution of a count between the total number. 

The median average is obtained by placing all the numbers in rank order and finding the 

value that sits half-way between the smallest and the largest number. It is more accurate to 

emphasise the median average when looking at most of the performance indicators. This is 

because they are small sets of numbers and divergent scores (outliers) can 

disproportionately bias the mean average, making it unrepresentative of the majority of 

scores.  

 

  

Page 161



 

 87  

Part Two: Findings  

2.1 Housing  

The provision of housing and housing services is a key local authority function.  The 2014 

performance indicators focus on a range of inputs and outputs in this area and provide data 

on   

 Social housing stock and the means of provision of dwellings; 

 Percentage of dwellings vacant as at 31/12/2014; 

 Average re-letting time for dwellings and re-let cost per unit and 

 The number of inspections carried out on registered tenancies. 

New performance indicators record both the total number of social housing dwellings 

provided by the sector in the period 01/01/2014 to 31/12/2014 and the means by which 

they were provided.  The total number of dwellings provided by the local authority sector 

during the year 2014 was 3,830. The introduction of the Housing Assistance Payment 

Scheme (HAP) in 2014, initially on a pilot basis to Limerick City and County Council and 

subsequently on an incremental basis to five other local authorities2, saw 12.39% of 

dwellings being allocated through this mechanism.  

 

      

The total number of social housing dwellings in the sector as at 31/12/2014 was 153,773.  

Of this stock 129,511 were directly provided by local authorities.  This represents a slight 

decrease from the aggregate number of directly provided units by local authorities in 2013.  

It should be noted however that, as in the case of Dublin City Council, a number of single 

                                                           
2
Kilkenny, Cork, Louth and Monaghan County Councils and Waterford City and County Council   

17.59% 

45.62% 

12.39% 

24.40% 

Graph 4 : % Allocation of Social 
Housing 

Provided 01/01/2014-
31/12/2014 

Directly provided RAS HAP SHLI

84.22% 

11.84% 

0.31% 

3.63% 

Graph 5: % Allocation of total  
Social Housing as at 31/12/2014 

Directly provided RAS HAP SHLI

Page 162



 

 88  

void units were amalgamated into larger units as part of the refurbishment programme.  

This would have caused some of the reduction in the total number of housing stock.  Some 

tenant purchases completed in 2014 would have been a further contributing factor.   

Graph 5 above shows that 84.22% of the housing stock in 2014 was directly provided by 

local authorities with the remainder being provided through Rental Accommodation 

Scheme (RAS), Social Housing Leasing Initiative (SHLI) and HAP. 

This indicator also measures the percentage of directly provided social housing stock that 

was vacant as at 31/12/2014. The median average percentage of vacant units was 2.89%. 

Based on data provided, a total of 4,919 units were vacant which accounts for 3.8% of the 

sector’s directly provided social housing stock.. This indicator includes both housing stock 

that was subject to major refurbishment, and therefore unavailable for tenancy during that 

period, and units for which there was no actual demand, thereby lying vacant. No direct 

comparison is made with data from previous years’ service indicators as the relevant 

indicator excluded dwellings that were subject to refurbishment.   

The performance indicators measure the average re-letting time for local authority 

dwellings, the average re-let cost per unit and the maintenance cost per unit per local 

authority. Data shows that the median average re-letting time increased from 22.2 weeks in 

2013 to 24.48 weeks in 2014.  

 

 

 

 

 

The calculation of the re-let cost and the maintenance cost by unit is a new performance 

indicator and no comparison can be made with previous years.  

While these figures provide an important baseline from which to measure future 

performance, local authorities have highlighted a number of factors which need to be taken 

into account when examining these tables:  

 2014 Voids Scheme: In 2014 the DECLG made funding available to local authorities 

to refurbish dwellings that were previously categorised as “void”. Going forward this 

will increase local authority housing stock and provide quality units to individuals and 

families. However, for the purpose of 2014, dwellings that had been vacant for a long 

period of time and previously classified as void were reclassified as local authority 

housing stock with a correlating increase to the average number of weeks which 

 Average Re-letting time 

(Weeks) 

Re-let cost 

average € 

Maintenance 

Cost by Unit 

€ 

Median  24.48 8375.0 758.3 

Mean 31.78 9,931.70             930.54 

Page 163



 

 89  

dwellings were counted as vacant. Furthermore these dwellings required 

considerable refurbishment to make them habitable for local authority tenants 

impacting on both the time taken to re-let the unit and the re-let average cost. This 

was highlighted as an issue by Dublin City Council and Donegal, Leitrim and Galway 

County Councils. 

 The demand for dwellings: In a number of rural authorities there was little or no 

demand for social housing units due to their rural or isolated location. These units 

can be empty for a considerable period of time adding to the re-letting time average. 

This was highlighted as an issue by Leitrim and Roscommon County Councils. 

This indicator also measures the number of adult individuals placed in emergency 

accommodation by local authorities through PASS (Pathway Accommodation and Support 

System) on 31/12/2014 and the percentage of those individuals who were classified as long-

term homeless. PASS is used by local authorities to place individuals in emergency 

accommodation. Data provided shows that 2,649 adults were placed in emergency 

accommodation by local authorities on the last day of 2014. Of these, 1,238 were long-term 

homeless, that is, adult individuals who were using emergency accommodation services in 

excess of six months, either continuously or cumulatively, over the year.  Figures show that 

both the majority of adult individuals placed in emergency accommodation and the majority 

of individuals classified as long-term homeless are in Dublin City, reflecting both the physical 

location of the number of beds available and the prevalence of the problem in the capital 

city.  

 

  

Page 164



 

 90  

2.2 Roads 

A major function of a local authority is to use public funds to provide a comfortable, safe 

and economical road surface. This requires balancing priorities and making difficult 

decisions in order to manage pavements. The MapRoad system, utilised by local authorities 

and supported by a Pavement Surface Condition Index (PSCI) rating system, (see Appendix 

at page 80) provides a standardised means to rate the surface condition, the most vital 

element in any pavement management system. 

 

 

 

The PSCI rating system, approved by the Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport 

(DTTaS), provides local authorities with a standardised means to assess and rate the surface 

condition of roads. Using a ratings scale of 1 to 10, where 1 indicates extensive structural 

distress and 10 indicates no visible defects, local authorities can measure and record the 

condition of regional and primary roads at a given time. On average local authorities had 

recorded and rated 57.9% of their regional roads and 66.36% of their local roads against the 

PSCI as at 31/12/2014.  

It is important to note that a number of local authorities3 had not commenced the 

assessment of regional and local roads against the PSCI rating system in 2014. Where this is 

the case, an N/A or ‘not applicable’ is recorded. In addition a number of local authorities 

had undertaken mechanical surveys of their pavement surfaces prior to 2014 which, 

although available to local authorities, were not recorded against the MapRoad System. 

Where undertaken, Tables 6 to 9 record the rating, on the condition of regional and local 

roads, as a percentage of the road that was surveyed by local authorities and recorded on 

the MapRoad system as at 31/12/2014. For the purpose of analysing the data presented in 

these tables we have condensed the 10 categories, as per Department of Transport, 

Tourism and Sport, under four headings; Structural Distress (Category 1-4), Pavement 

Defects (Category 5-6), Surface Defects (Category 7-8) and Minor/No Visible Defects 

(Category 9-10). The colour coding used is similar to that used for the PSCI Rating Table.  

The data recorded in these tables, summarised in Graphs 6-10 over, indicates that, where 

surveyed, the condition rating for regional and local roads is as follows: 

 

                                                           
3
 Cork City Council, Dun Laoghaire Rathdown, Fingal, Meath and South Dublin County Council did not undertake the PSCI 

survey in 2014 

There are almost 91,000kms of regional and local roads in Ireland which accounts 

for 94% of the country’s road network and they carry 54% of all road traffic 

Page 165



 

 91  

 24% of Regional roads surveyed 

have minor or no surface defects 

(Cat. 9-10), 44% have extensive to 

moderate surface defects (Cat. 7-

8), 24% have moderate to 

significant pavement defects (Cat. 

5-6) and 8% have some level of 

structural distress (Cat. 1-4); 
 

 15% of Local Primary roads 

surveyed have minor or no surface 

defects (Cat. 9-10), 43% have 

extensive to moderate surface 

defects (Cat. 7-8), 31% have 

moderate to significant pavement 

defects (Cat. 5-6) and 11% have 

some level of structural distress 

(Cat. 1-4); 
 

 12% of Local Secondary roads 

surveyed have minor or no 

surface defects (Cat. 9-10), 36% 

have extensive to moderate 

surface defects (Cat. 7-8), 35% 

have moderate to significant 

pavement defects (Cat. 5-6) and 

17% have some level of structural 

distress (Cat. 1-4); and 
 

 10% of Local Tertiary roads surveyed 

have minor or no surface defects 

(Cat. 9-10), 29% have extensive to 

moderate surface defects (Cat. 7-8), 

30% have moderate to significant 

pavement defects (Cat. 5-6) and 31% 

have some level of structural distress 

(Cat. 1-4). 
 

 Legend:     Cat. 1-4                     Cat. 5-6                   Cat. 7-8                        Cat. 9-10

 

Structural Distress Pavement Defects Surface Defects no Visible/MinorDefects

8% 

24% 

44% 

24% 

Graph 6: Regional PSCI Ratings as % 
average of road surveyed   (2014) 

 

11% 

31% 

43% 

15% 

Graph 7: Local Primary  Road PSCI Ratings  
as % average of  road surveyed (2014) 

17% 

35% 
36% 

12% 

Graph 8: Local Secondary  Road PSCI  
Ratings as % average of road surveyed   

(2014) 

 

31% 

30% 

29% 

10% 

Graph 9: Local Tertiary Road PSCI Ratings as 
% average of road surveyed  (2014) 

Page 166



 

 92  

 

Using this data it will be possible for local authorities to track and trend the condition of the 

road network, both globally and broken into its components (Regional, Local etc.), to assess 

the treatment required and to allocate road budgets accordingly.  The PSCI ratings will also 

support the development of key performance indicators (KPIs) and enable performance to 

be compared with other networks in other countries.  PSCI can also be used by the DTTaS to 

determine the requirements for funding the road pavement network, both at present and 

for the future.  

The indicators also show that the percentage of motor tax transactions carried out on-line 

continues to grow: from a median average of 29.2% in 2010 to 50.02% in 2014, an overall 

increase of 71.3% in the use of this facility.  

              

 

  

8 

11 

17 

31 

24 

31 

35 

30 

44 

43 

36 

29 

24 

15 

12 

10 

Regional

Primary

Secondary

Tertiary

Graph 10: Summary PSCI Ratings  of Local and Regional  Roads 
(2014) 

Structural Distress Pavement Defects

Surface Defects no Visible/MinorDefects

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

av
e

ra
ge

 %
 

Year 

Graph 11: Percentage of Motor Tax Transactions 
performed online (2010-2014) 

Page 167



 

 93  

2.3 Water  

Irish Water was the statutory body for the provision of water from 01/01/2014. The data 

provided in Table 11 in Section 3 on unaccounted for water (UFW), as a percentage of total 

volume of water supplied between January and June 2015, was provided by the local 

authorities to Irish Water and was based on actual consumption information available.  Data 

previously published on UFW in the service indicator reports involved a degree of 

estimation to calculate the indicator because a number of assumptions were required about 

the level of water produced and water consumed - in relation to the number of 

household/non-domestic connections, levels of household consumption, and telemetry.  

The roll out of domestic metering by Irish Water across the county in 2014 has enabled a 

calculation of UFW using data based on actual domestic consumption from Irish Water 

which now presents a more robust baseline.  

This indicator also shows that 99.4% of public drinking water supplies and 97.9% of private 

drinking water supplies were in compliance with statutory requirements in 2013. 

 

2.4 Waste / Environment  

A number of indicators measure local authority performance in the delivery of 

environmental services. This area includes a broad spectrum of services from assessing 

pollution potential and water quality, to driving waste management, enforcement of litter 

pollution legislation and the creation of greater environmental awareness. Performance 

indicators in this area record that in 2014: 

 522,141 households had access to a three-bin service; 

 113 complaints relating to waste were referred to the EPA Office of Environmental 

Enforcement (OEE) because they persisted after investigation of the complaint by 

local authorities; 

 A total of 54,934 complaints were made to local authorities in regard to litter, 

noise, air and water pollution.  

 

The promotion of litter free towns and cities is an important function for local authorities. 

Graph 12 below shows that while the percentage of areas classified as “litter free” 

decreased slightly from 11.30 to 10.93 between 2010 and 2014 (an overall decrease of 

3.27%), areas slightly polluted increased from 62.60 to 68.64 (an overall increase of 9.65%) 

and  areas categorised as  significantly polluted decreased from 0.4 to 0.25 (an overall 

decrease of 37.5%).  Data used for this indicator was available in respect of 28 of the 31 

local authorities. It was submitted by Tobin Consulting Engineers and informs the National 

Litter Pollution Monitoring System Report as produced by same.  

                    

Page 168



 

 94  

 
Source: Tobin Consulting Engineers  

 

2.5 Planning  

The role of local authorities in planning is concerned not only with carrying out the day to 

day operation of their regulatory role (planning control) but also with the developmental 

aspects of planning (forward planning). A number of indicators are used to measure 

aspects of the service provided by local authorities and record the following:  

 The mean average percentage of new buildings inspected is 22.11%, which is 

approximately 47% above the recommended inspection rate of 15%.  This data is 

compiled by calculating the number of new buildings notified to the local authority 

in 2014 that were the subject of an inspection as a percentage of the total number of 

new buildings where a valid commencement notice was issued in 2014. The new 

Regulations, implemented in March 2014, clarifies that the responsibility for 

ensuring compliance with all relevant building regulations rests with the owner of 

the building. 

 A total of 1,095 local authority planning decisions were the subject of an appeal to 

An Bord Pleanála and were determined in 2014. An Bord Pleanála upheld, either 

with or without variation, the decision made by the local authority in question in 

71.7% of these cases.  

A new performance indicator measures the cost per capita of the planning service for 2014 

activity. The median average per capita cost was €26.97 and ranged from €12.66 for Cork 

County Council to €53.19 in Roscommon County Council. The information used to compile 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Unpolluted or Litter
Free

11.30 10.30 10.84 11.42 10.93

Slightly Polluted 62.60 63.80 62.41 61.64 68.64

Moderately Polluted 22.80 23.20 22.88 22.88 18.11

Significantly Polluted 3.10 2.30 3.66 3.58 2.04

Grossly Polluted 0.40 0.40 0.41 0.48 0.25

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

80.00

M
e

an
 

Graph 12: Average litter pollution trends 2010-2014 (%) 

Page 169



 

 95  

this figure includes the cost of forward planning, development management and 

enforcement and can be influenced by the significant costs associated with the preparation 

and publication of a County Development Plan. It should be noted that the publication of a 

County Development Plan is periodic and that practices vary between authorities in the 

allocation of the costs associated with the preparation of the Plans.  

 

2.6 Fire  

As well as retaining the indicators dealing with the time taken to mobilise for incidents and 

the percentage of cases where attendance is within 10 minutes, between 10 and 20 minutes 

or greater than 20 minutes, an additional indicator related to the per capita cost of the fire 

service was introduced for 2014 activity.   

Per Capita Cost 

The per capita cost for the fire service4 ranged from €93.13 for Cork City to €28.25 for 

Kildare County Council.  Per capita costs are heavily influenced by whether the fire service is 

a full-time or part-time brigade.  Cork City Council is the only fire authority operating a full-

time brigade with no retained fire-fighters.  While Dublin City Council, which provides the 

service to the greater Dublin area, operates a predominantly full-time brigade, it employs a 

number of retained fire-fighters and its cost per capita is lower than Cork City at €74.13.  

The other four authorities who employ full-time fire-fighters (Galway County Council – 

which operates as a shared service for Galway City, Limerick and Waterford City and County 

Councils and Louth County Council) have a per capita cost ranging from €75.72 to €44.15. 

The mean average per capita cost of the fire service where there is a combination of full and 

part time stations is €60.83.   

                                                           
4
 In this case per capita costs are based on the 2011 Census figures for the population served by the fire service in question 

and not the 2011 census figures relating to the administrative area as used for calculating the per capita cost of planning 
and libraries.  

0
10
20
30
40
50
60

C
ar

lo
w

 C
o

u
n

ty

C
av

an
 C

o
u

n
ty

C
la

re
 C

o
u

n
ty

C
o

rk
 C

it
y

C
o

rk
 C

o
u

n
ty

D
o

n
eg

al
 C

o
u

n
ty

D
u

b
lin

 C
it

y

D
u

n
 L

ao
gh

ai
re

…

Fi
n

ga
l C

o
u

n
ty

G
al

w
ay

 C
it

y

G
al

w
ay

 C
o

u
n

ty

K
e

rr
y 

C
o

u
n

ty

K
ild

ar
e

 C
o

u
n

ty

K
ilk

e
n

n
y 

C
o

u
n

ty

La
o

is
 C

o
u

n
ty

Le
it

ri
m

 C
o

u
n

ty

Li
m

er
ic

k 
C

it
y 

&
…

Lo
n

gf
o

rd
 C

o
u

n
ty

Lo
u

th
 C

o
u

n
ty

M
ay

o
 C

o
u

n
ty

M
e

at
h

 C
o

u
n

ty

M
o

n
ag

h
an

…

O
ff

al
y 

C
o

u
n

ty

R
o

sc
o

m
m

o
n

…

Sl
ig

o
 C

o
u

n
ty

So
u

th
 D

u
b

lin
…

Ti
p

p
e

ra
ry

 C
o

u
n

ty

W
at

er
fo

rd
 C

it
y…

W
e

st
m

ea
th

…

W
e

xf
o

rd
 C

o
u

n
ty

W
ic

kl
o

w
 C

o
u

n
ty

Graph 13: Cost per Capita of the Planning Service (€) 2014 

Page 170



 

 96  

           

The per capita cost of the fire authorities with only part-time or retained fire-fighters ranges 

from €28.25 in Kildare County Council to €70 in Leitrim County Council – the median 

average for these 21 fire authorities is €43.17.  Mayo, Meath, Offaly and Westmeath County 

Councils all have a per capita cost under €40, and Wexford County Council’s per capita cost 

is below €30. 

 

Local authorities provide a critical range of emergency services to the community and 

frequently cross their administrative boundaries to respond to an incident.  It should also be 

noted that there are a range of agreements in place between local authorities with regard 

to supplying operational fire services and receiving such services from a neighbouring fire 

authority depending on the location of fire stations. Where this applies, the transfer 

payments received for the provision of such services may not generally cover the full cost of 

the service. 

Mobilisation 

This indicator reports the number of minutes from the time of the call-out to the time that 

the first responders leave the fire station averaged over all call-outs between 1/1/2014 and 

31/12/2014; the data is derived from the Computer-Aided Mobilisation Project (CAMP) 

€0.00 

€20.00 

€40.00 

€60.00 

€80.00 

€100.00 

Cork City Dublin City Galway
County

Limerick
City &
County

Louth
County

Waterford
City &
County

Graph 14: Cost per Capita of Full-Time Stations 2014 

€0.00  
€10.00  
€20.00  
€30.00  
€40.00  
€50.00  
€60.00  
€70.00  
€80.00  

Graph 15: Cost per Capita of Part-Time Stations 2014 

Page 171



 

 97  

system.  The median average number of minutes taken to mobilise the fire brigade in full-

time stations was 1.66 minutes in the case of fire incidents and 1.79 minutes in the case of 

other incident types.  ‘Non-fire’ incidents include road traffic incidents, hazardous material 

incidents, and special services. The corresponding figures for part-time stations ranged from 

5.53 minutes for fire call outs and 5.92 minutes in respect of non-fire call outs.   

 

A total of 21,660 fires were attended by the brigades in 2014 and the fire brigade was at the 

scene in less than 10 minutes in the case of 58.6% or 12,694 of these.  Attendance took 

between 10 and 20 minutes in the case of 6,989 or 32.3% of the fires and more than 20 

minutes for 1,977 or 9.1% of the fires.  In the case of four of the six fire authorities with full-

time fire-fighters, responses to fires were in less than 10 minutes in over 70% of call-outs 

and the response time was less than 20 minutes in at least 92% of Cork and Dublin City, 

Limerick and Waterford City and County Councils and Louth County Council call-outs to fires. 

Regarding response times to non-fire incidents, Cork and Dublin City brigades achieved a 

sub-10 minute response time in more than 75% of incidents.  Offaly was the only part-time 

brigade to attend more than 40% of non-fire incidents in less than 10 minutes.  All the 

brigades with full-time fire-fighters reported response times of less than 20 minutes to at 

least 85% of non-fire call-outs.  

Graphs 16 and 17 show an increase both in the percentage of fire cases attended within 10 

minutes, and between 10 and 20 minutes between 2010 and 2014.  

             

             

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Mean 44.97 45.96 45.51 44.08 45.02

43.00

44.00

45.00

46.00

47.00

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 

Graph 16: Percentage of Fire Cases  attended 
within 10 minutes 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Mean 39.30 40.09 42.72 42.36 42.42

36.00

38.00

40.00

42.00

44.00

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 

Graph 17: Percentage of Fire Cases attended  after 
10 mins within 20 mins 

Page 172



 

 98  

In the same period there was also an increase in the percentage of non-fire cases attended 

within 10 minutes 

          

 

2.7 Library 

Where the local authority does not operate an electronic count system, the number of 

library visits per 1,000 population is calculated by multiplying the number of library visits in 

a particular six day period by 50 for the yearly total. This indicator does not take account of 

the amount of weekly opening hours or the number of libraries within a local authority. Nor 

does it reflect the increasing use of on-line lending that is conducted remotely.  

The number of library visits per 1,000 population increased by 14% since 2013. The median 

number of library visits in 2014 is 3.62 per person compared with 3.18 in 2013. The most 

visits were recorded in Cork City with 6.2 visits per person. The least number of library visits 

per population were recorded by Donegal County Council with an average of 2.1 visits to the 

library per person. 

 

 

 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Mean 40.60 39.70 39.30 37.45 38.48

35.00

36.00

37.00

38.00

39.00

40.00

41.00

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 

Graph 18: Percentage of  Non- Fire Cases attended 
within 10 minutes 

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7

C
ar

lo
w

…

C
av

an
 C

o
u

n
ty

C
la

re
 C

o
u

n
ty

C
o

rk
 C

it
y

C
o

rk
 C

o
u

n
ty

D
o

n
eg

al
…

D
u

b
lin

 C
it

y

D
u

n
…

Fi
n

ga
l C

o
u

n
ty

G
al

w
ay

…

K
e

rr
y 

C
o

u
n

ty

K
ild

ar
e

…

K
ilk

e
n

n
y…

La
o

is
 C

o
u

n
ty

Le
it

ri
m

…

Li
m

er
ic

k…

Lo
n

gf
o

rd
…

Lo
u

th
 C

o
u

n
ty

M
ay

o
 C

o
u

n
ty

M
e

at
h

 C
o

u
n

ty

M
o

n
ag

h
an

…

O
ff

al
y 

C
o

u
n

ty

R
o

sc
o

m
m

o
n

…

Sl
ig

o
 C

o
u

n
ty

So
u

th
…

Ti
p

p
e

ra
ry

…

W
at

er
fo

rd
…

W
e

st
m

ea
th

…

W
e

xf
o

rd
…

W
ic

kl
o

w
…

Graph 19: No. of Library Visits per person 2014  

Page 173



 

 99  

This indicator also measures the cost of operating the library service by local authority. It is 

compiled by calculating the cost for the local authority of operating the library and archival 

service divided by 1,000 population of the local authority area.  The median average cost 

per 1,000 population is €27,088.72 which equates to €27.08 per capita. The cost per 1,000 

population ranged from €60,158.82 in Cork City to €17,299.71 in Mayo County Council. 

Graph 20 below illustrates the range of per cost per capita across the sector.  

 

 

 

2.8 Youth and Community Participation  

The role of local authorities, in particular in the community and enterprise development 

area and their contribution to the national Action Plan for Jobs has never been more 

important.  The new Community indicators measure data on a range of programmes, 

through which local authorities engage with their community and provide employment 

opportunities and support to disadvantaged groups including the long term unemployed.     

The total number of second level schools and youth groups within the sector on 31st 

December 2014 was 2,012 of which an average of 62% were involved in the local youth 

Council/Comhairle na n-Óg scheme. Gateway is a local authority labour activation 22-month 

scheme, run in conjunction with the Department of Social Protection (DSP) that provides 

short-term work and training opportunities for long-term unemployed people who have 

been on the Live Register for over two years. The statistics show that local authorities 

employed a median average of 64.9% of their assigned participant targets on the scheme in 

the first full year of the programme, with six local authorities exceeding their target number 

of participants placed on the scheme. A number have continued to recruit beyond the 

target assigned. Twenty local authorities achieved above 50% of their target with just four 

local authorities below 20% of their target. The optimisation of the referral process from 

DSP, along with the resolution of issues with unions in 2014, resulted in a more significant 

take up of participants in the second half of 2014.  

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

C
ar

lo
w

 C
o

u
n

ty

C
av

an
 C

o
u

n
ty

C
la

re
 C

o
u

n
ty

C
o

rk
 C

it
y

C
o

rk
 C

o
u

n
ty

D
o

n
eg

al
…

D
u

b
lin

 C
it

y

D
u

n
…

Fi
n

ga
l C

o
u

n
ty

G
al

w
ay

 C
o

u
n

ty

K
e

rr
y 

C
o

u
n

ty

K
ild

ar
e

 C
o

u
n

ty

K
ilk

e
n

n
y…

La
o

is
 C

o
u

n
ty

Le
it

ri
m

 C
o

u
n

ty

Li
m

er
ic

k 
C

it
y…

Lo
n

gf
o

rd
…

Lo
u

th
 C

o
u

n
ty

M
ay

o
 C

o
u

n
ty

M
e

at
h

 C
o

u
n

ty

M
o

n
ag

h
an

…

O
ff

al
y 

C
o

u
n

ty

R
o

sc
o

m
m

o
n

…

Sl
ig

o
 C

o
u

n
ty

So
u

th
 D

u
b

lin
…

Ti
p

p
e

ra
ry

…

W
at

er
fo

rd
…

W
e

st
m

ea
th

…

W
e

xf
o

rd
…

W
ic

kl
o

w
…

Graph 20: 2014 Cost per Capita of provision of library services   

€ 

Page 174



 

 100  

Through its engagement with target groups and youths in the Local Community 

Development Programme (succeeded in 2015 by the Social Inclusion Community Activation 

Programme (SICAP)), participating local authorities supported 6,169 individuals to full-time, 

part-time or self-employment within six months of receiving targeted employment support. 

The Local Government Reform Act 2014 provides for the establishment of local community 

development committees (LCDCs). The main function of an LCDC is to prepare, implement 

and monitor the community elements of the six-year local economic and community plan.  

Table 20 records the number of private sector nominees from the Public Participation 

Network (PPN) structures to the LCDC through the social inclusion process (Roma, 

Travellers, Unemployed, People with disabilities, families from disadvantaged areas).  It 

should be noted that the PPN was not operational until December 2014 in most local 

authorities, so a true measurement of the performance in this area will not be available 

until the 2015 figures are compiled.   

 

2.9 Corporate 

In the face of budgetary pressures the number of staff working in local authorities continued 

to decline in 2014 with the whole time equivalent (WTE) recorded at 26,806.865 at 

31/12/2014 a decrease of 2.67% from 2013 and 23.42% since 2008 as demonstrated by this 

new indicator. 

 

During the same period, staffing numbers in the public sector decreased from 320,387.15 

(Q4 2008) to 289,642.87 (Q4 2014)6 with the proportion of local authority staff decreasing 

                                                           
5
 This is the composite figure compiled from the data submitted by local authorities for the Performance Indicator Report. 

Figures for 2010 – 2013 are sourced from  http://databank.per.gov.ie/.  
6
 http://databank.per.gov.ie/Public_Service_Numbers.aspx?rep=SectorTrend 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

WTE 30703.04 29506.32 28306.24 27543.51 26806.86

24000

25000

26000

27000

28000

29000

30000

31000

To
ta

l 

Graph 21: Local Authority Employees (WTE) 2010 - 2014 

Page 175

http://databank.per.gov.ie/


 

 101  

from 10.93% to 9.25%, a total reduction of 15.37%.  Figures compiled by the Department of 

Public Expenditure and Reform and illustrated in Graph 22 confirm that local government 

has incurred the highest proportionate staffing reduction of any one sector in the public 

service. 

  

Source:  http://www.databank.per.gov.ie 

Trends in Percentage of  Composition of Public Sector Staffing  (2008-2014)  
  2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Overall 

percentage 
increase/decrease 

Civil 
Service 

12.27 12.02 11.91 12.31 12.49 12.53 12.49 1.79 

Defence 
Sector 

3.52 3.45 3.37 3.41 3.43 3.4 3.38 -3.97 

Education 
Sector 

29.66 30.05 30.67 30.59 31.18 31.78 32.47 9.47 

Health 
Sector 

34.65 35.32 35.29 35.11 34.9 34.68 33.76 -2.56 

Justice 
Sector 

4.9 4.86 4.81 4.79 4.59 4.52 4.41 -10 

Local 
Authorities 

10.93 10.31 10.03 9.92 9.73 9.56 9.25 -15.37 

NCSA 4.08 3.98 3.92 3.87 3.67 3.54 4.24 3.92 

 

Absenteeism  

Educatio
n Sector

NCSA
Civil

Service
Health
Sector

Defence
Sector

Local
Authoriti

es

Percentage 9.47 3.92 1.79 -2.56 -3.97 -15.28

-20

-15

-10

-5

0

5

10

15

Graph 22: Percentage reduction in Staff 2008-2014 by Public 
Sector Function 

Page 176

http://www.databank.per.gov.ie/


 

 102  

Sickness absence has a significant impact on financial resources, staffing resources, service 

delivery and employee morale7. The local government sector records a significant decrease 

in the percentage of working days lost to sickness absence through both medically certified 

and self-certified leave with figures showing a continued downward trend in these 

indicators.  

 

The percentage of working days lost to sickness absence through certified leave continued 

its decline from a median average of 4.46% in 2010 to 3.53% in 2014, a total decrease of 

20.85%. The percentage of working days lost to sickness through uncertified leave has 

decreased from a median average of 0.61 days in 2010 to 0.34 days in 2014 a total decrease 

of 44.26%. It should be noted that the figures for 2014 do not include absences that were 

unpaid.  

While there will always be a certain level of absenteeism recorded in both certified and 

uncertified sick leave, which reflect legitimate sickness absence, the figures reported would 

suggest the sector is a taking a proactive approach, including utilising the Public Service Sick 

Leave Scheme introduced from 31 March 2014, to manage excessive or unnecessary 

certified absences, with the mean average for certified sick leave decreasing by 20.33% 

between 2013 and 2014.  This indicator provides a benchmark for local authorities to 

monitor sickness absence and continue to improve performance in this area.  

2.10 Finance 

The publication of the five year summary of Revenue Account Balances is a new indicator 

and is reflective of the Income and Expenditure Account balance in the local authority’s 

Annual Financial Statements for each of the years from 2010 through to 2014. Data 

presented includes figures for the abolished borough and town councils for the years 2010 

to 2013 and reflects the cumulative balance to 31 December 2014. 

                                                           
7
 Ref DECLG VFM Report 2013  

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

%
 D

ay
s 

Graph 23: Median Average days lost to medically certified/ 
self certified leave 2010-2014 

medically certified
leave

self certified leave

Page 177



 

 103  

The revenue income and expenditure account includes the day-to-day running costs of the 

local authority and payroll, operational, administration, establishment and financial 

expenditure. Income includes grants and subsidies as well as charges for the provision of 

goods and services, including commercial rates.  

Fourteen (45%) of 31 local authorities have a positive revenue balance, eight of which is in 

excess of €1m.  Seventeen (55%) of 31 local authorities have a negative revenue balance, 13 

of which are in excess of €1m.  While the revenue balance of 11 local authorities has 

worsened by more than €1m over the 5 year period, 15 of the 17 local authorities with a 

negative revenue balance as at 31 December 2014 have shown an improvement in that 

year. 

 

Collection of Rates 

 €-  

 €5  

 €10  

 €15  

 €20  

 €25  

 €30  

 €35  

 €40  

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Graph 24: 5 Year Summary Revenue Account Balances  €M(2010-2014) 

€M  

Page 178



 

 104  

 

 

Commercial Rates  

The percentage of commercial rates collected for each city and county council in 2014 

ranged from 92% to 56% with an overall mean average of 73.06%. This represented a small 

increase of 0.8% on the overall collection rate from 2013 and should be welcomed in the 

context of the financial pressures that continued to be experienced by rate payers in 2014.      

This upward trajectory reflects the concerted effort being made by local authorities across 

the country, through a range of measures, to improve commercial rate collection and 

should yield higher collection rates into 2015. In overall terms the returns show that the 

collection rate improved in 13 local authorities, remained static in seven and decreased in 

11. 

There are a number of complex contributory factors that impact on local authority debt 

collection and which should be considered when analysing local authority performance in 

this area. These include: The amalgamation of the former Town Council rates books into 

the county depressed the overall collection rate by 10% in 2014. In many cases collection 

systems were not as developed as the county processes. Number of Insolvencies – local 

authorities welcome the reduction in the number of businesses going into insolvency in 

2014, however the cumulative effect of insolvencies, which in many cases are carried 

forward year-on-year, places a significant burden on the collection of commercial rates for 

local authorities by increasing arrears and eroding the commercial rate base.  

 

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

80.00

90.00

100.00

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

M
e

an
 %

 

Year 

Graph 25: Average % collection levels for Rates/Rent/Loans (2010-
2014) 

rates

rent

loans

Page 179



 

 105  

                     

   Source: Vision-net Annual Business Review 2015  

Local authorities, while conscious of the trading difficulties of many rate payers, have 

adopted a series of measures designed to increase collection rates including: improving 

business processes; centralising debt collection units; managing accounts in arrears through  

the promotion of direct debit payments; implementing payment incentive schemes; and 

implementing strong enforcement procedures which include progressing  “won’t pay” cases 

to the District Court and having judgements put on properties. 

Collection of Rents and Annuities  

The percentage of rents and annuities collected for each city and county council in 2014 

ranged from 95% to 73% with an overall mean average of 86.55%. This is a marginal 

increase on the sectoral average of 86.39% in 2013 and is a small decrease on the 2010 

average of 88.39%. In overall terms the returns show that the collection rate improved in 14 

local authorities, remained static in five and decreased in 12. 

Local authorities operate an early intervention policy to identify accounts that are falling 

into arrears.  This will often involve setting up a payment plan, that is both affordable and 

sustainable for the tenant, to clear arrears arising.   

Collection of Housing Loans 

The continued decline in the collection levels for housing loans reflect the challenging 

economic environment which prevails for local authority customers. The percentage of 

collection levels for housing loans collected for each city and county council in 2014 ranged 

from 98% to 42% with an overall mean average of 67.23%. This is a marginal decrease on 

the sectoral average of 68.03% in 2013, and an overall decrease of 14% on the 2010 average 

of 78.32%. In overall terms the returns show that the collection rate improved in eight local 

authorities, remained static in four and decreased in 19. 

In the case of housing loans, local authorities acted as a ‘lender of last resort’ giving loans to 

individuals who otherwise would not have been in a position to get a loan from a bank or 

building society. Anecdotal evidence would suggest that the recent recovery in the economy 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Trend in Business
Insolvencies 2010 -

2014
2,307.00 8732.3 7,183.80 0 25,787.00

0.00

5,000.00

10,000.00

15,000.00

20,000.00

25,000.00

30,000.00

Graph 26: Trend in Business Insolvencies 2010 - 2014 

Page 180



 

 106  

is not reflected in the incomes of local authority borrowers with many still in negative equity 

and finding the repayment of loans challenging. This has a significant negative effect on 

housing loan arrears in general. 

The establishment of the Mortgage Arrears Resolution Process (MARP), a statutory 

framework for customers to pay arrears over a long period of time, provides a vehicle for 

local authority customers to agree a repayment scheme that is fair to both the lending 

authority and the borrower. While the sector welcomes this arrangement it has resulted in 

both the period of loan repayments being extended and the value of individual repayments 

being decreased.  

 

2.11 Economic Development 

Local authorities play a critical role in facilitating and enabling economic development 

across the country through a broad range of direct and indirect mechanisms. 2014 saw this 

role being strengthened with the establishment of a Local Enterprise Office (LEO) in every 

local authority to provide advice, information and meaningful support to both start-up and 

growing businesses8.  

As recorded in Table 26, 3,478.5 new jobs were created with the assistance of LEOs during 

2014. This figure relates to new jobs, and does not take account of employment that was 

sustained or opportunities that were created through training, mentoring and development 

programmes run by the LEOs.  Looking ahead, this indicator has the potential to be 

broadened to capture not just the performance of LEOs in grant assisted job creation but in 

the wider function of support and promotion of local enterprise.  

 

2.12 Conclusion  

This report documents the performance of local authorities in the implementation of the 

wide range of functions they provide and gives valuable insight into the ways and means 

these services are delivered. The data reflects performance at a set point in time and 

provides a baseline from which future performance can be measured, emerging trends and 

issues can be assessed and comparisons between local authority performances can be 

made. In a number of cases however the value of the data gathered and the methodology 

used to gather it requires further refinement to ensure relevance to the measurement of 

                                                           
8
 The Local Enterprise Offices (LEOs) were established on the 15th April 2014 upon the dissolution of the County Enterprise 

Boards. Services areas formerly delivered by the CEB were then integrated into mainstream Local Authority Services and 

enhanced. 

 

Page 181



 

 107  

performance within the local authorities. This is particularly the case with regard to the 

roads, community and finance indicators.  

Tracking the indicators will give stakeholders a tool to identity where change is happening, 

and, as appropriate, address the underlying cause or make use of the opportunities it 

presents to take informed future-orientated action. The LGMA looks forward to its 

continued involvement in this process.  

 

 

 

 

Page 182



To the Lord Mayor and      Report No.  222/2016 

Members of Dublin City Council                  Report of the Chief Executive 

  

 
 
 
 

Performance Indicators 2015 
 
 
Introduction 
 

Attached is the Performance Indicators Return for year ending 31st December 2015, prepared in 

accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2001 and the National Oversight and 

Audit Commission (NOAC).  

 

Technical work on the LGMA’s electronic ‘eReturns’ system delayed the completion of the returns for 

2015.  The deadline for submission of the data was extended to 30 June 2016 and therefore the 

performance indicators were not included in the 2015 Annual Report, which was notified to the City 

Council at its meeting of 13th June 2016. The indicators will be included as Appendix 3 in an amended 

Annual Report 2015, which will be published on the Council’s website www.dublincity.ie.  

 

 

 

 

 
Brendan Kenny 
Chief Executive, Dublin City Council  
 
27th July 2016 

Page 183

http://www.dublincity.ie/


 
   

  

Performance Indicators 
 

 

01/01/2015 - 31/12/2015 (Annual) 
 

 

Dublin City Council 
 

 

Status: In Progress 
 

 
 

 

   

 

Topic Indicator Value Comment 

Housing: H1, H2 & H4 
Approved 

A. Overall total number of dwellings provided by the LA in the 
period 1/1/2015 to 31/12/2015 

576  

B. Number of dwellings directly provided 152  

B1. Number of dwellings constructed 19  

B2. Number of dwellings purchased 133  

C. Number of units provided under RAS 96  

D. Number of units provided under the HAP Scheme 97  

E. Number of units provided under the SHLI 231  

F. The overall total number of social housing dwellings in the LA 
at 31/12/2015  

27464  

G. The total number of dwellings directly provided (constructed 
or purchased) by the LA 

25353  

H. Total number of units provided under the RAS 1459  

I. Total number of units provided under the HAP if operated 97  

J. Total number of units provided under the SHLI 555  

A. Percentage of the number of dwellings at H1G that were 
vacant on 31/12/2015 

6.29 % Of the 1595 vacant properties listed for 
H2, 1252 were unavailable for tenanting 
due to refurbishment or demolition. 

P
age 184



Therefore 343 voids on the 31st 
December 2015 were available for repair 
& reletting.  

The number of dwelling units within their overall stock that were 
not tenanted on 31/12/2015 

1595  

A. Expenditure in 2015 on repair & maintenance of housing 
bought or built by the LA divided by H1G 

€2639.34  

Expenditure on repair and maintenance of LA stock compiled on 
a continuous based during 2015 

€66915252 The large stock of older flatted estates 
(most over 50 years, particular to Dublin 
City Council Housing stock) accounts for 
this elevated figure. 

   

Housing: H3 & H5 
Approved 

A. Average time taken from date of vacation of dwelling to date 
when a new tenancy had commenced 

20.15 wk  

B. Average cost expended on getting the units re-tenanted ready 
for re-letting 

€19986.01  

No of units that were re-tenanted on any date in 2015 (excl. 
those vacant for estate refurbishment) 

904  

No. of weeks from when previous tenant vacated dwelling up to 
date new tenant's first rent debit 

18215.6 wk  

Total expenditure on repairs necessary to enable re-letting of the 
units included above 

€18067349  

A. Total number of registered tenancies in the LA area 72874  

B. Number of inspections carried out 2513  

   

Housing: H6 
Approved 

A. No. of adults in emergency accom. long-term as a % of the 
total number of homeless adults 

56.60 % These statistics refer to Dublin City & 
County, i.e. Dublin City Council, Fingal 
County Council, Dun Laoghaire 
Rathdown County Council and South 
Dublin County Council 

P
age 185



No. of adults classified as homeless and in emergency 
accommodation on night of the 31/12/2015 

2279  

No. of adults on that date who had been in emergency 
accommodation for 6 months continously 

1290  

   

Roads: R1 & R2 
Approved 

% Regional road kilometres with a PSCI rating 64.00 %  

% Local Primary road kilometres with a PSCI rating 40.00 %  

% Local Secondary road kilometres with a PSCI rating 45.00 %  

% Local Tertiary road kilometres with a PSCI rating 54.00 %  

% Regional roads that received a PSCI rating during 2015 65.00 %  

% Total Regional road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 1-4 4.00 %  

% Total Regional road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 5-6 24.00 %  

% Total Regional road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 7-8 15.00 %  

% Total Regional road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 9-10 21.00 %  

% Total Primary road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 1-4 5.00 %  

% Total Primary road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 5-6 18.00 %  

% Total Primary road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 7-8 6.00 %  

% Total Primary road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 9-10 11.00 %  

% Total Secondary road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 1-4 9.00 %  

% Total Secondary road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 5-6 19.00 %  

% Total Secondary road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 7-8 7.00 %  

% Total Secondary road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 9-10 10.00 %  

% Total Tertiary road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 1-4 8.00 %  

% Total Tertiary road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 5-6 23.00 %  

% Total Tertiary road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 7-8 8.00 %  

P
age 186



% Total Tertiary road kilometres with a PSCI rating of 9-10 15.00 %  

A1. Kilometres of regional roads strengthened using Road 
Improvement grants 

3.9 km  

A2. Regional road Improvement Grant amount   

B1. Number of kilometres of regional roads resealed using Road 
Maintenance grants 

0.0 km  

B2. Regional road Maintenance Grant amount €3092573.00  

   

Motor Tax: R3 
Approved 

% of motor tax transactions online  77.80 %  

   

Water: W1 
Approved 

% of Private Drinking Water Schemes in compliance   

   

Waste: E1 
Approved 

No. households in an area covered by a licensed operator 
providing a 3 bin service at 31/12/2015 

88410  

% households within the LA that the number A represents 42.54 %  

   

Environmental Pollution: E2 
Approved 

Number of pollution cases in respect of complaint during 2015 13084  

Number of pollution cases closed  during 2015 12979  

Total number of cases at hand at 31/12/2015 105  

Total number of pollution complaint cases 13084  

Number of pollution cases not investigated or finalised 12979  

Number of pollution cases not finalised 105  

   

Litter Pollution: E3 
Approved 

Percentage of area unpolluted by litter 18 %  

Percentage of area slightly polluted by litter 45 %  

Percentage of area moderately polluted by litter 25 %  

P
age 187



Percentage of area significantly polluted by litter 11 %  

Percentage of area grossly polluted by litter 1 %  

   

Planning: P1 
Approved 

Buildings inspected as a percentage of new buildings notified to 
the local authority 

96.87 %  

Total no. of new buildings notified to the local authority 638  

No. of new buildings notified to the local authority in 2015 
subject of at least one inspection 

618  

   

Planning: P2 & P3 
Approved 

A. Number of planning decisions subject of appeal to An Bord 
Pleanála determined by board in 2015 

287  

B. % of the determinations which confirmed (with or without 
variations) the decision made by the LA 

78.40 %  

Number of determinations confirming the LA's decision with or 
without variation 

225  

A. Number of planning cases referred to or initiated by the LA 
during 2015 that were investigated 

972  

B. Number of cases that were closed during 2015 851  

C. % cases at B dismissed re Section 15(2) or closed because 
statute barred or exempted development 

48.77 %  

D. % of cases at B that were resolved to the LA's sanctification 
through negotiations  

0 % Following the issue of a warning letter, 
negotiations take place and the majority 
of cases are resolved this way 

E. % Cases at B that were closed due to enforcement 
proceedings 

51.23 %  

F. Total number of planning cases being investigated as at 
31/12/2015 

1782  

Number of cases at 'B' that were dismissed under section 152(2), 
Planning and Development Act 2000 

415  

P
age 188



Number of cases at 'B' that were resolved to the LA's satisfaction 
through negotiations 

0  

Number of cases at 'B' that were closed due to enforcement 
proceedings 

436  

   

Planning: P4 
Approved 

AFS Programme D data divided by the population of the LA area €24.92 D01 Forward Planning €4,522,263 D02 
Development Management €6,470,330 
D03 Enforcement €2,152,890 

AFS Programme D consisting of D01, D02, D03 (inclusive of the 
central management charge) 

€13145483  

   

Fire Service: F1 
Approved 

AFS Programme E expenditure divided by the census 2011 
population served by the Fire Service 

€83.25 There is a material difference between 
the gross (€81.47) and net (€75.01) costs 
for the operation of DFB. Last year was 
based on the net costs which was 
€74.95. Overall cost is also influenced by 
operation of Control Centre for Leinster, 
and Cavan/Monaghan, requirement to 
have 30 staff assigned to Port Tunnel, 
overall pension costs €24.25m takes no 
account of pension contributions of 
€3.55m and exclusion of income streams 
of €0.33m and €0.97m. Clarification note 
to issue from DFB 

AFS Programme E expenditure data consisting of E11 - Operation 
of Fire Service & E12 Fire Prevention 

€103715741  

   

Fire Service: F2 & F3 
Approved 

A. Average time (mins) to mobilise fire brigades in Full-Time 
Stations in respect of Fire 

1.41 min  

B. Average time (mins) to mobilise fire brigades in Part-Time 
Stations in respect of Fire 

6.43 min  

P
age 189



C. Average time (mins) to mobilise fire brigades in Full-Time 
Stations in respect of other accidents 

1.49 min  

D. Average time (mins) to mobilise fire brigades in Part-Time 
Stations in respect of other accidents 

6.49 min  

A. % of cases in respect of fire in which first attendance at scene 
is within 10 mins 

78.21 %  

B. % of cases in respect of fire in which first attendance at scene 
is after 10 mins & within 20 mins 

19.53 %  

C. % of cases in respect of fire in which first attendance at scene 
is after 20 mins 

2.26 %  

D. % of non-fire cases in which first attendance at scene is within 
10 mins 

76.36 %  

E. % of non-fire cases in which first attendance at scene is after 
10 mins & within 20 mins 

21.25 %  

F. % of non-fire cases in which first attendance at scene is after 
20 mins 

2.38 %  

Total no. of call-outs in respect of fires from 01/01/2015 - 
31/12/2015 

8040  

No. of fire cases where first fire tender attendance at the scene 
is within 10 minutes 

6288  

No. of fire cases where first fire tender attendance at the scene 
is after 10 mins & within 20 mins 

1570  

No. of fire cases where first fire tender attendance at the scene 
is after 20 mins 

182  

Total number of call-outs in respect of all other emergency 
incidents from 01/01/2015 - 31/12/2015 

1722  

No. of non-fire cases where first fire tender attendance at the 
scene is within 10 mins 

1315  

No. of non-fire cases where first fire tender attendance at the 
scene is after 10 mins & within 20 mins 

366  

P
age 190



No. of non-fire cases where first fire tender attendance at the 
scene is after 20 mins 

41  

   

Library Service: L1 
Approved 

A. Number of library visits per head of population  4.97 Virtual visitors for 2015 = 1,105,611 
(Note: Dublin City Council developed a 
new corporate website during 2015. As 
part of this development the library blog 
was migrated to the new website and a 
number of online databases were 
consolidated into a single new online 
database. These developments had a 
negative impact on online visits during 
the change-over period.)  

B. Number of items issued to borrowers during the year 2379655 Note: Due to the introduction of the new 
shared Library management System on 
23rd June, some loan rule parameters 
where changed and a new online service 
was implemented. Loan Rule parameters 
The loan period for DVDs was increases 
from 1 week to 3 weeks, leading to an 
11% reduction in the number of DVD 
issues. This reduction accounted for 42% 
of the overall reduction in issues. New 
online service The introduction of the 
new online service led to a reduction in 
the number of online renewals –  

Number of library visits during the year 2619876  

Number of items borrowed during the year 2379655  

   

Library Service: L2 
Approved 

The Annual Financial Statement Programme F data / by the 
population of the LA area 2011 per census 

€44.67  

AFS Programme F02 Cost of Library Service €23567815  

P
age 191



   

Youth and Community: Y1 & 
Y2 
Approved 

Percentage of local schools involved in the local Youth 
Council//Comhairle na nÓg scheme 

36.71 %  

Total number of secondary schools in the LA area at 31/12/2015 79  

No. second level schools in the LA area from which 
representatives attended the Comhairle na -Óg AGM 

29  

No. organisations in the County Register and proportion who 
opted in to the Social Inclusion College 

33.51  

No. organisations in the County Register for the local authority 
area 

576  

Total number of registered organisations that opted to join the 
Social Inclusion Electoral College 

193  

   

Corporate: C1 & C2 & C4 
Approved 

Wholetime equivalent staffing number as year end 5308.00  

Percentage of working days lost due to sickness absence through 
medically certified leave 

3.85 %  

Percentage of working days lost due to sickness absence through 
self- certified leave 

0.56 %  

Number of working days lost to sickness absence through 
medically certified leave 

46448 day  

Number of working days lost to sickness absence through self-
certified leave 

6732 day  

Number of unpaid working days lost to sickness absence through 
medically certified leave 

1490 day  

Number of unpaid working days lost to sickness absence through 
self-certified leave 

0 day  

All ICT Expenditure in the period 01/01/2015 to 31/12/2015 
divided by the WTE no. 

€2015.08  

Total revenue expenditure on Account Elements €10696059  

P
age 192



   

Corporate: C3 
Approved 

Total page views of the LA website in 2015 11195065  

Total number of social media users at 31/12/2015 following the 
LA on social media sites 

43054  

The cumulative total page views of all websites operated by the 
LA during 2015 

11195065  

Total no. of social media users who, at 31/12/2015, were 
following the LA on any social media sites 

43054  

   

Finance: M1 & M2 
Approved 

Cumulative balance at 31/12/2011 in the Revenue Account from 
the Income & Expenditure of the AFS 

€20113211  

Cumulative balance at 31/12/2012 in the Revenue Account from 
the Income & Expenditure of the AFS 

€16186509  

Cumulative balance at 31/12/2013 in the Revenue Account from 
the Income & Expenditure of the AFS 

€16576645  

Cumulative balance at 31/12/2014 in the Revenue Account from 
the Income & Expenditure of the AFS 

€28354582  

Cumulative balance at 31/12/2015 in the Revenue Account from 
the Income & Expenditure of the AFS 

€245934  

Cumulative surplus or deficit at 31/12/2015 as a percentage of 
Total Income from the AFS statement 

0.03 %  

The 2015 Total Income figure from the Income and Expenditure 
Account Statement of the AFS 

€769069281  

Collection level of Rates from the Annual Financial Statement for 
2011 

80.0 %  

Collection level of Rent & Annuities from the Annual Financial 
Statement for 2011 

79.0 %  

Collection level of Housing Loans from the Annual Financial 
Statement for 2011 

71.0 %  

P
age 193



Collection level of Rates from the Annual Financial Statement for 
2012 

80.0 %  

Collection level of Rent & Annuities from the Annual Financial 
Statement for 2012 

77.0 %  

Collection level of Housing Loans from the Annual Financial 
Statement for 2012 

68.0 %  

Collection level of Rates from the Annual Financial Statement for 
2013 

81.0 %  

Collection level of Rent & Annuities from the Annual Financial 
Statement for 2013 

78.0 %  

Collection level of Housing Loans from the Annual Financial 
Statement for 2011 

61.0 %  

Collection level of Rates from the Annual Financial Statement for 
2014 

84.0 %  

Collection level of Rent & Annuities from the Annual Financial 
Statement for 2014 

78.0 %  

Collection level of Housing Loans from the Annual Financial 
Statement for 2014 

58.0 %  

Collection level of Rates from the Annual Financial Statement for 
2015 

88 %  

Collection level of Rent & Annuities from the Annual Financial 
Statement for 2015 

80 %  

Collection level of Housing Loans from the Annual Financial 
Statement for 2015 

59 %  

   

Economic Development: J1 
Approved 

Number of jobs created with assistance from the Local 
Enterprise Office during the year 

230.00  

   

    
 

   

 

P
age 194


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meeting - June 16th 2016
	2a Dublin Chamber of Commerce - replacement nomination of Aebhric McGibney -  letter dated 20th June 2016
	2b Rates exemption on Irish Water Facilities - correspondence to DoHPC&LG and Kevin Duffy,Chairman, Expert Commission on Domestic Public Water Services - 19/07/16.  Reminders issued 30/08/16
	Item 2b - IW rates J McCarthy DoE - reminder
	Item 2b - IW Rates K Duffy Expert Commission on Dom Water 19th July

	2c Pyrite Works - additional costs - correspondence to Dick Brady, ACE, Housing Department - 12/07/16 and report from Peter Finnegan, City Architects ( Report No. 28-2016)
	Item 2c - Pyrite Additional Costs - D Brady 12th July

	2d Ringsend Toll Bridge DAC - correspondence to Declan Wallace, ACE, E&T Dept - 19/07/16 and report from E&T Department in response (Report No. 29-2016)
	Item 2d - Ringsend Toll Bridge DAC - D Wallace 7th July

	2e Development Contributions Scheme - link to DCC website - correspondence to J. Keogan, ACE, Planning & Development Dept - 18/07/16 and reminder email issued 30/08/16
	2f BRL recoupment - correspondence to J. McCarthy, Sec General,  DoHPC&LG  - 19/07/16 and reminder issued 30/08/16
	2g Pension Liabilities - correspondence to Dept. of Finance and DPER dated 19/07/16 and responses of Dept. of Finance - 22/07/16 and DPER - 5/08/16
	Item 2g - Pension Liabilities - R Watt DPER - reminder
	Item 2g - Pension Liabilities - R Watt DPER 19th July
	Item 2g - Pension Liabilities - Reply R Watt DPER 2nd Sept 2016
	Item 2g - Pension Liabilities - response Derek Moran Dept of Finance 22 7 16

	3 Dublin City Council - Motor Tax Efficiency Recommendations
	4 Debt Management - Rates Collection
	5 Water and Drainage Related Assets of Dublin City Council
	6 Local Property Tax - statistics
	7 Housing Finance Agency - presentation by Dr. Michelle Norris
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Executive Summary
	Outline of the Four Strategic Pillars
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10

	8 A.O.B
	Item 8 - Report 30-2016 Performance Indicators 2015




